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NBAD FGB 4.0
UAE
UAE
UAE
UVAE
UAE
UAE
2020 8 31 UAE 48

2020 8 UAE
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oOoOooodn
NBD
UAE
2020 12 31
2020 12 31 UAE
UAE
UAE
2020 8 31 UAE 2019 9.5 2020 OPEC
UAE
DIFC 48 21 UAE 27
2020 8 UAE UAE
NBAD FGB
UAE 2019
2020
UAE IT
UAE

Aa3 S&P AA-
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UAE
UVAE
UAE UAE 1980 11
22 GCC
2015
2015 20
2015 12 21
GCC
UAE GCC
UAE UAE UAE
UAE
Gce
UAE 2018
UAE GCC VAT UAE
UAE 2017 23 2017 UAE
2017 11 28 UAE VAT
2020 5 11 VAT 5% 15% 2020 7 1
2020 5 11 UAE UAE VAT

VAT GCC
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oOoOooodn
2020 12 31 20.2 18.6
12.3 2020
NIM 2019 2.11 1.75
6.3
FX
FGB
27.0
UAE TESS
2020 12
2019 13.5
2020 12 15.8 3.97
2019 3.23
42 2.6
3.7
2019 48 2020 63
ECL 15.0 95
UAE TESS
2020
12 TESS 3.5
12 919 2019
387
541 11
20
CASA 28 223 41

2020 12 LCR 143

100 UAE
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13.5

SME

TESS
2020
1.625
750
2021
1.3
AT1

750 AT1
109
11 TESS

16.5 15.4
RoTE

16.1 2.56

2.13

CIB 2020
65
13
GTB
90
UAE

UAE

1.5

2020

2019 12

13.3

2021 12
2019 12

RORWA

2020 12 31

(CIB)

GTB

(UAE Trade Connect)(UTC)
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2020

PBG

2020

CASA 20

830
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70
4.4
500
5.25 750
4.50
108
CET1
16.9 15.7
2019 12 31
13.0
2020 CIB
25
139
2020
CIB
2020
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FAB FAB eSign FAB FAB ePay 2020
UAE
GCF
UAE
2019
ESG
)
2020
ECM)
DCM M&A 2021
GM
eFX
2020
PBG
(PBG)
2020 6.2
2019 employee-

banking 2020 12

89 CASA

82
Apple Pay
eWallet
FAB
FAB mobile

FAB FAB Rewards
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NEO
RPA KYC
RFi
Abu Dhabi Pay
MOHRE)
2020
20
IT

NBAD FGB

57

IT

oOoOooodn

12
Payit 2020 MEA

2020
27
UAE
eDirham
2021
16
GTB GM
IT
IT
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2020 12 31
11

2020 12 31 4.9

2020 12 31

7.6

2020 12 31
100.0
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ADX 2000
2020 12 31 10,920,000
2019 12 31
10,920,000 40 UAE
2020 12 31
10,920,000 10,920,000
2020 12 31
10,920,000 ADX
2016 12 31
44,823 5,254,546 44,823 5,254,546
2017 1231 5,643,000 10,897,545 5,643,000 10,897,545
2018 12 31
0 10,897,545 0 10,897,545
2019 12 31
22,455 10,920,000 22,455 10,920,000
2020 12 31
0 10,920,000 0 10,920,000
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2017 2017 FGB
5,643,000,000 FGB NBAD 1.254
2016 2019 NBAD
2020 12 31
7 833 3,685 4,575

216,605,176 528,576,590 2,155,953,415 10,901,135,181

1.98% 78.4% 19.78% 100.00%

ADX

8,980,000
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(2020 12 31 )

3,634,790 33.34
61999

401,507 3.68
15

10 50
10
50

10
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2009 518 SCA
2010
UAE 2010
UAE
UAE SCA
UAE
2009 UAE UAE
UAE 2019

BRCC

11

GCEO

GCEO

GCEO GCEO GCEO

UAE
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4
(RENCO)
REMCO 3 GCEO
REMCO
REMCO
REMCO H.H.
H.E.
H.E. GCEO
RENCO REMCO
RENCO 2
2020 12 31 RENCO 2
BIC
BUC 4 GCEO BNC
BNC
UAE
BNC H.E.
H.E. H.E.
H.E. GCEO
BIC BIC
BIC 4 2020
12 31 BNC 3
BRCC

BRCC 4 GCEO

GCRO BRCC
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BRCC
BRCC
H.E.
BRCC
BRCC 4
2020 12 31
BAC
BAC 5
BAC
GCEO
BAC 3
BAC 4
12 31
EXCO
EXCO

H.E.
GCEO
BRCC
GCEO
H.E.
H.E.
BAC
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GCRO
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ooooogd
EXCO 10 1
GCEO
EXCO 1 2020 12
31 EXCO 16
EXCO BRCC
EXCO BRCC
5 GCEO
2020 12 31
4
EXCO
BRCC BRCC
5
GCEO
2020 6 1
2020 12 31
10
EXCO
BRCC
9

GCEO
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OooooOodd
2020 12 31 12
EXCO
CIB
4
GCEO
2020 12 31
13
EXCO
BMC(
BRCC
4
GCEO
2020 12 31
EXCO REMCO
5 GCEO
2020 12 31 2
EXCO

EXCO
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2020 12 31
6
EXCO
ID
5
6
2020 12 31
6
EXCO
BRCC
GCEO
2020 12 31
11

2020 6 1
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5
6
BRCC
IT
ERMP
GCRO
EXCO
IT
EXCO
5
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11
(2020 12
31 )
H.H. FGB
1968
H_H. Sheikh 12
Tahnoon Bin
Zayed Al
Nahyan
H.E. NBAD
15
1978 Abu
H.E. 10 19 Dhabi National Insurance Company
Sheikh Mohamed
Bin Saif Bin
Mohamad Al
Nahyan
2019 4
1
(National
Electronic Security Authority NESA )
Abu Dhabi
H.E. Development Holding Company
Abu Dhabi Retirement
Pensions & Benefits Fund
1974
H.E. Jassim 28 Injazat Data Systems Company
Mohammed
Buatabh Al Al Yahsat
Zaabi Satellite Communications Company
Mohamed bin Zayed University of
Artificial Intelligence
Emirates Nuclear
Energy Corporation
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UAE

Abu Dhabi National
01l Company ADNOC

UAE
MIC
H.E MIC
Masdar 2009
HE. Dr. 8 31 Abu Dhabi Ports Company

Sultan Ahmed

Al Jaber

Masdar

Emirates Global Aluminium

NBAD
Bin Srour
Engineering
H.E. NCC
Abu Dhabi National Hotels
1971 Company
H.E. Sheikh Abu Dhabi Aviation
Ahmed Mohammed Al
Sultan Al Dhafra Insurance

Dhahiri
1996 2009
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FGB
14
SHUAA
Capital
Gulf Finance House
SALAMA(Islamic Arab Insurance
Company)
H.E. Eshraq
Investments PJSC
1984 Khaleeji
i H.E. 26 Commercial Bank
Jassim M?h?med the Entertainer
Al Seddiqi Abu Dhabi
Capital Group ANDOC
ADNOC Distribution
Dana Gas
Petroleum
Institute
NBAD
H.E. ADIC
ADIA
1974 UAE
) 11 ICE ICE
H.E. Khalifa Futures Abu Dhabi
Sultan Ahmed
Sultan Al
Suwaidi
FGB GCC
Abu
H.E. Dhabi Chamber of Commerce and Industry
Union of
Arab Chambers
1966 National
HE Marina Dredging Co.

Mohammed Thani
Murshid Ghanem
Al Rumaithi

Arabtec Holding

Thani Murshed Unilever
Abu Dhabi
Sports Council
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OOoOooOodd
FGB
Abu Dhabi Fund for
Development
H.E. Emirates Steel Industries Company
1968 Al Jazira
H.E. 10 Sports and Cultural Club DP
Mohammed Saif DP World
Al Suwaidi 11
MIC
4
MIC
MIC
2030
MIC
UAE
H.E. Offsets Program Bureau
1974
H.E. Waleed 12
Al Mokarrab Al
Muhairi H.E.
Cleveland Clinic Abu Dhabi
Waha Capital
Global Institute for Disease
Elimination UAE
US-UAE Business Council
Mubadala Health
Aldar
Properties
Abu Dhabi Global
Market
Investcorp
Holdings
Noon.com 71 Hub71
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30
2021 1
FGB
NBAD
2017 2020
FGB
20
2006 2017 FGB
FGB
1954 FGB UAE
11

Andre George
Sayegh
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14 )

(2020 12
31 )

20

FAB

Du
Emirates Integrated Telecommunication
Company (Du)
1972

Hana Al 19
Rostamani

Emirates Institute
for Banking and Financial Services

UAE
UAE

2021 3
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ooOooodn

2017
Dubai Holding

Dubai
Holding Commercial Operations Group
2.25

Dubai Financial Services

A Authority — FAB
B 1964 FAB (Suisse) Private
Fadel A. B. Bank SA
Al Al Abu Dhabi Capital Group
Abu Dhabi
Financial Group
MIRA Bank
H Hotel & Resort Management
1989
2005
Dubai Holding
UAE
20
Danske Bank
ABN ABN AMRO
1969 Standard Chartered
Mr. Pradeep 20
Rana
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ooOooodn
M&A
2001
2017
2020 4
M&A
1964 ] Industrie Cosmetique
) Internationale ICI
Kaﬁlm MEA 16
Karoui
2001
2008
2017
IHEC 2
FAB
ANZ
ANZ
1968
3 ANZ HSBC
James 1 17
Burdett
HSBC HSBC
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OOoOooOodd
2013
Turkiye Finans Katilim
Bankasi NCB NCB
1968 KSA
Shirish 29
Bhide
28
19
30
UAE
1966
Nurendra
Perera
CIA CFSA
CRMA ISACA CISA CRISC
CIB
INSEAD
2015 UAE 169
10%
2020 12 31 54,750
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ooooood
7613
15 1995
UAE 22 UAE
2020 12 31
11 10
IT
UAE
)
Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
150,000
)
AED
UAE 3,964,901 22,260 3,987,161
656,985 - 656,985
262,078 96,642 358,719
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ooOooodn

345,796 - 345,796
294,279 - 294,279
AlB* 7 - 7
188,570 92,586 281,156
* 588,262 122,215 710,477
184,256 - 184,256
130,943 18,414 149,356
ADNL* - - -
132,996 103,836 236,832
ADNP* - - -
ADNIF* 75,128 - 75,128
FAB 169,956 - 169,956
23,654 - 23,654
DIFC* - - -
378,759 19,467 398,226
139,125 - 139,125
311,640 - 311,640
FG 273,877 - 273,877
FGP - - -
Midmak - - -
Mismak - - -
Sas - - -
38,308 - 38,308
8,159,520 475,420 8,634,939

*
AED
UAE 4,681,216 51,450 4,732,666
724,003 - 724,003
332,160 101,652 433,812
1,214 12,309 13,523
42,607 - 42,607
244,022 113,061 357,083
338,727 - 338,727

81/352



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooOooodn

AlB* - - -
133,560 - 133,560

* 291,089 65,545 356,633
127,918 - 127,918

131,821 3,069 134,889

ADNL* - - -
84,726 132,953 217,679

ADNP* - - -
ADNIF* 75,128 - 75,128
FAB 169,958 - 169,958
DIFC* - - -
- 310,736 310,736

17,587 - 17,587

104,344 - 104,344

38,955 - 38,955

FG 254,172 - 254,172
FGP 92,453 - 92,453
50,085 - 50,085

Midmak 38,955 - 38,955
Mismak 72,345 - 72,345
sas 20,553 - 20,553
45,000 30,121 75,121

8,112,595 820,894 8,933,489
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IFRS

UAE

2020 12 31

131

2021
29.89

23

23
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38 59
AED
UFJ
IFRS
IFRS
IFRS
b.
103
25 193
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oooooog
12 31
2020 2019

227,872,592 6,811,111,775 169,702,008  5,072,393,019

21,266,243 635,648,003 20,099,181 600,764,520

27,357,639 817,719,830 17,026,502 508,922,145

44,069,241 1,317,229,613 24,678,375 737,636,629

36 32,558,881 973,184,953 15,917,321 475,768,725
386,643,996  11,556,789,040 407,903,028  12,192,221,507

131,573,762 3,932,739,746 114,644,422  3,426,721,774

10 7,603,230 227,260,545 7,956,854 237,830,366
11 4,867,126 145,478,396 4,618,986 138,061,492
12 19,296,864 576,783,265 19,498,087 582,797,820
13 15,950,958 476,774,135 19,923,251 595,505,972
919,060,532  27,470,719,301 821,968,015  24,568,623,968

14 57,632,476 1,722,634,708 36,007,875  1,076,275,384
15 56,005,314 1,673,998,835 38,821,848  1,160,385,037
16 31,174,128 931,794,686 21,236,955 634,772,585
36 38,832,004 1,160,688, 600 19,228,541 574,741,090
17 540,882,472  16,166,977,088 519,161,857  15,517,747,906
18 62,437,103 1,866,245,009 55,751,819  1,666,421,870
19 470,805 14,072,361 381,305 11,397,206
20 22,587,238 675,132,544 23,340,779 697,655,884
810,021,540  24,211,543,831 713,930,979  21,339,396,962

21 10,920,000 326,398,800 10,920,000 326,398,800
53,538,584 1,600,268,276 53,434,461  1,597,156,039

(8,980) (268,412) (18,864) (563,845)

10,920,000 326,398,800 10,920,000 326,398,800

21 2,882,421 86,155,564 2,474,032 73,948,816
22 10,754,750 321,459,478 10,754,750 321,459,478
23 249,816 7,467,000 249,816 7,467,000
19,418,076 580,406,292 18,872,367 564,095,050

108,674,667 3,248,285,797 107,606,562  3,216,360,138

364,325 10,889, 674 430,474 12,866,868

109,038,992 3,259,175,471 108,037,036  3,229,227,006

919,060,532  27,470,719,301 821,968,015  24,568,623,968

2021 26
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46
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12 31
2020 2019
24 20,100,205 600,795,127 24,368,947 728,387,826
25 (7.843,726) (234,448,970) (11,594,145)  (346,548,994)
12,256,479 366,346,157 12,774,802 381,838,832
26 4,345,534 129,888,011 4,730,688 141,400,264
26 (1,442,393) (43,113,127) (1,561,259) (46,666,032)
2,903,141 86,774,884 3,169,429 94,734,233
27 1,240,355 37,074,211 2,600,978 77,743,232
28 951,027 28,426,197 1,506,277 45,022,620
29 1,222,909 36,552,750 197,571 5,905,397
18,573,911 555,174,200 20,249,057 605,244,314
30 (5.060,265) (151,251,321) (5,498,991)  (164,364,841)
13,513,646 403,922,879 14,750,066 440,879,473
31 (2,619,940) (78,310,007) (1,842,980) (55,086,672)
10,893,706 325,612,872 12,907,086 385,792,801
32 (341,198) (10,198,408) (314,463) (9,399,299)
10,552,508 315,414,464 12,592,623 376,393,501
10,555,229 315,495,795 12,520,203 374,228,868
.721) (81,331) 72,420 2,164,634
10,552,508 315,414,464 12,592,623 376,393,501
/) 38 0.93 27.80 1.10 32.88
/) 38 0.93 27.80 1.10 32.88

46
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12 31
2020 2019
10,552,508 315,414,464 12,592,623 376,393,501
3,008 89,909 (47,394) (1,416,607)
) (110,984) (3,317,312) 1,941,181 58,021,900
(74,286) (2,220,409) 27,308 816,236
(18,825) (562,679) (17,295) (516,948)
(48,000) (1,434,720) (54,750) (1,636,478)
(249,087) (7,445,210) 1,849,050 55,268,105
10,303,421 307,969,254 14,441,673 431,661,606
10,279,940 307,267,407 14,372,921 429,606,609
23,481 701,847 68,752 2,054,997
10,303,421 307,969,254 14,441,673 431,661,606
46
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2020
10,920,000 53,434,461 (18,864) 10,920,000 2,474,032 10,754,750 249,816 18,872,367 107,606,562 430,474 108,037,036
- - - - (280,601) - - (551,735) (832,336) - (832,336)
R - - - - - - 10,555,229 10,555,229 @.721) 10,552,508
- - - - (208,464) - - (66,825) (275,289) 26,202 (249,087)
- - - - - - - (306) (306) - (306)

23
- 104,123 9,884 - - - - - 114,007 - 114,007
( )
- - - - - - - (8,066,947) (8,066,947) (89,630) (8,156,577)
22

- - - - - 2,754,750 - - 2,754,750 - 2,754,750
« 22 - - - - - (2.754,750) - (426,253) (3,181,003) - (3,181,003)

IFRS
- - - - 905,088 - - (905,088) - - -

FVoCI
- - - - (7.634) - - 7,634 - - -

2020 12 31

10,920,000 53,538,584 (8.980) 10,920,000 2,882,421 10,754,750 249,816 19,418,076 108,674,667 364,325 109,038,992

2019
10,897,545 53,188,043 (25,530) 9,483,238 (37,477) 10,754,750 266,841 17,083,868 101,611,278 361,722 101,973,000
- - - - - - - 12,520,203 12,520,203 72,420 12,592,623
- - - - 1,924,762 - - (72,045) 1,852,717 (3,668) 1,849,049
- _ - - - - - 1,277) @.,2717) - 1,277)

23
- 246,418 29,121 - - - - - 275,539 - 275,539
( )

- - - - - - - (8,063,018) (8,063,018) - (8,063,018)
- - - - - - (17,025) - (17,025) - (17,025)
( 22 - - - - - - - (571,855) (571,855) - (571,855)
- - - 1,436,762 - - - (1,436,762) - - -

IFRS
- - - - 595,921 - - (595,921) - - -

FvoCI
- - - - (9,174) - - 9,174 - - -
22,455 - (22,455) - - - - - - - -
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2019 12 31

10,920,000 53,434,461 (18,864) 10,920,000 2,474,032 10,754,750 249,816 18,872,367 107,606,562 430,474 108,037,036
46
2020 1 1 326,398,800 1,597,156,039 (563,845) 326,398,800 73,948,816 321,459,478 7,467,000 564,095,050 3,216,360,138 12,866,868 3,229,227,006
- - - - (8,387,164) - - (16,491,359) (24,878,523) - (24,878,523)
- - - - - - - 315,495,795 315,495,795 (81,331) 315,414,464
- - - - (6,230,989) - - (1,997,399) (8,228,388) 783,178 (7,445,210)
- - - - - - - (9,146) (9,146) - (9,146)
23 - 3,112,236 295,433 - - - - - 3,407,669 - 3,407,669
( - - - - - - - (241,121,046) (241,121,046) (2,679,041) (243,800,087)
22 - - - - - 82,339,478 - - 82,339,478 - 82,339,478
C » - - - - - (82,339,478) - (12,740,702) (95,080, 180) - (95,080, 180)
IFRS - - - - 27,053,080 - - (27,053,080) - - -
Fvocl - - - - (228,180) - - 228,180 - - -
2020 12 31 326,398,800 1,600,268,276 (268,412) 326,398,800 86,155,564 321,459,478 7,467,000 580,406,292 3,248,285,797 10,889,674 3,259,175,471
2019 325,727,620 1,589,790, 605 (763,092) 283,453,984 (1,120,188) 321,459,478 7,975,877 510,636,815 3,037,161,099 10,811,871 3,047,972,970
- - - - - - - 374,228,868 374,228,868 2,164,634 376,393,501
- - - - 57,531,136 - - (2,153,425) 55,377,711 (109,637) 55,268,075
_ - - - - - - (38,170) (38,170) - (38,170)
23 - 7,365,434 870,427 - - - - - 8,235,861 - 8,235,861
( - - - - - - - (241,003, 608) (241,003,608) - (241,003,608)
_ - - - - - (508,877) - (508,877) - (508,877)
_ - - - - - - (17,092,746) (17,092,746) - (17,092,746)
« 22
- - - 42,944,816 - - - (42,944,816) - - -
IFRS - - - - 17,812,079 - - (17,812,079) - - -
FvoCI - - - - (274,211) - - 274,211 - - -
671,180 - (671,180) - - - - - - - -
2019 12 31 326,398,800 1,597,156,039 (563,845) 326,398,800 73,948,816 321,459,478 7,467,000 564,095,050 3,216,360,138 12,866,868 3,229,227,006
46
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Oooooodo
12 31
2020 2019
10,893,706 325,612,872 12,907,086 385,792,801
11,12 768,584 22,972,976 652,936 19,516,257
10 248,485 7,427,217 6,699 200,233
(457,071) (13,661,852) (136) (4,065)
(737,371) (22,040,019) (28,897) (863,731)
31 2,861,675 85,535,466 2,187,815 65,393,790
699,253 20,900,672 1,425,680 42,613,575
723,971 21,639,493 (22,997) (687,380)
15,001,232 448,386,824 17,128,186 511,961,480
(1,167,062) (34,883,483) (5,478,271) (163,745,520)
19,334,009 577,893,529 (8,870,320)  (265,133,865)
(19,409,967) (580,163,914) (5,629,982) (168,280,162)
18,530,367 553,872,670 (56,983,821) (1,703,246,410)
3,944,696 117,906,963 681,475 20,369,288
21,624,601 646,359,324 (4,258,660) (127,291,347)
17,183,466 513,613,799 4,052,163 121,119,152
21,720,850 649,236,207 53,925,873  1,611,844,344
3,602,005 107,663,929 2,884,178 86,208,080
(1,146,246) (34,261,293) (2,948,403) (88,127,766)
99,217,951 2,965,624,555 (5,497,582) (164,322,726)
(243,760) (7,285,986) (314,136) (9,389,525)
(54,750) (1,636,478) (54,750) (1,636,478)
98,919,441 2,956,702,091 (5,866,468) (175,348,729)
(17,111,196) (511,453,648) (22,427,994)  (670,372,741)
(952,811) (28,479,521) (489,805) (14,640,271)
1,034,421 30,918,844 8,865 264,975
(343,502) (10,267,275) (869,740) (25,996,529)
(17,373,088) (519,281,600) (23,778,674)  (710,744,566)
36,972 1,105,093 258,514 7,726,983
21 (7,891,730) (235,883,810) (7,843,642)  (234,446,459)
(89,630) (2,679,041) - -
9,937,173 297,022,101 3,092,850 92,445,287
18 16,692,127 498,927,676 23,906,212 714,556,677
18 (11,960,709) (357,505,592) (13,529,379)  (404,393,138)
22 (3,181,003) (95,080,180) (571,855) (17,092,746)
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46

oOoOooodn

22 2,754,750 82,339,478 - -
6,297,950 188,245,726 5,312,700 158,796,603

87,844,303 2,625,666,217 (24,332,442) (727,296,691)
151,344,934 4,523,700,077 175,677,376  5,250,996,769
33 239,189,237 7,149, 366,294 151,344,934  4,523,700,077
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2016 12
NBAD
FGB 2015 UAE 283
2017 30
FGB NBAD 1.254 FGB
2017 25 NBAD
FAB
6316
2020 12 31
1
2 3
Internal Shariah Supervison
Committe: 1SSC
FAB
2020 12 31
http://www.bankfab.com
1
2
QFCRA QFC
QFC
3
@
1ASB
UAE
2015 UAE 2015 UAE 2015
2015 UAE
2018 23 2018 14
2021 26
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@
1AS 1AS 2020
IFRS 2020
IFRS 2020
IFRS IAS 39 IFRS 2020
IFRS 2020
16
2020
IFRS
2020 1
LIBOR IBOR
IBOR
RFR
2022 IBOR
LIBOR IBOR 2021 12 31
ARR
LIBOR 2023 30 IBOR
FAB 2019 IBOR IBOR
IT
IBOR
IBOR

IBOR
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ooDoogd
IBOR RFR
IT IBOR
RFR
CFO
2020
IBOR RFR IBOR
2020
LIBOR SONTA
2021 RFR
EURIBOR
LIBOR SONTA LIBOR
SOFR LIBOR LIBOR
2020 12 31
LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR 2021
LIBOR 2021
2020 11 FCA LIBOR ICE
1BA 2023
LIBOR 2021 12 LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR 2021
LIBOR SONIA
SOFR
IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
SONIA  SOFR
IBOR LIBOR
LIBOR 2021
IBOR 1SDA
2006
1SDA IBOR 2020 10 23 IBOR
2006 ISDA SOFR  SONIA
IBOR
ISDA 1BOR

2021 25
96/352



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooDoogd
1SDA
IBOR
IBOR LIBOR LIBOR IBOR
IBOR
LIBOR LIBOR LIBOR
LIBOR LIBOR
SONIA SOFR
1BOR
IBOR
IBOR IBOR
2020 12 31 LIBOR
130,828 Euribor LIBOR
8,750 5,799
FAB FAB
IBOR IBOR
IBOR
IBOR
SOFR SONTA
IBOR
2020 12 31
LIBOR
IBRO
180,593,818 277,292,690 1,468,464,243
25,261,875 50,328,224 211,295,071
12,077,765 26,339,566 54,295,171
5,687,879 675,857 33,048,156

6,028,013 71,181 41,093,736
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2,170,660 4,536,566 38,467,731

231,820,010 359,244,084 1,846,664,108
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2020

100

FAB 100
100
100

FAB 100
100

96

100

NBAD 100

10 1 100

100

FAB 100

100

100

67

100
FMI
FAB 100
FMl
FAB 100
FMI
FGB 100

FGB 100
FAB 100

1 100
1 100

IT 100
FGIT
FAB 100

FAB IT 100
FGIT
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2020 2019
1,933,356 1,991,508
UAE
8,249,013 29,796,172
15,996,096 21,989,135
25,000,000 883,662
176,830,683 115,194,698
228,009,148 169,855,175
(136,556) (153,167)
227,872,592 169,702,008
14
2020 2019
6,347 6,380
1,759,231 1,591,074
106,879 1,116,477
19,393,786 17,385,250
21,266,243 20,099,181
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oooooog
2020 2019
16,227,447 8,098,662
7,655,394 4,597,478
3,547,951 4,378,331
27,430,792 17,074,471
(73,153) (47,969)
27,357,639 17,026,502
2020 2019
41,096,158 15,371,565
2,992,598 9,307,224
44,088,756 24,678,789
(19,515) (414)
44,069,241 24,678,375
2020 12 31
49,154 26,675
2020 12 31
26,272 2019 11,729
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2020 2019
403,288,746 421,730,328
(4,206,335) (2,799,157)
(12,438,415) (11,028,143)
386,643,996 407,903,028
2020 2019
38,889,069 66,706,966
92,718,473 76,683,723
8,924,677 24,681,349
189,101,082 181,023,861
/ 73,655,445 72,634,429
403,288,746 421,730,328
2020 2019
26,857,171 24,421,293
315,249,274 324,669,217
23,177,540 33,780,306
31,790,101 31,599,277
4,871,801 6,019,027
1,342,859 1,241,208
403,288,746 421,730,328
14,025 2019 15,920
24,303 17,390
2020 2019
8,422,609 9,304,260
16,651,963 21,835,448
241,948 261,374
25,316,520 31,401,082
(877,526) (785,581)
(132,904) (130,991)
24,306,090 30,484,510
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2020 2019
127,609,415 108,598,870
557,508 596,086
3,352,977 5,387,087
54,207 63,399
131,574,107 114,645,442
(345) (1,020)
131,573,762 114,644,422
2020 2019
534,846 76,869 611,715 523,401 136,084 659,485
129,844,660 1,117,732 130,962,392 113,065,018 920,939 113,985,957
130,379,506 1,194,601 131,574,107 113,588,419 1,057,023 114,645,442
(336) ©) (345) (1,002) (18) (1,020)
130,379,170 1,194,592 131,573,762 113,587,417 1,057,005 114,644,422
2020 12 31
32,840 2019 12 31 28,428
2020 2019
16 16
23 23
30 30
Midmak
Midmak Midmak
16
2017 16

UAE
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ooooogd
10
2020 2019
7,956,854 7,388,493
472,211 583,789
(577,350) (8,729)
(248,485) (6,699)
12 31 7,603,230 7,956,854
2020 2019
100,046 92,264
(50,724) (45,154)
49,322 47,110
2020 2019 12 31
RICS
2020 2019 12 31
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11
2019 3,155,149 1,992,828 392,912 296,762 5,837,651
280,682 171,849 119,463 1,032,456 1,604,450
66,428 347,027 11,504 (424,959) -
(639,471) 4,972) (8,951) - (653,394)
2019 12 31 2,862,788 2,506,732 514,928 904,259 6,788,707
262,488 869,693 92,275 1,896,629 3,121,085
7,716 12,578 (25,170) 4,876 -
(828,682) (121,101) (4,800) (1,485,790) (2,440,373)
2020 12 31 2,304,310 3,267,902 577,233 1,319,974 7,469,419
2019 707,750 809,495 329,191 - 1,846,436
134,462 280,136 36,714 - 451,312
(117,021) 2,367 (13,373) - (128,027)
2019 12 31 725,191 1,001,998 352,532 - 2,169,721
149,578 375,729 42,054 - 567,361
(183,220) 50,690 (2,259) - (134,789)
2020 12 31 691,549 1,518,417 392,327 - 2,602,293
2019 12 31 2,137,597 1,414,734 162,396 904,259 4,618,986
2020 12 31 1,612,761 1,749,485 184,906 1,319,974 4,867,126
1
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12
2019 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2019 12 31 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2020 12 31 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2019 - 333,046 90,560 - 5,683 429,289
- 149,870 49,353 - 2,401 201,624
2019 12 31 - 482,916 139,913 - 8,084 630,913
- 151,170 49,047 - 1,006 201,223
2020 12 31 - 634,086 188,960 - 9,090 832,136
2019 12 31 17,370,249 1,291,800 453,422 368,700 13,916 19,498,087
2020 12 31 17,370,249 1,140,630 404,375 368,700 12,910 19,296,864
ceu
CGU
CGU CGU
cecu
2020 12 31 CGU
2019
CGU
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oOoOooodn

13
2020 2019
7,521,621 9,866,628
6,017,156 7,529,457
2,401,952 2,550,441
101,437 40,336
16,042,166 19,986,862
(91,208) (63,611)
15,950,958 19,923,251
14
2020 2019
2,477,281 2,270,422
4,745,820 1,917,342
16,981,767 12,758,412
24,204,868 16,946,176
973,292 144,066
32,454,316 18,917,633
33,427,608 19,061,699
57,632,476 36,007,875
- 1.825 2019 -0.57
4.44
15

2020 2019
49,252,314 38,821,848
6,753,000 -
56,005,314 38,821,848
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ooDoogd
33,666
2019 28,763 56,005
2019 38,822
22,339 2019 10,059
16
3.5
10
31,174 2019 21,237
12

2020 12 31
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17
2020 2019
211,144,473 163,661,767
12,023,563 10,338,002
2,757,184 2,921,202
266,338,758 311,441,597
492,263,978 488,362,568
48,618,494 30,799,289
540,882,472 519,161,857
2020 2019
134,010,748 152,974,275
114,402,974 111,074,087
/ 162,774,636 144,036,048
/ 81,075,620 80,278,158
492,263,978 488,362,568
48,618,494 30,799,289
540,882,472 519,161,857
2020 2019
UAE 388,206,397 394,392,055
36,547,379 31,836,181
26,289,020 34,296,726
29,066,952 16,872,179
10,199,722 9,531,168
1,954,508 1,434,259
492,263,978 488,362,568
48,618,494 30,799,289
540,882,472 519,161,857
2020 2019
1,331,375 1,754,317
101,580 136,227
1,432,955 1,890,544
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ooOooood
18
2020 2019
61,970,222 55,352,794
466,881 399,025
62,437,103 55,751,819
2020 2019
55,751,819 42,268,173
16,692,127 23,906,212
(11,960,709) (13,529,379)
1,953,866 3,106,813
12 31 62,437,103 55,751,819
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oooooono
2020 2019

UAE . 204.00 _ _ - 3,730 94,697 98,427 - - - 3,689 92,988 96,677
3.17

- 86,397 - - - 86,397 - 77,803 78,468 - - 156,271

_ - - - 4, 4 - 77,557 141

BESHE  0.085 71,129 1,089,438 86,864 1,247,431 64,403 ,55 ,960

0 622'08 - - 1,676,993 2,097,570 615,825 4,390,388 - - 762,375 2,089,794 1,118,045 3,970,214

4 4.8 509,980 995,800 228,496 4,733,608 - 6,467,884 105,760 58,750 1,459,407 1,406,112 - 3,030,029
0.516

3.00 - - - 599,962 278,672 878,634 - 103,202 - 101,366 629,286 833,854

EURIBOR+0.33 - - - - - - - 246,699 - - - 246,699
1.375

5 205 - 126,411 2,285,968 145,189 108,726 2,666,294 - - 121,897 - 233,411 355,308

LIBOR+0.045 - 125,389 101,384 - - 226,773 - 1,647,446 121,012 - - 1,768,458

4 181'5 76,186 - 1,035,001 587,710 249,521 1,948,418 75,378 169,701 599,435 482,837 231,203 1,558,554
2.60

- - - - 372,239 372,239 - - - - 357,315 357,315
0.50

- - - - 6,424 6,424 - - - - 3,010 3,010
4.90

- - - - - - - 450,428 - - - 450,428
.207

5.20 610,015 3,256,479 13,493,360 9,892,511 4,958,527 32,210,892 5,870,694 72,519 2,354,991 7,770,416 14,434,213 30,502,833

IE0Rs0 244 - 514,220 6,308,558 4,830,474 183,650 11,836,902 346,410 1,368,711 4,628,328 5,753,110 183,650 12,280,209

1,196,181 5,104,696 25,200,889 23,980,192 6,955,145 62,437,103 6,398,242 4,195,259 10,190,316 17,607,324 17,360,678 55,751,819
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oOoOooodn

2020 2019
UAE - 96,677
- 1,896,474
3,428,729 1,409,954
- 213,306
8,150,038 10,972,190
2,249,361 232,633
497,421 400,003
1,077,930 77,331
1,231,413 10,627,704
- 1,768,981
102,322 -
16,737,214 27,695,253

49.67 2019 45.71
1,057.06 2019 499.27
2020 2019
19

2020 2019

2012 12 10 4.75 470,805 381,305
2020 12 31
20

2020 2019
5,833,330 8,631,724
- 13 3,870,232 5,039,143
464,604 469,894
12,122,067 9,005,759
297,005 194,259
22,587,238 23,340,779
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oOoOooodn

2020 12 31
UAE
2020 2019
3.13
2.30
+/-50
11,172
11,097 10,621
2020 2019
469,894 472,607
65,074 68,354
oCl 18,760 21,980
(89,124) (93,047)
12 31 464,604 469,894
87,314 2019 91,718
14,950 2019 12,662
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oOoOooodn

2020 2019
194,259 192,546
341,198 314,463
(238,452) (312,750)
12 31 297,005 194,259
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ooooOoog
21
2020 2019
10,920,000 10,920,000
8,980 18,864
2020 25 AGM
0.74 8,080 2018
0.74 8,064
1980 10 10
50
50
12 31
2020 2019
7,891,730 7,843,642
IFRS IFRS
2020 1 1,361,293 228,265 (354,657) 280,601 315,908 642,622 2,474,032
(185, 270) - (23,194) - - - (208, 464)
- - - (280,601) - - (280,601)
IFRS
- - - - 905,088 - 905,088
FVOCI
(7!634) - B - B - (7!634)
2020 12 31 1,168,389 228,265 (377,851) - 1,220,996 642,622 2,882,421
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ooooooo
IFRS IFRS
2019 1 (598,021) 228,265 (310,931) 280,601 297,621 64,988 (37,477)
1,968,488 - (43,726) - - - 1,924,762
IFRS
- - - - 18,287 577,634 595,921
Fvocl
9,174) - - - - - 9,174)
2019 12 31 1,361,293 228,265 (354,657) 280,601 315,908 642,622 2,474,032
Fvoci
2020 1,376,357 (15,064) 1,361,293
473,457 15,129 488,586
(653,246) - (653,246)
ECL (28,244) - (28,244)
2020 12 31 1,168,324 65 1,168,389
2019 (512,867) (85,154) (598,021)
2,633,928 70,090 2,704,018
(861,904) - (861,904)
ECL 117,200 - 117,200
2019 12 31 1,376,357 (15,064) 1,361,293
() 1FRS
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CBUAE CBUAE IFRS
IFRS
2020 2019
12 31 -
CBUAE  28/2010 8,206,198 6,341,246
IFRS (6,985,202) (6,348,700)
1,220,996 -
- 315,908
1,220,996 315,908
12 31 -
CBUAE  28/2010 6,617,775 6,351,290
IFRS (6,616,462) (5,708, 668)
- 642,622
642,622 -
642,622 642,622
22
2020 2019
8,000,000 8,000,000
EIBOR 2.3
750 - 2,754,750
2020 5.25
3.35
750 2,754,750 -
4.50
[
]
10,754,750 10,754,750
a b
2,754,750 750
426,253 2019 12 31 571,855
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Oooooood
2020 10 2,754,750 750
23
2008
9,884 2019 12 31 29,121
9,884 2019 12 31 29,121
104,123 2019 12 31 246,418
24
2020 2019
425,554 976,641
1,782,108 1,427,702
487,804 700,208
216,238 343,327
3,306,934 3,194,015
13,881,567 17,727,054
20,100,205 24,368,947
25
2020 2019
2,163,411 1,525,185
449,187 1,171,377
176,129 481,252
3,278,323 6,669,362
1,755,689 1,725,839
20,987 21,130
7,843,726 11,594,145
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ooooooo
26
2020 2019
875,266 907,730
12,856 17,930
40,903 25,743
57,898 56,325
1,875 6,794
1,502,065 1,502,355
1,499,029 1,764,010
38,360 54,379
93,587 107,084
223,695 288,338
4,345,534 4,730,688
51,860 54,002
1,068,938 1,076,309
279,731 378,837
41,864 52,111
1,442,393 1,561,259
2,903,141 3,169,429
27
2020 2019
1,2 592,846 1,907,725
3 647,509 693,253
1,240,355 2,600,978
1
28
2
ECB 420.0 (2019  366.49 )
3
28
2020 2019
264,584 611,253
653,246 861,902
33,197 33,122
951,027 1,506,277
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ooOoooOoo
29
2020 2019
208,997 (6,068)
119,792 126,772
737,371 28,929
1 156,749 47,938
1,222,909 197,571
1
2020 12
200
30
2020 2019
2,783,567 3,205,375
1,438,797 1,560,519
11 567,361 451,312
12 201,223 201,624
69,317 80,161
5,060,265 5,498,991
31
2020 2019
/
2,629,156 1,742,435
26,787 (38,267)
107,087 181,570
1,071 1,353
(241,735) (344,835)
97,574 300,724
2,619,940 1,842,980
32
2020 2019
341,198 314,463
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Ooooood
2020 2019
10,893,706 12,907,086
285,240 313,646
- - 827
- (11,049) (14,102)
- 18,082 1,705
- 9,229 (1,759)
- 1,433 (5,340)
- 25,126 10,538
- 13,137 8,948
341,198 314,463
33
2020 2019
228,009,148 169,855,176
27,430,792 17,074,471
255,439,940 186,929,647
(16,103,734) (21,493,508)
(146,969) (14,091, 205)
239,189,237 151,344,934
34
10
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ooooooa

2020 2019

217,181 130,152

67,883 144,715

(44,493) (57,686)

12 31 240,571 217,181
2020 2019

105,644 70,455

309,477 161,209

26,513 26,011

12 31 441,634 257,675
2020 2019

11,238 6,005

71,525 51,789

44,942 73,249

127,705 131,043

35

2020 2019

61,406,469 63,227,522

105,216,467 102,673,707

129,940 2,020,873

166,752,876 167,922,102
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ooOooood
2020 2019
74,582,341 39,442,026
819,667 841,722
536,571 794,001
75,938,579 41,077,749
242,691,455 208,999,851
43
73.5 2019 73.5

2020 2019 2020 2019
UAE 59,937,746 24,763,624 114,852,725 116,513,529
6,120,020 5,753,526 19,713,720 19,210,556
3,325,351 3,092,043 9,330,286 7,491,914
2,533,674 3,057,299 11,803,669 12,099,805
1,455,644 2,396,190 9,778,194 9,885,439
1,209,906 379,344 1,274,282 2,720,859
74,582,341 39,442,026 166,752,876 167,922,102

36
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0TC
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2020

12 31

25,182,835 25,928,742 1,457,039,482 181,895,692 246,303,523 406,721,160 261,036,759 361,082,348
5,826 12,384 106,439,606 23,930,835 67,829,857 14,513,630 165,284 -
124,048 176,464 280,868,236 107,780,270 169,372,394 3,617,669 97,903 -
2,517,378 2,716,509 290,992,042 176,764,134 71,268,392 38,047,766 4,450,177 461,573
362,710 246,448 77,414,426 29,935,411 42,218,354 5,260,661 - -
1,621,643 638,177 32,107,295 2,332,441 3,329,787 5,602,985 19,847,064 995,018
29,814,440 29,718,724 2,244,861,087 522,638,783 600,322,307 473,763,871 285,597,187 362,538,939
2,739,073 8,990,274 183,150,369 13,959,701 31,160,472 30,699,701 43,147,149 64,183,346
2,739,073 8,990,274 183,150,369 13,959,701 31,160,472 30,699,701 43,147,149 64,183,346
5,341 18,989 2,475,030 - 1,007,730 1,000,000 - 467,300

27 104,017 17,978,502 17,978,502 - - - -

5,368 123,006 20,453,532 17,978,502 1,007,730 1,000,000 - 467,300
32,558,881 38,832,004 2,448,464 ,988 554,576,986 632,490,509 505,463,572 328,744,336 427,189,585
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2019

12 31

11,824,387 13,050,401 1,354,394,679 210,476,933 251,548,568 417,580,845 191,507,168 283,281,165
11,672 14,460 63,092,794 20,388,639 40,495,083 1,364,282 293,840 550,950
97,029 160,003 132,010,216 83,466,280 40,681,071 6,981,536 183,650 697,679

1,775,128 1,947,857 339,425,825 164,537,645 119,486,036 47,338,549 7,688,952 374,643
178,057 111,871 64,758,853 18,826,365 39,234,421 6,689,379 8,688 -
1,177,801 303,608 11,638,589 5,326,346 1,783,324 2,513,361 1,923,733 91,825
15,064,074 15,588,200 1,965,320,956 503,022,208 493,228,503 482,467,952 201,606,031 284,996,262
826,068 3,453,143 150,671,464 28,607,570 12,559,318 20,755,142 30,678,692 58,070,742
826,068 3,453,143 150,671,464 28,607,570 12,559,318 20,755,142 30,678,692 58,070,742

- 3,506 4,643,918 907,287 2,754,750 981,881 - -

27,179 183,692 21,254,879 21,254,879 - - - -
27,179 187,198 25,898,797 22,162,166 2,754,750 981,881 - -
15,917,321 19,228,541 2,141,891,217 553,791,944 508,542,571 504,204,975 232,284,723 343,067,004

154/352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OooooOodd
/
/
/
2020 12 31
6,471.8 (2019  3,010.9 )
7,800.1
(2019  12,915.5 )
37
CIB
SME CIB  UAE

CIB FAB ADNP
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ooDoogd
PBG
FAB
IR
UAE
EAMEA APAC
EAMEA
EAMEA FAB
APAC

FAB
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UAE
2020 12 31

7,199,803 4,836,269 3,106 217,301 12,256,479 9,922,305 1,918,424 415,750 12,256,479

4,873,271 1,319,346 31,382 03,433 6,317,432 5,646,105 493,419 177,908 6,317,432

12,073,074 6,155,615 34,488 310,734 18,573,911 15,568,410 2,411,843 593,658 18,573,911

2,306,055 2,521,155 27,663 205,392 5,060,265 3,968,323 865,795 226,147 5,060,265

1,241,301 1,382,160 9,182 (12,793) 2,619,940 1,949,151 252,780 418,009 2,619,940

8,525,628 2,252,300 (2,357) 118,135 10,893,706 9,650,936 1,293,268 (50,498) 10,893,706

266,430 43,179 1,193 30,396 341,198 28,042 279,208 33,948 341,198

8,259,198 2,209,121 (3,550) 87,739 10,552,508 9,622,894 1,014,060 (84,446) 10,552,508
2020 12 31

809,539,992 102,960,943 3,843,838 84,838,429 1,001,183,202 714,888,880 274,538,582 40,307,398 1,029,734,860

(82,122,670) (110,674,328)

919,060,532 919,060,532

653,364,307 82,515,217 3,111,864 153,152,822 892,144,210 644,969,060 244,887,735 30,839,073 920,695,868

(82,122,670) (110,674,328)

810,021,540 810,021,540
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UAE
2019 12 31

5,886,735 5,291,535 11,150 1,585,382 12,774,802 10,973,048 1,443,436 358,318 12,774,802

5,994,408 1,363,837 53,922 62,088 7,474,255 6,371,610 777,402 325,243 7,474,255

11,881,143 6,655,372 65,072 1,647,470 20,249,057 17,344,658 2,220,838 683,561 20,249,057

2,363,051 2,699,636 38,358 397,946 5,498,991 4,388,262 886,809 223,920 5,498,991

816,691 1,132,059 (122,941) 17,171 1,842,980 1,628,271 116,513 98,196 1,842,980

8,701,401 2,823,677 149,655 1,232,353 12,907,086 11,328,125 1,217,516 361,445 12,907,086

220,230 70,645 6,990 16,598 314,463 2,811 227,890 83,762 314,463

8,481,171 2,753,032 142,665 1,215,755 12,592,623 11,325,314 989,626 277,683 12,592,623
2019 12 31

776,006,278 96,870,756 4,112,823 121,605,035 998,594,892 676,908,965 198,604,553 45,150,614 920,664,132

(176,626,877) (98,696,117)

821,968,015 821,968,015

566,986,703 80,789,429 3,239,287 239,542,437 890,557,856 584,573,030 190,236,429 37,817,637 812,627,096

(176,626,877) (98,696,117)

713,930,979 713,930,979
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ooOoooOoo
38
2020 2019

10,555,229 12,520,203

(426,253) (571,855)

10,128,976 11,948,348

10,901,136 10,872,015

4,554 23,692

C ) 10,905,690 10,895,707

0.93 1.10

10,128,976 11,948,348

10,905,690 10,895,707

C D 1,172 3,875

10,906,862 10,899,582

0.93 1.10
39

EXCO
2020 2019

10,900,278 62,692,025 16,111 73,608,414 50,378,990

33,528,213 31,574,675 27,887 65,130,775 44,841,529

3,015,537 16,660,432 - 19,675,969 12,977,634

803,582 1,760,949 351 2,564,862 1,849,534

646,065 94,070 433 740,568 583,033

2020 2019
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40

2020 12 31
2019 7,512.8

41

SPE

SPE
SPE

ECL
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53,026 54,752

6,786.1

SPE
SPE

2020
100



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
42
IFRS
IFRS 1ASB
@
(b)
¢ ()
IFRS
ECL
ECL
PD
ECL
ECL
ECL
PD EAD LGD

ECL
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Ooooood
TESS TESS
2020 12 31

64,476 1,744,328 27,929

923 25,931 827

10,381 138,240 960

6,459 133,951 1,899

82,239 2,042,450 31,615

3,283,608 35,438,907 285,942

22,732 167,635 1,130

861,001 4,795,853 715,401

6,758 21,725 5,059

4,174,099 40,424,120 1,007,532

ECL

ECL 26,757 8,479 665 35,901
138 39 - 177

93 44 - 137

4,079 (1,422) (665) 1,992

924 @4 - 900
(3,235) (4,257) - (7,492)

ECL 28,756 2,859 - 31,615
ECL 117,432 561,440 3,218 682,090
(104) G7D) - (675)
GRE 50 (1,607) - - (1,607)
161,224 157,520 (1,589) 317,155
112) - - 112)

9,109 (1,858) 3,430 10,681

ECL 285,942 716,531 5,059 1,007,532
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ooooooo
POCI
2020 1,811,414 26,757 76,098 8,479 1,042 665 - - 1,888,554 35,901
(211,841) 174) 211,841 174 - - - - - -
10,627 1,817 (10,627) (,817) - - - - - -
268 160 774 505 (1,042) (665) - - - -
159,791 196 (5,895) (4,482) - - - - 153,896 (4,286)
2020 12 31 1,770,259 28,756 272,101 2,859 - - - - 2,042,450 31,615
2020 33,506,647 117,432 5,214,025 561,440 9,306 3,218 - - 38,729,978 682,090
(73,202) (1,128) 73,202 1,128 - - - - - -
602,344 27,542 (602,344) (27,542) - - - - - -
(9,362) (380) (10.894) (269) 20,256 649 - - - -
1,706 1,003 2,903 939 (4,609) (1,942) - - - -
1,410,774 141,473 286,596 180,835 (3,228) 3,134 - - 1,694,142 325,442
2020 12 31 35,438,907 285,942 4,963,488 716,531 21,725 5,059 - - 40,424,120 1,007,532
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FVOCI
2020 12 31
222,634,395 15,889 3,441,397 120,667 - - - - 226,075,792 136,556
26,700,399 35,828 730,393 37,325 - - - - 27,430,792 73,153
44,088,756 19,515 - - - - - - 44,088,756 19,515
362,778,965 2,592,811 20,275,910 3,136,473 15,166,539 6,013,657 5,067,332 695,474 403,288,746 12,438,415
3,352,977 345 - - - - - - 3,352,977 345
FVOCI 127,455,847 111,872 153,568 21,168 - - - - 127,609,415 133,040
10,758,453 90,301 25,221 451 709 456 - - 10,784,383 91,208
234,823,309 284,365 5,379,356 130,290 1,132,552 294,777 - - 241,335,217 709,432
1,032,593,101 3,150,926 30,005,845 3,446,374 16,299,800 6,308,890 5,067,332 695,474 1,083,966,078 13,601,664
1
FVOCI
ECL
4,885
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2019 12 31
164,343,649 40,694 3,520,018 112,473 - - - - 167,863,667 153,167
16,186,541 10,310 887,930 37,659 - - - - 17,074,471 47,969
24,678,789 414 - - - - - - 24,678,789 414
385,583,423 1,739,418 19,642,585 3,228,577 11,768,567 4,581,173 4,735,753 1,478,975 421,730,328 11,028,143
5,387,087 1,020 - - - - - - 5,387,087 1,020
FVvOCI 108,576,288 159,477 22,582 1,806 - - - - 108,598,870 161,283
13,282,010 61,762 46,176 1,363 3,791 486 - - 13,331,977 63,611
200,490,346 190,504 5,341,218 106,985 1,532,564 304,272 - - 207,364,128 601,761
918,528,133 2,203,599 29,460,509 3,488,863 13,304,922 4,885,931 4,735,753 1,478,975 966,029,317 12,057,368
1
FVOCI
ECL
4,560
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2020 2019 2020 2019
AAA 19,851,021 16,237,301 565,421 4,076
M A 81,811,445 71,921,751 10,291,770 9,030,149
BBB B 26,047,880 21,514,326 6,648,558 6,577,622
cee 77,676 - - -
3,786,085 4,972,064 3,760,494 4,487,334
131,574,107 114,645,442 21,266,243 20,099,181
(345) (1,020) - _
131,573,762 114,644,422 21,266,243 20,099,181
CRM
SBLC
2020 2019
0-50 10,025,681 8,069,457
51-100 4,199,749 3,861,786
100 1,619,624 1,598,753
15,845,054 13,529,996
2019 2020

1SDA
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FAB
90
43
ECL
40
30
OECD
2020 12 31 2021 2025 12 31
1.2 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
MENA 17.29% 16.31% 4.18% 2.72% 2.12%
30.37% 14.90% 3.92% 2.66% 2.12%
-51.32% 81.89% 24.36% 9.44% 6.65%
UAE 6.04% 9.04% 5.76% 4.03% 4.90%
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32.59% 34.58% 9.74% 0.01% -1.02%
-32.55% 2.45% 1.33% 4.55% 5.01%
GDP 4.26% 6.79% 6.38% 6.26% 6.06%
7.67% 6.36% 5.98% 6.18% 6.06%
-0.52% 7.48% 7.46% 6.93% 6.43%
28.45% 13.92% 10.62% 9.40% 9.07%
37.02% 13.64% 10.83% 9.34% 9.23%
-21.84% 19.31% 12.73% 9.91% 9.35%
GDP 2.02% 5.17% 3.45% 1.66% 1.43%
5.30% 4.96% 3.39% 1.61% 1.39%
-0.75% 5.26% 3.38% 1.75% 1.63%
10.58% 3.92% 4.55% 3.71% 3.33%
21.71% 0.08% 1.39% 2.84% 3.41%
=5.17% 10.67% 8.92% 4.66% 3.33%

1771352
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v
PD
PD
PD
12 12
2020 2019
11,465,052 11,323,970
2,841,479 2,742,663
2,889,749 2,976,105
ECL
ECL

PD
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oooooDod
©C )
2020
2,203,599 3,488,863 4,885,931 1,478,975 12,057,368
(75,265) 75,265 - - -
(60,949) - 60,949 - -
152,032 (152,032) - - -
- (507,951) 507,951 - -
- 243,199 (243,199) - -
18,233 - (18,233) - -
34,051 (341,519) 307,468 - -
913,751 302,739 2,225,884 (679,344) 2,763,030
(475) (3,709)  (1,110,393) (104,157)  (1,218,734)
3,150,926 3,446,374 6,308,890 695,474 13,601,664
ECL
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oooooog
2019

1,838,329 4,481,031 4,819,715 1,630,135 12,769,210

(154,401) 154,401 - - -

(53,470) - 53,470 - -

151,137 (151,137) - - -

- (1,142,873) 1,142,873 - -

- 197,841 (197,841) - -

46,493 - (46,493) - -

(10,241) (941,768) 952,009 - -

376,231 (40,094) 1,604,096 (54,495) 1,885,738

(720) (10,306) (2.489,889) (96,665)  (2,597,580)

2,203,599 3,488,863 4,885,931 1,478,975 12,057,368
ECL
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2020 2019

226,075,792 167,863,667

19,393,786 17,385,250

27,430,792 17,074,471

44,088,756 24,678,789

403,288,746 421,730,328

131,519,900 114,582,043

15,793,737 19,757,099

867,591,509 783,071,647

36 29,814,440 15,064,074
36 2,744,441 853,247
32,558,881 15,917,321

35 166,752,876 167,922,102
35 74,582,341 39,442,026
241,335,217 207,364,128

182/352
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2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
727,782 667,898 - - - - - -
39,706,125 35,946,386 13,252,053 14,719,913 - - 15,084,441 6,767,683
21,952,423 23,859,479 1,281,092 1,463,452 - - 4,126,708 3,451,075
11,151,070 10,212,445 463,657 319,869 - - 952,842 972,225
88,477,802 81,283,262 1,610,072 2,391,124 - - 8,386,588 12,757,183
22,435,927 25,288,459 132,731 117,296 - - 1,919,410 1,330,860
37,845,095 25,534,949 5,606,050 5,388,929 - - 1,853,348 2,706,854
8,924,677 24,681,349 36,633,986 29,767,786 36,569,950 16,152,282 91,825 -
39,335,644 33,623,785 11,343,128 10,433,100 4,625,639 2,055,854 8,391,313 3,429,740
20,187,687 21,290,921 35,660 359,996 - - 38,755,836 4,881,620
38,889,069 66,706,966 82,481,921 69,783,158 2,893,167 6,470,653 30,000,000 3,033,116
51,419,609 53,826,058 - - - - 6,878 111,670
22,235,836 18,808,371 - - - - 13,152 -
403,288,746 421,730,328 152,840,350 134,744,623 44,088,756 24,678,789 74,582,341 39,442,026
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OooooOodd
UAE
2020 12 31
51,083,313 98,253,359 12,912,882 65,645,017 105,685 8,892 228,009,148
2,046,352 4,339,068 5,612,563 1,889,944 6,499,642 878,674 21,266,243
173,709 24,726,420 1,356,056 789,798 235,993 148,816 27,430,792
2,355,652 13,822,582 22,893,875 960,494 3,854,139 202,014 44,088,756
5,929,823 19,678,895 3,669,924 311,997 2,515,722 452,520 32,558,881
253,842,660 67,670,110 38,039,690 19,982,880 18,874,483 4,878,923 403,288,746
40,989,353 26,566,919 26,039,327 14,742,175 20,669,329 2,567,004 131,574,107
356,420,862 255,057,353 110,524,317 104,322,305 52,754,993 9,136,843 888,216,673
2019 12 31
54,566,643 88,416,330 15,289,971 11,542,835 39,396 - 169,855,175
4,301,099 3,038,934 3,618,927 1,267,952 5,292,225 2,580,044 20,099,181
404,163 14,121,121 1,658,071 329,108 233,704 328,304 17,074,471
1,862,437 6,295,022 14,452,444 333,042 1,552,194 183,650 24,678,789
3,424,370 9,094,116 1,589,852 137,379 1,592,137 79,467 15,917,321
286,108,908 38,920,838 35,344,158 27,260,040 28,419,159 5,677,225 421,730,328
37,435,572 20,207,419 23,978,309 12,580,027 17,906,508 2,537,607 114,645,442
388,103,192 180,093,780 95,931,732 53,450,383 55,035,323 11,386,297 784,000,707
35

2020 2019 2020 2019
68,001,252 58,151,621 11,538,832 7,973,070
879,774 1,806,646 2,062,063 1,851,821
23,496,751 23,953,560 509,076 1,442,491
31,621,387 23,049,215 5,012,599 6,718,571
/ 7,574,943 7,684,400 2,143,673 2,113,228
131,574,107 114,645,442 21,266,243 20,099,181
(345) (1,020) - -
131,573,762 114,644,422 21,266,243 20,099,181
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(b)
FAB
ALCO
LCR FAB LCR UAE
FAB
UAE ELAR
G-ALCO
2020 12 31
227,872,592 223,905,913 3,966,679 - - - -
21,266,243 10,213,641 4,867,090 3,239,471 297,517 776,067 1,872,457
21,357,639 27,355,628 - 2,011 - - -

44,069,241 26,708,963 17,360,278 - - - -

32,558,881 2,353,427 2,650,672 6,583,610 6,086,367 14,884,805 -
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386,643,996 84,642,731 57,178,448 94,851,592 65,678,038 84,293,187 -
131,573,762 12,577,929 13,267,198 19,747,489 30,533,782 54,835,649 611,715
7,603,230 - - - - - 7,603,230
4,867,126 - - - - - 4,867,126
19,296,864 - - - - - 19,296,864

15,950,958 11,963,218 3,987,740 - - - -
919,060,532 399,721,450 103,278,105 124,424,173 102,595,704 154,789,708 34,251,392

57,632,476 52,023,025 5,609,451 - - - -
56,005,314 41,709,010 8,731,590 5,564,714 - - -
31,174,128 20,173,640 11,000,488 - - - -

38,832,004 2,502,075 2,328,898 6,854,523 6,386,747 20,759,761 -
540,882,472 397,719,777 108,900,672 32,944,781 321,792 995,450 -
62,437,103 1,196,181 5,104,696 25,200,889 23,980,192 6,955,145 -
470,805 - - - - 470,805 -
22,587,238 16,940,428 5,646,810 - - - -
109,038,992 - - - - - 109,038,992

919,060,532 532,264,136 147,322,605 70,564,907 30,688,731 29,181,161 109,038,992

74,582,341 35,615,793 34,905,831 2,329,407 1,637,894 93,416 -
166,752,876 74,801,994 26,546,608 27,543,244 10,687,371 27,173,659 -
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OoooooO
2019 12 31
169,702,008 157,052,194 12,649,814 - - - -
20,099,181 7,039,406 4,988,693 3,804,611 768,014 784,526 2,713,931
17,026,502 15,553,869 1,470,664 1,969 - - -
24,678,375 14,548,779 10,129,596 - - - -
15,917,321 1,577,301 1,716,629 2,947,588 2,986,952 6,688,851 -
407,903,028 101,578,990 40,796,737 87,188,070 60,981,193 117,358,038 -
114,644,422 10,026,052 11,575,687 19,638,363 26,383,410 46,361,425 659,485
7,956,854 - - - - - 7,956,854
4,618,986 - - - - - 4,618,986
19,498,087 - - - - - 19,498,087
19,923,251 14,943,541 4,979,710 - - - -
821,968,015 322,320,132 88,307,530 113,580,601 91,119,569 171,192,840 35,447,343
36,007,875 32,689,185 3,318,690 - - - -
38,821,848 31,022,552 4,066,570 3,732,726 - - -
21,236,955 19,934,339 1,302,616 - - - -
! 19,228,541 1,503,596 1,690,847 3,232,732 3,338,054 9,463,312 -
519,161,857 459,015,160 54,213,676 3,589,339 1,152,926 1,190,756 -
55,751,819 6,398,243 4,195,259 10,190,316 17,610,323 17,357,678 -
381,305 - - - - 381,305 -
23,340,779 17,505,377 5,835,402 - - - -
108,037,036 - - - - - 108,037,036
821,968,015 568,068,452 74,623,060 20,745,113 22,101,303 28,393,051 108,037,036
39,442,026 8,634,424 21,590,701 3,239,297 2,134,177 3,843,427 -
167,922,102 77,220,091 20,842,492 33,130,448 10,041,478 26,687,593 -
1
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2020 12 31
57,632,476 57,702,161 52,079,562 5,622,599 - - -
56,005,314 56,112,668 41,745,847 8,741,442 5,625,379 - -
31,174,128 31,192,115 20,176,417 11,015,698 - - -
540,882,472 545,721,598 400,535,450 109,374,427 34,327,755 376,834 1,107,132
62,437,103 78,204,322 1,543,887 6,380,000 28,314,872 25,119,209 16,846,354
470,805 608,287 - 21,684 43,427 43,368 499,808
748,602,298 769,541,151 516,081,163 141,155,850 68,311,433 25,539,411 18,453,294
74,582,341 74,582,341 35,615,793 34,905,831 2,329,407 1,637,894 93,416
166,752,876 166,752,876 74,801,994 26,546,608 27,543,244 10,687,371 27,173,659
2019 12 31
36,007,875 36,211,011 32,862,711 3,348,300 - - -
38,821,848 39,131,621 31,206,879 4,179,726 3,745,016 - -
21,236,955 21,277,912 19,966,199 1,311,713 - - -
519,161,857 527,077,505 464,357,773 55,913,718 4,009,781 1,316,654 1,479,579
55,751,819 91,784,613 6,815,902 4,781,987 11,717,654 18,205,708 50,263,362
381,305 619,632 - 21,384 42,769 42,593 512,886
671,361,659 716,102,294 555,209,464 69,556,828 19,515,220 19,564,955 52,255,827
39,442,026 39,442,026 8,634,424 21,590,701 3,239,297 2,134,177 3,843,427
167,922,102 167,922,102 77,220,091 20,842,492 33,130,448 10,041,478 26,687,593
1
©

IMCO

IMCO
G-ALCO
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IMCO
G-ALCO BRCC
VaR
VaR
VaR 99
VaR
VaR IMCO G-ALCO
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
MAT
VaR
2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
VaR
67,417 41,420 77,658 19,971 24,736
40,300 27,470 69,432 23,182 24,863
27,531 18,066 29,507 6,908 9,132
14,045 10,171 14,199 9,914 6,010
1,606 3,543 9,026 685 683
204 316 1,055 44 _
(16,269) (18,146) (45,561) (20,762) (15,952)
2019 VaR 2020 VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
IMCO G-ALCO VaR

VaR

2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
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VaR
483,064 411,708 510,864 158,482 166,793
31,676 31,813 58,625 18,241 26,499
451,288 395,145 483,816 177,390 180,865
16,675 18,002 22,721 7,180 15,548
15,472 12,358 15,770 5,904 6,901
(32,047) (45,610) (70,068) (50,233) (63,020)
36
50 2019 50
2020 2019 2020 2019
+ 519,145 + 412,239 + 1,456,459 + 1,260,108
723,379
2019 616,651 575,855 2019

549,194
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2020 12 31
227,872,592 208,131,076 3,966,679 - - - 15,774,837
21,266,243 10,834,708 4,044,281 1,902,859 297,517 2,521,220 1,665,658
27,357,639 24,119,805 - 2,011 - - 3,235,823
44,069,241 26,708,963 17,360,278 - - - -
32,558,881 32,558,881 - - - - -
386,643,996 289,762,759 63,617,202 10,813,336 7,155,974 15,294,725 -
131,573,762 18,186,859 12,732,103 17,627,238 29,003,412 53,599,815 424,335
7,603,230 - - - - - 7,603,230
19,296,864 - - - - - 19,296,864
4,867,126 - - - - - 4,867,126
15,950,958 7,171,349 4,184,785 93,032 51,474 3,629,168 821,150
919,060,532 617,474,400 105,905,328 30,438,476 36,508,377 75,044,928 53,689,023
57,632,476 48,853,769 5,277,182 - - - 3,501,525
56,005,314 39,503,091 8,731,590 7,770,633 - - -
31,174,128 20,173,640 11,000,488 - - - -
38,832,004 38,832,004 - - - - -
540,882,472 268,754,062 109,585,308 32,415,100 128,752,664 1,375,329 -
62,437,108 15,212,334 798,691 8,741,667 14,075,719 23,608,692 -
470,805 - - - - 470,805 -
22,587,238 5,818,950 3,313,808 536,231 344,156 - 12,574,003
109,038,992 - - - - - 109,038,992
919,060,532 437,147,850 138,707,067 49,463,640 143,172,539 25,454,826 125,114,610
180,326,550 (19,025,164)  (106,664,162) 49,500,102  (71,425,587)
(32,807,739)
31,844,732 (2.603,095)  (1,205,064)  (14,763,453)  (13,273,120) -
212,171,282 (20,230,228)  (121,427,615) 36,316,982  (71,425,587)
(35,404,834)
212,171,282 176,766,448 156,536,220 35,108,605 71,425,587 -
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2019 12 31

160,702,008 118,546,742 12,649,814 - - - 38,505,452
20,099,181 7,724,439 4,400,968 1,699,223 688,152 2,317,558 3,268,841
17,026,502 13,130,412 1,469,648 1,969 - - 2,424,473
24,678,375 14,548,779 10,129,596 - - - -
15,917,321 15,917,321 - - - - -
407,903,028 315,624,872 57,832,645 10,220,078 8,546,551 15,678,882 -
114,644,422 14,201,971 11,337,755 18,045,151 24,564,226 45,835,834 659,485
7,956,854 - - - - - 7,956,854
19,498,087 - - - - - 19,498,087
4,618,986 - - - - - 4,618,986
19,923,251 14,475,328 4,661,085 93,284 53,649 - 639,905
821,968,015 514,169,864 102,481,511 30,059,705 33,852,578 63,832,274 77,572,083
36,007,875 30,199,502 3,392,824 - - - 2,415,549
38,821,848 31,022,552 4,066,570 3,732,726 - - -
21,236,955 19,934,339 1,302,616 - - - -
19,228,541 19,228,541 - - - - -
519,161,857 351,048,138 54,114,220 3,081,938 109,828,078 1,089,483 -
55,751,819 21,323,690 857,255 5,295,540 11,367,549 16,907,785 -
381,305 - - - - 381,305 -
23,340,779 9,166,969 3,536,481 308,344 270,661 - 10,058,324
108,037,036 - - - - - 108,037,036
821,968,015 481,923,731 67,269,966 12,418,548 121,466,288 18,378,573 120,510,909

32,246,133 35,211,545 17,641,157  (87,613,710) 45,453,701 (42,938,826)
40,229,529 (1,580,669) (9,538,714)  (11,581,070)  (17,529,076) -

72,475,662 , 33,630,876 8,102,443  (99,194,780) 27,924,625  (42,938,826)
72,475,662 106,106,538 114,208,981 15,014,201 42,938,826 -
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12 31
2020 2019
( ) ) ) V4

(10,113,815) 63,202,864 53,089,049 32,311,916

(736,933) 517,918 (219,015) 279,973

62,339,392 (61,809,504) 529,888 414,669
(111,070) 250,776 139,706 (2,387,464)
4,195,335 (5,349,980) (1,154,645) (7,645,853)

6,492,930 (6,548,628) (55,698) 620,871

(3,837,911) 3,833,437 (4,474) 90,939
2,268,659 (2,233,717) 34,942 (1,151,476)
2,660,273 (2,488,263) 172,010 (143,732)

1,032,173 3,886 1,036,059 1,051,549

225,434 - 225,434 300,239

(3,451,451) 3,178,548 (272,903) 779,268

2020 2019 12 31
AED
2020 + 5,299 + 2,190 + 557 + 10,361
2019 + 4,147 + 2,800 + 6,209 + 10,516
2020 2019 12 31

FAB
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2020 2019

5 1,045 230

5 2,221 50,743
5

88,279 74,329

5 2,078 10,394

93,623 135,696

2020 2019 12 31
2020 2019

5 8,780 9,772

5 1,411 1,692

5 16,552 17,215

5 1,133 1,124

27,876 29,803

()
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FAB

FAB

FAB

CBUAE
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1CAAP
1CAAP
CBUAE
ICAAP
2020
CBUAE CBUAE
D BIS 3.5
CUBEAE
2021 2022
UAE COVID-19 TESS
2021 12 31 D-BIS 1.50 60

CBUAE CET
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Ogoooood
2020 2019

10,920,000 10,920,000
53,538,584 53,434,461
18,980,989 18,469,164
10,920,000 10,629,011
478,081 478,081
525,775 612,744
290,996 330,417
(377,851) (354,657)
IFRS ECL 907,796 _
(8.080,800) (8,080,800)
@ 88,103,570 86,438,421
(8,980) (18,864)
(101,437) (40,336)
(20,765,636) (20,621,922)
(219,197) (141,752)
(21,095,250) (20,822,874)
67,008,320 65,615,547
10,754,750 10,754,750
77,763,070 76,370,297
282,483 305,044
5,514,812 5,292,741
5,797,295 5,597,785
83,560,365 81,968,082
441,184,990 423,419,311
28,419,038 25,737,601
35,735,719 35,913,142
505,339,747 485,070,054

CET 13.3 13.5

15.4 15.7

16.5 16.9

®
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IFRS
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0TC

0TC

0TC

0TC

CVA DVA

CVA DVA

CVA DVA
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CDS

CVA DVA 136
2019 68.8
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©
2020 12 31
FvoCI FvoCl
- - - - 227,872,592 227,872,592
- 21,266,243 - - - 21,266,243
- - - - 27,357,639 27,357,639
- - - - 44,069,241 44,069,241
2,744,441 29,814,440 - - - 32,558,881
- - - - 386,643,996 386,643,996
- - 127,609,070 557,508 3,352,977 131,519,555
- - - - 15,763,630 15,763,630
2,744,441 51,080,683 127,609,070 557,508 705,060,075 887,051,777
- - - - 57,632,476 57,632,476
- - - - 56,005,314 56,005,314
- - - - 31,174,128 31,174,128
9,113,280 29,718,724 - - - 38,832,004
- - - - 540,882,472 540,882,472
466,881 - - - 61,970,222 62,437,103
1 - 336,420 - - 20,630,429 20,966,849
- - - - 470,805 470,805
9,580,161 30,055,144 - - 768,765,846 808,401,151
1
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ooooooo
2019 12 31
Fvocl Fvocl

- - - - 169,702,008 169,702,008

- 20,099,181 - - - 20,099,181

- - - - 17,026,502 17,026,502

- - - - 24,678,375 24,678,375
853,247 15,064,074 - - - 15,917,321
- - - - 407,903,028 407,903,028

- - 108,597,850 596,086 5,387,087 114,581,023

- - - - 19,693,488 19,693,488
853,247 35,163,255 108,597,850 596,086 644,390,488 789,600,926
- - - - 36,007,875 36,007,875

- - - - 38,821,848 38,821,848

- - - - 21,236,955 21,236,955
3,640,341 15,588,200 - - - 19,228,541
- - - - 519,161,857 519,161,857
399,025 - - - 55,352,794 55,751,819
- 325,634 - - 21,687,480 22,013,114

- - - - 381,305 381,305
4,039,366 15,913,834 - - 692,650,114 712,603,314
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2020 12 31
9,921,320 5,292,365 6,052,558 21,266,243
FVOCI 111,756,913 12,709,056 3,143,446 127,609,415
FVoCI 534,846 - 22,662 557,508
47,620 32,511,261 - 32,558,881
122,260,699 50,512,682 9,218,666 181,992,047
- 466,881 - 466,881
108,153 38,720,806 3,045 38,832,004
108,153 39,187,687 3,045 39,298,885
2019 12 31
14,886,433 3,561,090 1,651,658 20,099,181
FvoCl 98,442,036 9,335,801 821,033 108,598,870
FvoCI 573,601 - 22,485 596,086
5,393 15,900,261 11,667 15,917,321
113,907,463 28,797,152 2,506,843 145,211,458
- 399,025 - 399,025
65,112 19,162,637 792 19,228,541
65,112 19,561,662 792 19,627,566
2020 12 31
- 152,045 - 152,045
- - 282,570 282,570
- - 12,074 12,074
- 5,161,377 - 5,161,377
3,538,569 - - 3,538,569
- - 113,088 113,088
3,538,569 5,313,422 407,732 9,259,723
2019 12 31
68,438 - - 68,438
- 34,851 - 34,851
13,912 - - 13,912
82,350 34,851 - 117,201
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Ooooood
2020 2019
2,506,843 1,845,932
6,922,464 1,103,733
(210,641) (442,822)
12 31 9,218,666 2,506,843
43
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45

COVID-19 2020
46
2021 20

SAE 100
UAE
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2018 3 QFCRA

QFCRA 2019 4
NY QFCRA
NY QFCRA
2019 8 QFCRA QFCRA 200
55 2020 2
2020 11 OFCRA

UAE UVAE
IFRS
UAE IFRS
2020 12 31
@
IFRS
(IFRS 10 )
SPE
SPE SPE
IFRS
(

22 )
@

IFRS

IFRS IAS 38
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€))

IFRS

)

®

IFRS

FvoCl
(FvoCl
FVTPL
FV
1)

2)

OooooOodd
20
21
(1AS 36 )
(20

FVTPL
)
FvoCI FVTPL
FV

Fv
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Fv FvocCl

®

IFRS FvoCl IFRS

FVTPL
( )

(©)

IFRS
Q)

IFRS 9

-IFRS 9

- IFRS 15
®

IFRS
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®
IFRS
(
)
(
)
(1AS 39
)
(
)
(
) 10
(10)
IFRS
(
)
( )

(1AS 19 )
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26

an
IFRS

12)
IFRS IFRS 16

IFRS
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FAB(

Firil] Al Dl Bl

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December

Assols Note 2020 013
AED'O00 AED'000

Cash and balances with central banks 4 227,872,592 163,702,008

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 5 21,266,243 20,095,181

Due from banks and financial institutions & 27,357,639 17,026,502

Reverse repurchase agreements 7 44,063,241 24,678,375

Derivative financial instruments k] 32,558 881 15,917,321
g

Loans and advances 3E6,643,996 407,503,028

Mon-trading investments g 121,573,762 114,644,422
Imvestment properties 10 7,603,230 7,956,854
Property and equipment i1 4,867,126 4,618,986
Intangibles 12 15,296,864 19,498,087
Other assets 13 15,550,958 19,522,251
Total assets 919,060,532 821 868,015
Liabilities

Due to banks and financial institutions 14 57,632,476 36,007,875
Repurchase agreaments 15 56,005,314 38,821,848
Comrmercial paper 16 31,174,128 21,236,955
Derivative financial instruments 35 38,832,004 19,378,541
Customer accounts and ather deposits I7 540 882 472 519,161 857
Term barrowings 18 62,437,102 55,751,819
Subordinated notes 19 470,805 11305
Other Rabilities 20 22,587,238 23,340,773
Total liabilities 810,021,540 713,930,979
Equity

Share capital 21 10,920,000 10,920,000
Share premium 53,538,584 53,434,461
Treasury shares (8,980) (18,864)
Statutory and special reserves 10,920,000 10,520,000
Other reserves 21 2882421 2,474,032
Tier 1 capital notes 22 10,754,750 10,754,750
Share based payment 23 249,816 245,816
Retained earnings 19,418,076 18,872,367
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank 108,674,667 107,606,562
Non-controlling Interest 364,325 430474
Total Equity 109,038,992 108,037,036
Total lizbilities and equity 919,060,532 811,968,015

To the best of our knowledge, the financial staternents présent fairdy in all material respects the financial condition, fimancial performance
and cazh flows of the Group n‘r,_;,u,d._!gr, the pevniods presented therein,

Thide :mmaleg_mauiﬂ'ualmnu were approsed by the Board of Directors and authorized for lsue on 26 January 2021 and signed
on s behat:— o

e —

™~

Chabrman Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer

;“"‘___?Jq__;_::?,j../

The nates 1 to 45 are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statemants.
The independen suditer’s report on audit of consolidated fnancial statements is set out on pages 2 1o B.
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Juh.um.ini_u(

Fard Abu Dihabsd Bank:
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December

Mote 2020 2019
AED'000 AEDDOD
Interest income 24 20,100,205 24,368,547
Interest expense 25 {7.843,726) [11,594,145)
Nt intarest income 12,256,479 12,774,802
Fee and commission income X5 4,345,524 4,730,688
Fee and commission expense 26 {1,442,393) 11,561,259)
Met fee and commission income 2903141 3,168,429
Met foreign exchange gain i 1,240,355 2600578
Nist gain on investrments and derivativies 1] 951,027 1,506,277
Other operating income Fi 1,222,909 197,571
Operating Income 18,573,911 20,249,057
General, administration and other operating expense El {5,060, 265) 15.488,991)
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation 13,513,646 14,750,066
Met impainment charge a1 {2,619,940) {1,842,980)
Profit before taxation 10,893,706 12,907,086
Owerseas incoma tax expense Iz {341,158) [314,463)
Prafit for the year 10,552,508 12,592,623
S - —

Profit attributable ta:
Shareholders of the Bank 10,555,229 12,520,203
Mon-controlling interests {2,721) T2 420
10,552,508 12,592,623
_ _—
Basic earnings per share (AED) 38 0.93 110

Dlluted earnings per share [AED) 38 0.93 110

Tne notes 1 to 46 are an Integral part of these consol'dated Enandal skatements.
T invddependent auditess repet on audt of consolidated financial stalements s sel out on pages 2 o8,

10
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Juh.umu(

P Abu Dihabd Bank:

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

2020 2018
AED'DD0 AED'DDD
Prafit for the year 10,552,508 12,592,622
Other comprehanshve income
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations 3,008 [47,394)
Het change in fair value reserve during the year (including ECL) {110,984) 194]1,181
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Met change In fair value of investments in eguity Instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive Income {74,2485] 27,3048
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations {18,825] {17.295)
Board of Directors” ramuneraticn 148,000 [54,750)
Other comprehensive income for the year {249,087] 1,849,050
Total comprehensive income for the year 10,303,421 14,441,673
Comprehe nshse income attributable te:
Shareholders of the Bank 10,279,940 14,372,921
Non-controlling interest 13,481 68,752
Total comprahensbve income far the year 10,203,421 14,441,673

Toe motes 1 to 46 are an Integral part of these consoldated Enandad statements.
Towe indlependent auditoss repet on audt of consolidated financial stalements s el oul on pages 2108,
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December
Nobe 2020 2009
AED'000 AED'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 10,893,706 12,907,086
Adjustments for;
Depreciation and amorisation 11,22 TEE, 584 652,936
Loss on revaluation of investment properties 1o 248,485 6,699
Gain on sale of investment property (457,071) {136)
Gain on sile of fooed assets {737,371) [28,8597)
Net impairment charges 31 1,861,675 2,187 815
Acoreted interest 699,253 1,425,680
Foreign cufrency translation adjustment 723,971 [22,997)
15,001,232 17,128,186
Changes in:
Investments at fair value throwgh profit or kess {1,167,062) 15,478,271}
Diie from central banks, banks snd linancial matit ulions 19,334,009 l!l.ﬂ?l]-.ﬂﬂll
Reverse repurchase agreements {19,409,967) 15.629,982)
Loans and advances 18,530,367 (56,583,821)
Other assets 3,944,696 681,475
Due to banks and financial institutions 21,624,601 (#,258,660)
Repurchase agresments 17,183 466 4,052,163
Customer acoounts and other deposits 21,720,850 53,925,473
Derivative financial instruments 3,602,005 2,884,178
Otheer liabilithes (1,146,245) {2,948,403)
95,217,951 15,497,582)
Dreerieas income Lax paid, net ol recoveries {243,760) [314,138)
Cirectors’ remuneratien paid {54,750) [54,750)
Met cash from J (used in) operating activities O8,919,441 5, 866,4568)
Cash flows from investing activities
Net purchase af non-trading invest ments {17,111,196) [22,427.994)
Purchase of investment property {952,811 (489, 805)
Salle proceeds from disposal of investment property 1,034,421 8,865
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals {343,502) (869,740}
Net cash used in investing activities {17,373,088) [23,778.674)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from isaue of shares under share based pinpment 36,972 258,514
Dividend paid o shareholders of the bank 21 {7.891,730) {7.843,642)
Dividend paid to minority shareholders {89,630) .
ket movemnent of commercial paper 9,937,173 3,092,850
Issue of term bomowings 18 16,692,127 23,906,212
Repaymaent of term borrowings 18 {11,960,709) (13,529,379)
Payrnent on Tier 1 cagital notes 22 {2,181,003) [571,855)
Issuance of Tier 1 capital notes 22 1,754,750 -
Met cash from financing activities 6,297,950 5,312,700
Met increase [ (decrease] in cath and cash equivalents 87,844,303 [24,332,447)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 lanuary 151,344,934 175,677,376

Cath and cath equivalents at 31 December EE] 239,189,237 151,344,934

Te nates 1 to 46 are an integral past of these consolidated Nnancal state ments
T indeaendent auditor’s report onaudit of consalidated financial statemaents s set out on pages 2 tod
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Legal status and principal activities

On 7 December 2016, Shareholders of National Bank of Abu Dhabd FISC ("NBAD"} and First Gulf Bank PISC ["FGB™)
approved the merger of the two banks purswant to Article 283(1) of UAE Federal Law Mo, 2 of 2015 Concerning
Commarcial Companies (thi Law], The merger was effected through the issuance of 1,254 new NBAD shares for every
1 share in FGB on close of business 30 March 2017, subsequant to which FGB shares ware dalisted from Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange. On 25 April 2017, NBAD shareholders approved the proposal to change the name of the combined
bank to ‘First Abu Dhabi Bank’ {the “Bank”) and have its regstered office in FAR Bullding, Khatifa Business Park 1 Al
Curum P. 0. Box 6316 Abu Dhabi, Linited Arab Emirates.

These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2020 comprises the Bank and its
subsidiaries {together referred to as the “Group™). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, retail, private and
imvestmant banking activities, management services, Islamic banking activities, real estate activities; and carries aut its
operations through its local and overseas branches, subsidiaries and representative affices located in the United Arab
Emirates, Bahrain, Brazil, Cayman Islands, China, Egypt, France, Hong Kong, India, Indonesis, Jordan’, Kingdom of Saudi
Arabla, Kuwalt, Lebanon, Libya, Oman, Qatar’, Singapore, South Korea, Sudan’, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and
the United 5tates of America.

The Group's Islamic banking activities are conducted in accordance with lslamic Sharia’a laws Bsued by the Internal
Shariah Supervision Committee (15507,

The Group s lsted on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: FAB).

The consolidated financlal statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020 are avallable upon
request fram the Group's registered office or at hittpe/howew Bankfab com

EUnder chodure.

The Bank has notified the Qatar Financial Centre Regulatory Authority (“OFCRA™) that it will relinquish its Qatar
Financial Centre {*QFC") branch license and permanently close its GFC branch,

"Under sale,

z Basis of Preparation

{a) Statement of Compliance
These consolidabed financial statements have been prepared on going concern basks in accordance with International
Fimancial Reporting Standards as issuved by the International Accounting Standards Board [“1AS87) and the requirements
of applicable laws in the LIAE,
On 1 April 2015, UAE Federal Law No 2 for Commercial Companies ("UAE Companies Law of 2015") was iswed with
effective date 1 Juby 2015, The Bank it in compliance with applicable sections of the UWAE Companies Law of 2015 as at
the date of these financial statements.
On 23 September 2018, a new Decratal Federal Law No 14 of 2018 regarding the Central Bank and Ovganization of
Financial institutions and Activities was issued. As per the transitional provisions of the new law, financial institutions
are to ensure compliance within 3 years from the date of Bssuance of the decretal Liw. The Bank is in the process of
adopting the new decretal federal liw and will be fully compliant befare the transitional provisions deadline,
These consolidated financial statements were authorised for lssue by the Board of Directors on 26 January 2021,

{b)  Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
agpregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general,
administration and ather operating expenses, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

z Basis of Preparation (continued)

(b)  Business combinations (continued)

In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of
assets and activities acquired includes, ata minimum, an input and substantive process and whethar the acquired set
has the ability to produce outputs. The Group has an option to apply 3 ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business, The optional concentration test i met
if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired & concentrated in a singhe ientifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accardance with the contractual terms, economic eircumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acqulisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in hast contracts by the acquiree.

If the business caombination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, It i then considered in the determination of
poodwill.

Any contingent consideratsan is measured at falr value at the date of acquisition. i an obligation to pay contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it & not remeasured and
sattlement is accounted for within aquity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each
reparting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss,

Goaodwill is initially meatured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabikties assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired ks in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred or
in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate corsideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in profit or loss,

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured At cost less any accumulated impairment losses For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 3 business combination is, from the scquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units (“0GLU") that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those wnits.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unik and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is incleded in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these crcumstances i measured based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

{c}  Basis of measurement

These consolidated fnancial statements are prepared under the historical cost basls except for the following material
items, which are measured on the following basis:

®  nwestments at falr value through profit or loss are measured at fair value;

= derivative financial instruments are measurad at fair value;

» debt and equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value;

®  |nwestment properties are measured at falr value;

*  recognised asste and liabilities designated as hedged items in qualifying hedge relationships are adjusted for
changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged: and

= non-fmancial assets acquired in settlemant of loans and advances are measured at the bower of their fair value
less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the lean and advances.

15

220/352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

FABT

Finat &b Dhabs Burk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

z Basis of Preparation (continued)

{d}  Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirkams (“AED™), which is the Group's
functional currency. Al amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousamd, unless otherwise indicated. items
included in the financial statements of each of the Bank’s overseas subsidiaries and branches are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which they operate,

{e]  Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
asumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reparted amounts of assets and liabilities, inoome

and expense. Actual results may differ from thase estimates,

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing bass. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised prospectivaly.

Infarmation about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies

that hawe the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated financial statements are
deseribed in note 42,

3 Significant accounting policies
{a) Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted

The following amendments to existing standards and framework have been applied by the Group in preparation of
these interim condensed consolidated financial statements. The adoption of the below did not result in changes to
previously reported net profit or equity of the Group.

Description Effective from
Definition of Materal = Amendment to 1A5 1 and 1AS & 1 lanuary 2020
Definition of a Business = Amendment to IFRS 3 1 lanuary 2020
Arnendment to References to Conseptial Framéwark in IFRS Standards 1 January 2020
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Amendmaents to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 1 Manuary 2020
Armendment to IFRS 16 regarding COVID -19 related concession 1 June 2020
Definition of a business:

Thee Group applied Definition of 3 Busines (Amendmaents to IFRS 3) to business combinations whose dates of acquisition
are on or after 1 January 2020 in assessing whether it had acquired a business or a group of assets, The amendmants
do not have a material effect on the Group's financial staterments because the Graup has not acquired any subskdlaries
during the year. Howewver, the Group has amended its accounting policies for acquisitions on ar after 1 January 2020,

interest Rate Benchmark Reform:

Interbank offered rates (*1BORs"), such as the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBORT), plays a critical role in global
financial markets, serving as reference rates for derivatives, loans and securities, and as parameters in the valuation of
financial instruments,

Uncermainty surrounding the integrity of 1BOR rabes has in recent years, led regulators, central banks and market
participants to work towards a transition to alternative misk-free benchmark reference rates ["RFRs”) and market-led
working groups in respective jurisdictions have recommended alternative risk-free reference rates, which are gradually
being adopted. Progress in the transition to these new benchmarks has resulted in significant urcertainty in the future
of IBOR benchmarks beyond 1 January 2022,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued
{a) MNew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted {continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (continued):

The majority of LIBOR and other Interbank Offer Rates [*IBORs™} are expected to be discontinued after 31 December
2021 and replaced with certain Alternative Refarence Rates [“ARRS™), with the exception of certain USD UBOR rates
wiere cessation may be delayed unti 30 June 2023, The transition away from the IBORS covers mast of the business
units and support functions of the Grawp,

FAB initiated its IBOR transition project in 2019, The Group has maintained its momentum in tracking its exposure to
IBORS, preparing its IT systems to accommodate the incoming Risk-Free Rates, amending or praparing contractual
templates and communicating its progress with both the Regulators and its clients.

|BOR reform exposes the Bank to various risks, which the praject is managing and monitering chosely, These risks include
but are not Emited to the follkvwing:

- Conduct risk arising fram discussions with clients and market counterpartios due to the amendmants. requined to
existing contracts necessary to effect IBOR reform;

- Financial risk to the Bank and its clients that markets are disrupted due to IBOR reform giving rise to finangal
losses;

®  Pricing risk from the potential lack of market information if liquiditg in 1BORs reduces and RFRs are illiquid and
unobservabie;

& Operational rsk arising fram changes to the Bank's IT systems and processes, also the risk of payments being
disrupted if an IBOR ceasas to be available; and

& Accounting risk if the Bank's hedging relationships fall and from unrepresentative income statement volatiity as
financial instrume nts transition to RFRs.

The project is spansored by the Group CFO and is being led by senior representatives from functions across the Bank
incleding thie client facing teams, Legal, Finanol, Operations and Technology. The project provides monthly progres
updates to the Project sponsars, During 2030, the Bank has successfully achigved the readiness to transition significant
portion of ks IBOR exposure to RFRs and has in place detalled plans, processes and procedures to support the transition
of the IBOR exposures prior to the Benchmark cessation. Following the progress made during 2020, the Bank is
confident that it has the aperational capability to process the large valume of transitions to RFRS that will be necessary
during 2021 for those interest rate benchmarks such as GBP LIBOR that will pease to be available and sowill be replaced
by Sterling Cvernight Index Average [“SONIA"). For other benchmark interest rates such as EURIBOR that have been
reformed and can therefore continue, financial instruments refarencing those rates will not need to transition,

Mon-derivative financlal assets and loan commitments

The alternative reference rate for sterling LIBOR is SONIA and for US deollar LIBOR is the Secured Gwernight Financing
Rate [“50FR"). Changes to the contractual terms of financial assets indexed to sterling LIBOR and US dolar LIBOR to
incorporate new benchmark rates are not yet complete as at 31 December 2020, Some of the investment securities
held by the Group's UK and U5 eperation are indexed to sterling LIBOR and U5 dallar LUBOR, Although sterling LIBOR
and US dollar LIBOR were planned to be discontinued by the end of 2021, consultations and possible regulatory changes
are in progress, This may mean that some LIBORs continue to be publshed beyond that date. In Novernber 2020, the
ICE Benchmark Adrministration (| BA”), the FCA-regulated and authorised administrator of LIBOR, announced that it had
started to consult on its Intention to cease the publication of certain USD LIBORs after June 2023 and other LIBORs after
December 2021. It is unclear whether GBP LIBOR or USD LIBOR will continue to be published after the end of 2021,
tharefore, the Group continues to communicate with counterparties to include a fallback clause ar replace those LIBORs
with SOMIA ar SOFR,

The Graup has 46t up a methodical framewark to moniter the progress of trandition from IBORS to new benchrmark
rates by reviewing its exposure and contracts on a monthly basks. The Group considers that a contract Is not yet
transitioned to an alternative benchmark rate when interest under the contract is indexed to a benchmark rate that is
still subject to IBOR reform, even if it includes a fallback clause that deals with the cessation of the existing IBOR
[referred to as an ‘unreformed contract’).

17

222/352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

FABT

Finat &b Dhabs Burk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued
{a]  Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted [continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform jcontinued):
Nan-derivative financial assets and loan commitments (continged)

The Group’s eross-functional IBOR Committee is managing the transitien to new benchmark rates [e.g. SOMIA, SOFR)
for affected financial liabilities. Through this Committes, the Group is actively engaging with counterparties to include
appropriate fallback provisians in its floating-rate subordinated liabilities with maturities after 2021 when U5 dollar
LIBQR and sterling LIBOR are expected to be replacad.

D rivartivies and hedge accounting

The Group holds dervatives for trading and risk management purposes, Derivatives held for risk management purposes
are designated in hedging relationships. The interest rate and cross-currency swaps have floating legs that are indexed
to various IBORs. The Group's derivative instruments are governed by 1504%s 2006 definitions,

ISDA has reviewed B85 definitions in light of IBOR reform and issued an IBOR fallbacks supplement on 23 October 2020,
This sets aut how the amendrments to new alternative benchmark rates (e.g. S0FR, SONLA} in the 2006 150& definithons
will be accomplished. The effect of the supplement is to create fallback provisions in derivatives that describe what
floating rates will apply on the permanent discontinuation of certain key IBORs or on ISDA declaring a non-
representative determination of an IBOR. The Group has adhered to the protocol to implement the fallbacks to
derativie contracts that were entered into before the effective date of the supplement. If derivative counterparties
albo adhere bo the protocol, then new fallbacks will be automatically implemented in existing derivativie contracts when
the supplement becames & effective on 25 January 2021 From that date, all new derhvatives that reference the ISDA
definitions will alsa include the fallbacks. Consequently, the Group i monitanng whether it counterparties will alsa
adhere to the protocol and, If there are counterparties that will not, then the Group plans to negotiate with them
bilaterally about incluskon of new fallback clauses.

Further, the Group evaluated the extent to which its fair value and cash flow hedging relationships are subject to
uncertainty driven by IBOR reform as at the reporting date. The Group's hedged iters and hedging instrumants
continue to be indexed to IBOR benchmark rates, which are mainky Sterling and US Dollar LIBOR, Theses IBOR
benchrmark rates are guoted each day and 1BOR cash flows are axchanged with its counterparties a5 usual.

The Grawup’s cash flow hedging relationships of sterling LIBOR and US dallar LIBOR risks extend beyond the anticspated
cessation dates for both LIBORs. The Group expects that sterding LIBOR and US dollar UBOR will be replaced by SONIA
and S0FR, respectively, but there is uncertainty over the timing and amount of the replacement rate cash flows. Such
uncertainty may impact the hedging relationship = e.g. its effectiveness assessment and highly probable assessment.
For the purposes of these astewuments, the Group assumes that the hedged benchmark interest rate, the cash fows of
the hedged item and/or the hedging instrument will not be altered a5 & result of IBOR reform.,

If a hedging relationship impacted by uncertainty about IBOR reform has not been highly effective throughout the
financial reporting period, then the Group evaleates whether the hedge s expected to be highly effective prospectively
and whether the effectiveness of the hedging relationship can be reliably measured, The hedging relationship will not
be discontinued as long as it meets all criteria for hedge accounting, with the exception of the requirement that the
hiedpe was actually highly effective,

Hedging relationships impacted by uncemainty about IBOR reform may experience ineffectiveness. attributable to
ruarket participants’ expectations of when the shift from the existing IBOR benchmark rate to an alternative benchmark

Interest rate will occur, This transition may occur at different times for the hedged item and the hedging instrument,
which may lead to hedge ineffectiveness.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued]
{a] MNew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted [continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (continued):

Thee Group's expodune bo US dollar LIBOR designated in hidge accounting relationships at 31 December 2030 represents
a norminal amount of AED 130,828 million. Exposure to EUR Euribor and GBP Libor represents a mominal amount of
AED 8,750 million and AED 5,799 milllon respectively. The objective of the majority of these hedges and consbtent with
thie overall interest rate risk management strategy of FAB is to reduce fluctuations of the fair value of bonds purchased
by FAB or its own issuances which pay a fixed rate and also reduce fluctuations from foreign exchange risk if these are
denaminated in another currency that = not AED ar SD.

When the uncertainty arising from |BOR reform no longer exists The Group will cease to apply the assumptions that the
hedged benchmark interest rate, the cash flows of the hedged itern and/for hedging Instrument will not be altered as a
result of IBOR reform when the uncertainty arising from 1BOR reform s no longer present. In addition, the Group will
amend the formal hedge documentation of that hedging relationship to reflect the changes required by IBOR reform
by the end of the reporting period during which the changes occur, When a fallback provision inserted in a hedging
instrument i triggered, the Group will alse amend the description of the hedging instrument in the farmal hedge
documentation by the reporting date. Thase changes in the formal hedpe documentation will not cause a
discantinuation of the hedging relatianship. The Group will also remeasure the cumulative changes in the hedged cash
flows and the hedging instrument based on new alternathve benchmark rates = Le. SOFR or SONIA — when the
wncertainty arising from IBOR reform s remawed. For the purpose of remeasuring the cumulative changes in the hedged
cash flows, the Group will amend the terms of the hypothetical derivative to reflect the changes required by IBOR
refarm in the hedged tem.

The table below shows the group's balance sheet exposure by currency as at 31st December 2020, Floating-rate
Instruments linked to LIBOR reference rate and ficed-rate instruments maturing within the next 3 months, are
considered as IBOR relevant for management reporting:

Currenciis Assits Liabifities Derivatives [Motional Amount)

{AED'DO0) {AED'DOD) {AEDDO0)
UsD 150,593,818 277,292,690 1,468, 464,243
GEP 15,261,875 50,328,224 211,295,071
EUR 12,077,765 26,335,566 54,285,171
56D 5,687,879 575,857 33,048,156
1Py 6,028,013 71,181 41,093,736
Othars 2,170,660 4,536,566 38,467,731
Total 231,820,010 359,244,084 1,845,664,108

|

(b}  Basis of consolidation
{i}  Subsidiaries

IFRS 10 gewerns the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single contral model that applies te all entities
Incleding special purpose entities or structured entities. The definition of control is such that an investor controls an
Investee when it 15 exposed to, of has rights, to varlable returns fram its inalvement swith the investes and has the
ability o affect those returns through it power over the investee. To meet the definition of controlin IFRS 10, all three
criteria must be met, including:

[a) theinvestor has power over an nvestes;
[b) the irvester has exposura to, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
(6] the irvestor has the ability to use its power over the investes to affect the amount of the investor's returns,

Subskdiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group. The Group contrals the investee if it meets the control criteria
set out above. The Group reassesses whether it has control If, there are changes to ane or mere of the elements of
control. This includes circurmnstances in which protective rights held become substantive and lead to the Group having
pawer awver an investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are induded in these consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commenees until thie datie that control ceades,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

(b)
(i}

Significant accounting policies [continued}

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (continwed)

FABT

Findt &b Dhabs Burk

Profit or loss and each component of other comgrehensive Income [OC1) are attributed to the equity holders of the
Bank and to the non-cantrolling interests (M), even if this results in the N having a deficit balance,

Thie consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and those of its following

subabdiaries;

Lagal Name

First A Dhabi Bank A NY,

FAB Securities LLC

Al Drhaidi Kationa’ Leasing LLE

Aou Dnall Nationa Propertics Pt ISC

FAB Private Bani {5amsae) 54

First Al Dhai Ivamic Finanor PISC

Al Dhadi Securities Brokerape Epypt®

Kational Ban’ of Aoy Dhay Malaywa Berhad®
MBAD [mpiayes Sqare Options Limited

45 10 Magellan?

Katig=nl Bank of Aby Dhaly Representagbes Lida
FABR Global Markets (Cayman) Limited

Mawal Management Semvices - One Man Company LLC
Bamak Propertes Co. LLC {Mismak)

Moora Propetics Co LLE [Sutmidiary of Mizmax)
First Merchant infernational LLE [FRI)

FAB Empioyment Servoes LLC {Subsidiary of FRAI)
FAB Resourcing Senvices LLC {Subsidiany of Fl)
FAR Sulak Company Lmied

First Gull Lityan Bank?
FGB Global Markets Cayman Umited
FAB Properties LLC

Asee! Firance PISC

Drubai First PISC

First Gull Information Technoogy LLC {FGIT)
FAB Imicstment K54 (sInge Sharchoider LLE)

FAB Globa' Business Senvices Limited (Subsidiary of FGIT)

Livwibed B daitiish.

Country of
incarpasation
Caracan

United Aral Emceates
United Aral Emeates
United Araty Eminates
Switzerfand

United Arab Emintes
Egyet

Pla‘arysia

United Araly Emirates
France

Brazil

Cayman fslands
United Aot Emeates
United Arab Eminstes
United Arab Eminates

United Arabr Emintes

Unitesd Airabr Emirates
United Arab Emimates
Caryman Islands
Liya

Caymean lands

United Arat Emimtes

Linibed Aral Emirates
United Aratr Dminrtles
United Aralr it

Kingdom of Saed’ Arabia

Inviia

Principal activities

Baniing
Brokerape

Lesnsimg

Praogerty Management
Banking

Is'arnic Finanoe
Brakerage

Bankirg

Shaes and Securities
Leriing
Representatve office
Financial Instituthon
Services

Rial estate
yEsbme s

Real estate
LT

Rezal estate

yERbmsEs
Resourcing servioes.

Aesourcing servioes
Spetial purpose
wehiche

Banking services
Financia' Institution

Management and
beodkerage of real
estate propeties
Is'anic Faasoe

Credit card finance
IT Services
Financa' Institution

IT Serdices

Holding %

Fivei]

LU
1003
1003
10
1%
1

S5
1003
10
10
100r%
10ir%
100,
1%

TS
i

100r%
100%
100

0%
100
10(r%

1000
100
100
10k
100

Thlthaugh she Bank cena L60s ol the cutytanding chares of Vst Gl Librgan Bank, the imeiment bas been classified oy o subsddlary a5 the Bank execcivem
woniired over thee Ineeesiee becrose It casts the majority of S vobes on the boand of duecton.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}

(b}  Basis of consolidation (continued)
1] Structured entities

A structured entity s established by the Group to perform a specific task. Structured entities are designed so that their
activithes are not governed by way of voting rights, In assessing whether the Group acts as a principal or has power over
imvestiees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the investee, its
practical ability to direct the relevant activithes of the investes; the nature of its relationship with the investee; and the
size af its expasure to the variability of retums of the investes.

The Group acts as fund manager to a number of investment funds. Determining whether the Group controls such an
Imvestment fund usually fecuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the Group in the fund. Whiltst
assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and circumstances to determine whether as a fund manager the Group &
acting as agent or principal. f deemed to be a principal, the Group contrals the fund and would consalidate them alse
as an agent the Group would account for them as investments in funds.

The Group's interest in investrent funds in which it act as an agent is st out below, thete funds are included as part
of investments.

Type of Structured Entity Nature and purpose Interest held by the Group

Investrmient Funds managing adsets  Generate fees from managing assets  Investments in units Bsoed by the fund
on behalf of third-party investors amounting to AED 4,293 thousand
{2019: AED 3,914 thousand]

{ilij  Joint Arangements and Investments in Associates

An Assoclate |s an investee over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence s the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint contral over those
palicies. Investment in associates is accounted under the egquity method of accounting,

A joint arrangement & an arrangement between the Group and other parties where the Group along with one or morne
parties his joint control by virtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangemant may be a joint operation ar a jaint
venture. A joint operation |s a point arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights ta and record their respective share of the assets, and abligations for the labilities, relating to the arrangement.

A joint venture i a joint arrangemant whereby the parties that have jaint control of the arrangement, have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement and, thus, are accounted under the eguity methed of accounting.

Under thi equity method, the investmaent inan asiociate & initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs,
Subsequent te inital recognition, the consolidated financial staternents include the Group's share of the profit or loss
and OCl of equity accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint contral ceases. Goodwill
relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the imvestment and is neither amartised nor individually
tested for impairment. The conselidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of
the astociates. Any change in ather comprehensive income of those investess is precented a5 part of the Group's other
camprehensive incoma. In addition, when there has bean a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in egquity.

The aggregate of the Growp's share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statemant
of income. The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When
necEssary, adjustmants are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}

(b)  Basis of consolidation [continued)
{il}  Joint Arrangements and Investrments in Associates (continued)

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether It ks necessary to recognise an impairment loss
on its investment in its associate, At each reporting date, the Group determines wheather there is objective evidence
that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group caloulates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then
recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of income.

{v]  Non-controlling interests

Mon-controlling Interests are measured inftiably at their proportionate share of the acquiree®s identifiable net assets at
tha date of acquisition.,

Chamges in the Group's interest in & subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

[} Loss of control

When the Group loses control owver a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-
contralling interests and the other components of equity related to the whsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the
load of contral is recognised in consolidated statement of profit of loss, If the Group retaind any interest in the former
subsidiary, then such interast |s measured at fair value when control is lost.

{vi]  Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Thie carrying amount of the Group's investrent in each subsidiary and the eguity of each subsidiary are #liminated an
consolidation. All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised income and expenses [except for foreign
currency traniaction gaing or losses) arising from intra-group transactions are elimnated on consalidation, Unrealised

losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the estent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

{c}  Financial assets and liabilities

{iy Recognition and initial measuremant
Thie Growp initially recognised baans and advances, depotits, debt securities issved and subordinated liabilities on the
date anwhich they are ariginated, All ather financial mstruments (@oduding regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the contractuwal
provisions of the Instrument.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settbement date, i.e, the date the asset is
dilivered bo or received fram the counterparty. Regular way purchates or sales of financial ausets are those that require
dilivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or corvention in the market place.

(I} Classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is dassified as measured at: amortised cost, Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income [“FWO0") or Fair Value through profit or loss {"FYTPL").
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{c}  Finmancial assets and liabilities (continued)
{il] Classification [continued)

A financial asset Is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and b not designated as at
FVTRL:

»  the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
a  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely Payment of
Principal and Interest (“SPPI7).

A debt instrument is measured at FYOC only if it meets bath of the following conditions and s not designared as at
FVTPL:

& the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and
& the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPL

On initzal recognition of an equity investment that ks not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value in 001, This election is made on an investment-by-investmeant basis.

All ather financial assets are dassified as measured at FYTPL.

In addition, an initial recognition, the Group may irrevacably designate a financial asset that otherwise meests the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FYOCI as FYTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise anlse.

Business model assessment

Tha: Groug makes an ddsessment of the objective of 3 business model in which an a5t is held at & portfalio bevel
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information ks provided to management. The
Information considered includes:

& the stated policies and objectives far the portfolio and the aperation of thase palicies in practice. In particular,
whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual inberest revenue, makntaining a particular interest
rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabikties that are funding those
assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
bt the performance of the portfalio is evaluated and reported to the Group's Management;
the risks that affect the perfermance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
madel) and its strategy for how thote ricks are managed;

=»  how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the
assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

= the frequency, volume and timing of sakes in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectatbons about
future sabes activity. However, information about salas activity is not considered in isclation, but as part of an
owerall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets Is achieved and how
risch cash flows are fealised.

Financial assets that are either held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis
are measured at FYTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assats.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{c}  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
{il] Classification [continued)
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and Interest [“5PFI")

For the purposes of ths assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financal asset on initial recognition,
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk assodiated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of tirme and far other basic lending risks and costs (eg. liquidity risk and
administrative conts), as well as profic margin,

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are 5PP|, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument.
This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount
of cantractual cash flowws such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessmeant, the Group considers:

contingent events that would change the amaunt and timing of cash flows;

»  leverage features;

= prepayment and extension terms;

®  terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of maney (e g periodical reset of interest rates).

The Growp holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Group has the option to propose to revise the
Interest rate at periedic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The
borrowers have an option to either accept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty, The Group has
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are 5P because the option varies the interest rate in a way
that i consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with the
principal amount outstanding.

Financlal Habilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at
amortised cost of faif value through prafit of loss.

{iii} Derecognition
Financlal assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire
[see abse 3[iv]], or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred of in which the Graup neither transders nar
rietaing substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain contral of the financial aset,

On derecognition of a financlal asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset [or the carrying amount
allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i} the consideration received (including any new
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (i) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in QCI s
recognised in profit or ko,

Any cumulative galn or loss recognised in OC1 in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOC is not
recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financlal assets that qualify
for derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability,

The Group enters into transactions wheraby it transfers assats recognised on its statement of financial position, but
retains sither all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases,

the transferred assets are not derscognised. Examples of such transactions ane securities kending and sale-and-
FEpl.II'ChES-E Transaciions,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued
{c]  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)]
{il}  Derecognition [continued)
Financlal assets [continued)

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total raturn swap on the transferred assets, the transaction is
accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and-repurchase transactions, because the Group retains
all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of such assets,

In transactions in which the Grou p neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
of a financial asset and it retains contral over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing Imvalvernent, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred
asnet.

In certain wansactons, the Group retains the obligation to service the trandferred financial asset for a fee. The
transferred asset i derecognised if it meets the derecognition eriteria. An aset of liability is recognised for the servicing
contract if the servicing fee ks more than adequate (asset) or ks less than adequate (Habikty) for performing the senvicing.

Financial Eabilitias

The Group derecognises i financial lability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
{W]  Madifications of financlal assets and financlal Nabiities

Financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified Fset
are substantially differant IF the cash flows ane substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from
the original financial asset are deemed to have expired, In this case, the original financial asset i derecognised and a
new financial asset Is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs, Any fees received as part of the
modification are accounted far as fallows:

®  fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of
eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measuremeant of the asset; and
& other fees are included in profit or loss a4 part of the gain or loss on derecognition,

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification ts usweally
to maximise recovery of the arlginal contractual termes rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different
terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first
considers whether a portion of the asset should be writtan off before the modification takes place. This approach
impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not uswally met in such
cases,

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOL! does not result in derecognition of the
financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the origmnal
effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a maodification gain o loss in profit or
lass, Far floating-rate financial assets, the ariginal effective interest rate used to calculate the madification gain or ks
s adjusted ta reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees rece ivabli
as part of thie modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the moadified financial asset and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified financial asset
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{c}  Finmancial assets and liabilities (continued)
{nv]  Modifications of financial assets and financial Habilities [continued)
Fimancial liabilitles

The Group derecagnises a financial ability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the madified liability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value, The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial Hability derecopnised and consideration paid is recognised in
profit or loss, Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of kabilities,
including the new modified financial Hability.

If the mod#fication of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecagnition, then the amortised cost of the liability |s
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss
ts recognised in profit or less, For floating-rate financial liabilities, the ariginal effective interest rate used to caloulate
the madification gain or loss s adjusted to reflect cufrent market terms at the time of the moadification. Any costs and
fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the lability and amortised over the remaining
term of the madified financial liability by re-compating the effective interest rate on the instrumant.

(] Cfsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the fet amount presented in the consalidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intend either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultanesushy.

Income and expenses are presented on 3 net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and bosses arising from
a group of similar transactions such as in the Group's trading activity.

{vi]  Fair value measurement

Fair waluee is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
betwesn market participants at the measurementdate in the principal, arin its absence, the mast advantageous market
to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a Eability reflects its non-performance risk, When one is
avafable, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument wsing the quoted price in an active market for that
instrument. & market i regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency
and wolume o provide pricing information on an on-going basis,

If there s no guoted price @0 an active market, then the Group uses the valuation technsques that maximize the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incarporates.
all the factors that market participants would take inte account in pricing & transaction, The best evidence of the fair
value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price = lLe. the fair value of the
consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and the fair valug is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asdet or
liability nor based aon a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is
Initially rheasured at fair value, adjusted o defer the difference between the fair value at initlal recognition and the
transaction price, Subsaquently, that difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or boss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when thevaluation is supported wholly by observabia
market data or the transaction is chosed out,

If an asset or & lability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets and lang
positions at a bid price and labdlites and short potitions at an ask price.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{c}  Finmancial assets and liabilities (continued)
{vi]  Fair value measurement [continued)

Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabalities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by
the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk, are measured on the basis of a price that
would be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfier a net short position for a particular risk exposure,
Portfolio-level adjustments — e.g. bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that reflect the measuremeant on the
basis of the net exposure —are allocated tothe individual assets and labilities on the basis of the relative rsk adjustment
of each of the individual instruments in the portfalio.

The falr value of investments in mutual funds, private equity funds or similar investment vehicles are based on the last
net asset value published by the fund manager. For other investments, a reasonable estimate of the far value &
determined by réference to the price of recent market transactions invahdng similar investments, are based on the
expected discounted cash flows,

The fair value of a demand deposit is not lews than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on
which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognizes transfers between lavels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period during
which the change has accurred,

{vii}]  Impairment

The Bank recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (ECL) an the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FYTPL:

®  balances with central banks;
= due from banks and financial institutions;
®  reverse repurchase agreements;
= financial assets that are debt instruments;
& |oans and sdvances;

loan commitments issued; and
= financial puarantee contracts ssued.

MNa impairment loss is recognised on equity investments,

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are
measured a5 12-maonth ECL:

= debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
= other financial instrurnents on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition (see
MNove 43(a).

The Group considers the above financial instruments to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating ts equivalent to
thi gabally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
oFigination:

& Stage 1 —Whene there has not been a significant increase in credit risk [SICR) since initial recognition of a financial
instrument, an amount equal to 12 manths expected eredit lods & recorded. The expected cradit loas is computed
using a probability of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those instruments with a remamning maturity
of less than 12 months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term to maturity is used.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

{c}

i}

Significant accounting policies [continued

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Impakrenernt (continusadl

= Stage 2 - When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to ba
impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the probability
of default over the remaining etimated life of the financial inatrument.

= Stage 3 — Financial instruments that are considered to be mpaired are included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2,
the allowance for credit [osses captures the lifetime expected cradit losaes.

Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:

= Prabability af default {"PD);
= Loss given default |“LGD");
=  Exposure at default ["EAD")

Thise parameters are generally derivied fram statistical models and ather historical data. They ane adjusted to reflect
farward-looking infarmation. Additionally, the Group has elaborate review process to adjust ECL for factors not
available in the model.

Detalls of these statistical parameters/inputs are as follows:

&  PD=The probability of default is an estimate of the lkelihood of default over a given time horizon.

= EAD-The exposure at default i an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected
changes in the exposure after the re porting date.

= LGD = The loss given default i an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a ghoan time. |t
is based on the difference betwean the contractual cash flows due and those that the ender would expect to
receive, induding from the realization of ary collateral. It is vswally expresied as a peroentage of the EAD.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

= financial assets that are not credit-impaired a2 the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shartfalls ie.
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to rece ve;

= financial assetsthat are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference betwean the gross carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

= pndrawn loan commitments: as the presant value of the difference batwaen the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group if the commitment i drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to recene; and

» financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reknburse the holder less any amounts that the Group
expects o recover,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{c}  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
{vil)  Impakrement (continuea)
Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one
due to financial difficulties of the barrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows.

= |fthe expected restructuring will not resulk in derecognition of the existing assat, then the expected cash flows
arising from the modified financial asset are included in cakculating the cash shortfalks from the existing asset, if
the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair valee of the
mew adaet i treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.

&« This amount is includied in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial aset that ane discounted from
the expiected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the ariginal effecthve interest rate of the existing
financial asset.

Credit-impalred financlal assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financlal assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets
carrind at FWVOCI, and finance bease receivablos ane cradit-impaired (reforced to as "Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial
asset is ‘credit-impaired” when one or mare events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated futune cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is eredit-impaired includes the fallowing observable

data:

& sipnificant financial difficulty of the borrower or Bsuer;

= abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

= the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider athenwise;
#  |tis becomning probable that the borrower will enter bankruptoy or other financial reorganisation; or

= the disappearance of an active market fior & secutity because of financial difficulties.

Purchased or Originally Credit Impaired {"POCI") financial assets

POC financlal assets are assets that are credit-impaired on indtial recognition. For POCI assets, lifetime ECL are
Incorporated on initial recognitien.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statément of financial position

Loss allowances far ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

& |gan commitments and financial puarantes contracts: generally, as a provision; and
debt instruments measured at FVDO: no loss allewanee is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position because the carrging amount of these assets is their fair value, However, the loss allowance is dischosed
and is recognised in the fair value reserve.

Write-off
Financial assats are written off |either partially or in full) when there 5 no reasonable expectation of recovering a
financial asset in s entirety or a portion thereal, This is penerally the case when the Group determines that the

barrawer dods nat hive assets of sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flaws to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the Individual asset level
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{d}  Fimancial assets and liabilities jcontinued)

{viil) Impakreent (continuead)
Write-off (continued)
Recoveries of amounts praviously written off are included in ‘net impairment charge’ in the statement of profit or loss.
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enfercement activities in order to comply with the Group's
procedures for recovery of armounts due.
Central Bank of UAE ["CBUAEL") provision requirements
As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2015/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the specific provision and
peneral/collective provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the
differential should be transfarred to an “Impairment Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained eamings. This

impairment reserve should be split to that which relates 1o difference in specific provision and generalfcollective
prowision. The Impairment reserve will not be available far payment of dividend.

{d}  Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, unrestricted
balances with central banks and due from banks and financial institutions with ariginal maturities of less than three
manths, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are wsed by the Group in the management
of its shert-term commitmants

Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financial assets stated at amortised cost in the consolidated statement af
financial position,

(e}  Due from banks and financial institutions
These are non-derivative financlal assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment.

{fl  Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Thesa are securitkes that the Group acguire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term ar holding as a part
of portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking, These assets are initially recognised and
subsequantly measured at fair valee in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are
recognised as part of prafit ar loss.

{g] Reverse repurchase agreements
Assets purchased with a simultaneous commitment to ressll at a fiked price on a specifed future date are not
recognised. The amount paid to the counterparty und er these agreements |s shown as reverse repurchase agreements
in the consolidated statement of financlal position, The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as
interest income and accrued over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit of loss using the effective interest rate method.

(h)  Loans and advances
‘Levans and advances’ captiond in the tatement of financial position include:
L laans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct

transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method; and
®  finance lease receivables,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{h) Loans and advances (continied)]

Loans and adwances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market and that the Group does nat intend bo sell immediately or in the near tem.

‘When the Group is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantally all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the asset to the lesses, the acrangement is classified as a finance lease and a receivable equal to the net
invastment in the lease is recognised and presented within loans and advances,

In determining whether an arrangement i a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement and assesses
whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent an the use of a specific asset or asswets and whether the
arrangement conveys a right to use the assets,

Thede are derecagnised when either the borrower repays its obligations or the loan are sold or written-off,
{i}  kslamicfinancing and investing contracts

The Group engages in Sharia'a comgliant Islamic banking activities through various Blamic instruments such as ljara,
Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala.

{iy Definitlons
Ijara
ljara consists of [jara muntahia bitamleek.

ljara financing ks an agreement whereby the Group (lessor) leases or constructs an asset based on the customer's
[lessee) request and promise to lease the assets for a specific period against certain rent instalments. ljara could end in
transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease period. Also, the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset to the lesses, ljara income is
recognised an an effective profit rate basis over the lease term.

Murabaha

Asale contract whereby the Growp sells to a customer commaodities and other assets at an agreed upon profit mark up
on ¢ost, The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the item purchased
according to specific terms and conditions, Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the
transaction. Such income B recognited A% it accrues over the period of the contract on effective prafit rate method on
the balance autstanding.

Mudaraba

A contract betwean the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal) and the other party
[the Mudarib) invests the funds in a project of 4 particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between
the parties according to the profit shares that were pre-agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case
of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba, otherwise, |osses are borne by
the Rab Al Mal. Income is recognised based on expected results adjusted for actual results on distribution by the
Mudarilb, whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group's consolidated income statement
when incurred,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{1 Islamic financing and investing contracts {continued)

{i) Definitlons [contmued)
‘Wakala
An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal} provides a certain sum of money to
an agent (Wakil), whao invests it according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (a lump sum of money or a
percentage of the amount invested). The agent is obliped to guarantes the invested amount in case of default,
negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala, The Group may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal

depending on the nature of the transaction.

Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on the effective profit rate basis over the period, adjusted by actuwal
income when récaied, Losses are accounted for when incurred,

{ii] Revenue recognithon
ljara

Incame from |jara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectability.

Murabaha

Income from Murabaha is recognised an a dechining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard
to its collectability,

Mudaraba

Income of losues on Mudaraba financing are recognized on an accrual basis if thiny can be reliably estimated. Otherwise,
Income is recognised on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss on their declarathan by the Mudarib.

‘Wakala

Estimatind income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis owver the period, adjusted by actual income when
recebved. Losses are accounted far on the date of declaration by the agent

(i} MNon-trading investments
The ‘non-trading investrments’ caption in the statement of financial position Includes:
»  debt investrnent securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental
direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method;
= diebt securities measured at FyOC;
equity Inwestment securities designated as at FVOCI: and

- Investment in associate and Jodnt venture

For debt securities measured at PYOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OC|, except for the following, which are
recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost:

interest revenue using the effective interest method;
&  ECL and reversals; and
fareign exchange gains and losses.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{}  Mon-trading investments (cantinued)

When debt security measured at FVOC! & derecognised, the cumulative gain of loss previously recognised in OC i
reclassified frorm equity vo profit or loss,

The Group elects to present in OC changes in the fair value of certain investrnents in equity instruments that are not
held for trading. The election is made on &n instrement-by-instrument bass on initial recognition and & imevocable,
Fair value gains and losses on such equity instruments aré never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is
recognised in prafit of loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investrmernt, in which case they are recognised in OCL Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OCI are
transferred vo retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

(k)  Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
Inwestment properties are stated at fair value which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date, Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair values of investrent properties are induded in the consolidated incomse
statement under ‘other income’ in the year in which they arise.
Inwestment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal, Any gains or losses on
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year
of retirement or disposal,

in Property and equipment

i) Recognition and miasurement
All items of property and equipment are measwred at cost less accumulated depreciation and impatrment losses, if any,
Capital projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regularly tested for impaisment and upon completion are
transferred to the appropriate category of property and equipment and thereafter depreciated.

Cost indudes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquistion of the asset, Purchased softwane that is
Integral to the functionality of the related equipment s capitaliced as part of that equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an Rem of property and equipmant are determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within other operating income in
thie consolidated statement of profit of lass,

Subsequent expenditures are only capitalised when i it probable that the future economic benefits of such
expenditures will flow to the Group. On-going expenses are charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss as
Incurred.

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as
saparate items (major components) of property and equipment

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of praperty and equipment & recognised within other income n profitar bass.
{l]  Depreciatlon

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of all property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated.

33

238/352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

FABT

Findt Al Dbabs Burk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued

i Property and equipment [continued)
(i) Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Buildings and villas 2000 50 years
Office furniture and equipment Sto 10 years
Fit-out leased premises 3-10 years
Safes 10 years
Computer systems and equipment 3o T years
\ehicles 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful Bves and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date.
{iii}  Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss, Cost includes all direct cost attributable to design
and construction of the property capitalised in accordance with Group's accounting palicy. When the assats are ready
for the intended use, the capital work in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and eguipment category
and is depreciated in accordance with the Graup's policies.

{M Impalrment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets [other than investment
properties and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
eaists, then the aset’s recoverable amount is estimated, Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows fram
contmuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Goodwil arising from a business
combination is allocated to OGUs or group of CGUs that are expected benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The ‘recoverable amount” of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell, Value
inuse’ it based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time wiloe of money and the risk specific to the asset or CGL.

An impairment loss |s recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

The Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by mare than one CGU, Corporate
assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of
thie CGUS to which the corporate assats are allocated,

Impairment losses are recognised im profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the careying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of any other assets in the CGU on a prorate basis.

An irmpairment boss in respect of goodwill s not rewersed. For ather assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment less had bean recognised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}

{m) Intangible assets

Goodwill arses an the acguisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
contralling interest in the acquiree and the scquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquires
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-contredling
Interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in case of a basgain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income staterment.

For the purpose of impalirment testing, goodwill and license acquired in a business combination 15 allaecated to each of
the CGUs, or groups of CGUS, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units 1o which the goodwill is allocated represents the kowest level within the entity a0 which the goodwill & manitoned
far internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill and license impairment réviews are undertaken annually or more frequently # évents or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment, The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amaunt, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of dispesal. Any irmpairment is
recognised immediately a5 an expende and is not subsequently reversed,

The Group’s intangible assets other than goodwill include intangible assets arsing out of business combinations. The
cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is thair fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible
assets acquired saparately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following inkial recognition, intangibhe assets
are carried At cost less any accumulated amartisation and sccumulated impaiemeant loses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful e canomic life and assessed for impalment whenever there is an indication that the intangibie
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at the end of each reposting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
af comumption of future sconamic benefits embodied in the asset are considerad to modify the amartication period
or method, a5 appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lves is recognised in the consolidated incame statement.

The estimated useful lives of the Intangible assets for the calculation of amortisation are as follows:

Customer relationships 7.5 =15 years
Core deposits 2.5 years — 15 years
Brand 20 years

(n}  Collateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlernent of certain loans and advances and are
recorded as assets held for sale and reported in “Other assets”. The asset acquired s recorded at the lower of its fair
wirlue less costs vo sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No
dapreciation it provided in respect of auets held for sale, Any subsequent wiite-deown of the scquired asset to fair
value less costs to sell is recorded as an impalrment loss and included in the consolidated statement of profit or hoss,
Any subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sall, to the extent this does not exceed the curmulative impalrment
loss, ts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or kess. The Group's collateral disposal policy is in line with
the respectie regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Group operates.

{o}  Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other depasits and Commercial Paper
Duwe to banks and financial institutions, customer deposits and Commercial Paper are financial liabilities and are initially

recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{p}  Repurchase agresments

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a ficed price on a specified future date are not
derecognised. The liability to the counterparty for amounts received under these agreements is shown as repurchase
Agreements in the consolidated statement of financial position, The difference betweren sake and repurchase price is
trisatied a5 interest expense and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss using the effective intenest rate method,

(g}  Term borrowings and subsrdinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be corverted into share cap®tal at the
option of the holder, where the number of shares issued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for
as campound financial instruments. The equity component of the convertible notes is calculated as the excess of issue
procéeds over the presentvalueof the future interest and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of intérest
applicable to semilar lEabilities that do not have a convrsion aption,

Term borrowing which are designated at FYTPL, the amount of change in the fair valee of the Rability that i attributable
to changes inits credit risk s presented in OC!as a liabilRy credit reserve. Oninitial recognition of the financial labiliy,
the Group assesses whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the lability that ks attributable to
credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or boss. This assessment is made by wsing a
regrassion analysts to compare:

»  the expected changes inthe fair valee of the llability related to changes in the credit risk; and
®  the impact on profic or loss of expected changes in falr value of the related instruments.

Amounts presented in the liability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss, When these
instruments are derecognised, the related cumulative amount in the lability credit resenve is transferred to retained
earnings.

Term barrowings and subardinated notes without conversion option and that are at fair value through profit ar loss
are financial Rabélicies which are inftially recognised at thelr fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value
changes for the risks being hedpged.

{r}  Treasury shares

Chwin eguity nstrurments which are acquired (treasury shares) are deducted from the equity and accounted for at
weighted average cost. No gain or loss |s recognised in the consolidated income staterment on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancelation of the Bank's own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the
consideration, if resssued, ks recognised in share premium. if treasury shares are distributed as part of a bonus share
tsswe, the cost of the shares is charged against retained earnings. Voting rights relating to treasury shares are nullified
for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

(s)  Fiduclary assets

Assets held intrust ar in a fidsciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in
these consolidated financial statements.

{t}  Share based payment

On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a
carresponding increase in equity, over the period required for the staff to become unconditionally entitled to the
options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options far which the related
service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount ultimately recognised as an expanse is based on the
number of share options that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions ak the vesting date.
Thise dhaves may contribute ta th calculation of dilutive EPS ance they are deamad ai potintial ardinary shares.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{u}  Interestincome and expense
Effective Interest rate

Interist incorme and expanse are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interast mithod. The *effiective mterest
rate’ i the rate that exactly decounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected Bfe of the
financial instrument to:

= the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

»  the amortised cost of the financial habslity.

‘When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument,
bt not ECL.

The calculation of the effective intenest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or reckived that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction cests include incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the acguisition or ksue of a financlal asset ar financlal liability.

Amertlsed cost and gross carrying amount

That “amartised cost” of a financial asset or financial liability i the amount at which the financial asset of financial Hability
s measured on initial recegnition minus the principal repayrments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amaunt and the maturity amount and, for financial
assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The ‘gross carrying amount of a finandial asset’ is the amortised cost of 3 financial asset before adjusting for any
expirctied cradit loss allowance,

Caleulation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is caboulated on initial recognition of a financial asset
or a financial Fability, In calculating mterest incoms and expense, thi effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carnging amount of the asset [when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability, The
effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments w reflect
mavements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at
the date amartisation of the hedge adjustrment begins,

For infosmation on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 3(c){vii}.
Presentation

Interesr income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or koss and OQ1
Inchudes:

interest on financial assets and financial Eabilities measured at amortised cost;

®  interest on debt instruments measured at PYOCH;

»  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variabdity in interest cash flows, in the same period as the hedged cash flows affect interest incomefexpense; and

»  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
Interest rate risk,

®  pEgative interest on financial liabikties measured at amortised cost.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{u}  Interest income and expense [cantinwed)
Presentation [continued)
Interest expensa presented in the statement of profit or loss and OC! includes:

®  financial Babilities measured ot amortised cost; and
the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flovws, in the Lame period as the hedgid cash flows affect interest income/expense.

= the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedpes of
Interest rate risk,
negative interest on financial assets measured at amortsed cost,

& |nderest expense on bease labilithes,

Interest income and expense on financlal assets and financial liabilities at FYTPL are presented as In interest income or
interest expense from financial instruments at FYTPL

(v}  Income from Islamic financing activities
ljara income is recognised an a time-propartion basis owver the lease term,

Murabaha income is recognised on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the principal
amounts autstanding. Mudaraba income is recognised bated on expected resules adjusted for actual results on
distribution by the Mudarib, whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group’s consolidated
Income statemant when incurred.

{w] Depositors” share of profit

Depositars’ share of profit is amount accrued as expense on the funds acoepted from banks and customers in the form
of wakala and mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or boss. The
amounts are calculated in accordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia®a principles.

{x)  Fee and commission income and expense

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services provided to its customers. The basis of
accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly
the revenwe s recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fee and commission income s accounted for as
fallowars:

= ncome earmed from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are providad;
Incame earned on the execution of a senificant act s recognised as revenve when the act i completed;

& income which farms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument & recognied as an
adjustrment to the effective interest rate and recorded in “Intenest income”,

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Growp's consolidated financial
statemants may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15, If this is the case, then the Group
first applies IFRS 9 to separabe and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 3 and then applies IFRS
15 to the rewdual,

Fe# and commisdion sxpense relates mainly to transsction and sendce fees which are sxpensed as the sendices are
received.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{x) Feeand commission income and expense (continwed)]

Customer loyalty programme

The Group operates loyalty programs, which albow customers to accumulate points when they usa the Bank's products
and services that can then be redeamed for free or discounted products or services, subject to certain conditions. The
loyalty programs give rise to separate performance obligations under the separate schemes, The fair value of Bsued
points is generally estimated based on equivalent standalone prices for the mix of awards expected and & recognized
im other liabilities untll the points get redeemed or lapsed. Management judgment is involved in determining the
redemption rate to be used in the estimate of points to be redeemed as evidenced by the Group's historical experience.

{y] Zakat

Zakat s only paid on behalf of sharehalders in jurisdictions where zakat payment s made mandatory by the regulations
of the jurisdictions. Such payment is made in accordance with the regulations of the jurisdictions.

{z]  Metgainfloss on investments and dervatives

Mat gainon imeestmants and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments at fair value
through profit or koss and deriatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading ireestrnents and dividend income, Net
Bain on investrent at fair value through profit of loss includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities designated at fair value.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of FVOLI assets are recognised in the statement of other
comprehensive income and récarded in fair value resarve with the exception of ECL, interest calculated using the
effective interest rate method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of predit or loss, Where the invistmant is sold or realised, the cumubtive gain or loss
previously recognised in equity under fair value reserve is reclassified to the consolidated statement of prafit or loss in
case of debt instruments.

Mon-trading investment includes FYOC! and amortised cost mstruments.

That Group alzo halds investmaents in assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Group discloses nterest
paid on these assets in the line where its economic substance of transaction is reflected (note 27).

Amartised cost investments, which are not closa to their maturity are not ordinarily sold. However when they are sold
or realised, the gain or loss Is recognised in the conselidated statement of profit or boss.

Dividend ingome i recognised when the right to receive payment is established,
{ma) Foreign currency
{i} Forelgn currency transacthons

Transactons in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group entities at spot
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. The
fareign currency gain or loss on manetary items is the difference batween amortised cost in the functional currency at
the beginning af the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the peried, and the amartised cost in
foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the periad.

Non-monetary disets and kabilivies that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are trandated into the
functicnal currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. Nen-monetary assets

and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cast in a forelgn currency are translated using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued}
{2a) Foreign currency (continued)
{i} Farelgn currency transactions [con tinued)

Foraign currency diffenences arising on transaction are genarally recognied in profit or loss, Howaver, foreign currency

differences arising from the transaction arising fram the translation of the following itern are recognised in OC1.

= awailable for sale equity instruments [ PYOC) aquity instruments

= afinancial lability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge
is affective

& gualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedpe B effective.

{il]) Forelgn operations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the VAE are not deemed an integral part of the head office
operations, as they are financially and operationally independent of the head office. The awets and labdities of the
foreign operations are translated into WAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting date. The mnoomd and expense
of foreign aperations are translated at average rates, as appropriate. Exchange differences {including those on
transactions which hedge such investrnents) arising frem retranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to
fareign currency translation adjustment account in other comprefensive income,

Whan a foreign operation it dispoded of such that control & lost, the cumulative amount in the Dranslation resene
related to the foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal, If the Group
disposes of onby part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the
relevant propartion of the cumulative amount |s reattributed te NCL

If the settlement of a monetary receivable from or payable to a foreign operation i neither planned nor kkely in the
foresesable future, then foreign currency differences arising on the iterm form part of thee net inwestmant in the fonrign
operation and recognised in OC), and accumulated in the translation reservir in the equity,

{ab] Owerseas income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax It ks recognised in profit or loss except to the extent it
relates to items recognised directly ineguity or OCL

Current tax is provided for in accordance with fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which the Group operates
and is recognised in the consalidated statement of profit or bose, Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted of substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment Lo tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carmyng amounts of assets and liabilities
far financial reporting purposes and the amouwnts used for taxation purposes, Deferred tax is not recognised for the
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a
trangaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or kss, and
differences relating to irmaestments in subdidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreuseable
future. Deferred taxis measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset |s realised or
the liabikty is settled, based on laws that have been enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probabbe that sufficient taxable profit will be aailable to allow for all ar
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised,

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group
eapects, at the repomting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}

{ab) Overseas income tax expense (continued)

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group conskders the impact of tax exposures, including
whether additional taxes and interest maybe doe. This assessment relies on estimates and assurnptions and may invalve
a series of jedperments about future events. New infarmation may become available that causes the Group to change
Its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax Babdlities; such changes to tax liabilities would impact tax expense
in the period in which such a determination is made.

{ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Diprivatives are initially recognised, and subsequintly measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to the
consolidated statemant of profit or less, The fair value of a derivative ks the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss
fram marking ta market the derivative or using valuation techniques, mainly discounted cash flow models.

The method of recognising the resufting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held for trading,
or is designated as a hedging instrument and, if 5o, the natune of the risk being hedged, All gains and losses from changes
in fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When
darivatives are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either: (i} fair value hedges which hedge the exposure
to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (1) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a partioular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability ar a highly
probable forecast transaction; (i} hedge of net investment which are accounted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hadge
accounting s applied to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria
are mat,

Embedded derhathes

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for an

embedded derivative separately from the host contract when:

- the host contract is net an asdet in the icope of IFRS 9;

= the host contract is not itself carried at FVTPL;

» the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative i they were contained in a
separate contract; and

= the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract.

Separated ermbedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in proft of ks
unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or netinvestmeant hedging relaticnship, Separated embedded derivatives
are presented in the statement of financial position together with the host contract.

Hedge accounting

It is the Group®s palicy o document, at the nception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging irstrurments and
hiedged iterms, as well as risk managerment objective and strategy. The policy also requires documentation of the
assessment, at inception and on an on-gaing basls, of the effectiveness of the hedge.

The Growp makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an cn-geing basis, as to
whether the hedging instrument{s) is (are) expacted to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or
cash fows of the respective hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is designated, The Group makes an
assenament for & cash flow hedge of 4 forecast ansaction, &% to whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable
o acour and presents an exposure to varlations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued}

{ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continged)
Fair value hedge

‘When a derivative is designated as the hedging Instrument in a hedige of the change In fair value of a recognised asset
or liabikty or a firm commitment that could affect profit or koss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognised
immediately in prodit or boss, The change in fair value of the hedged itern attributable to the hedged risk is recognised
in profitor loss. If the hedgped iterm would otherwise be measurad at oost or amartised cost, then its carmying amount is
adjusted accordingly.

If the hedging derivative expires or i5 ok, terminated or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criveria for falr
value hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.
Henwever, if the derivative is novabed to a clearing counterparty ("CCP) by both parties as a consequence of laws or
regulations without changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the novation, than the derivative i not
considered expired or terminated,

Any adjustrment up to the point of discontinuation to a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is
amortised to profit or loss as an adjustment to the recaloulated effective inberest rate of the item awver its remaining
lifie,

On hedge discontinuation, any hedging adjustment made previously to a bedged financial instrument fior which the
effective interest method B used IS amontised to profit or loss by adjusting the affecthve interest rate of the hedged
itern frorm the date on which amartization begins. If the hedged item is derecognised, then the adjustrient is recogn ied
immediately in profit or loss when the item s derecognised.

Cash flow hedge

Whisn a dierivativie i4 designated a5 the hedging instrument in a hidge of the variability in cash flow atributable o a
particular risk associated with a recognised assets or Habdity that could affect profit or boss, the effective portion of
changis in thi faie value of the derivativies i recognised in OC1and presentid in the hedging resens within aquity, Any
Ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the dervative is recognised immediately in the profit or loss. The
amount recognised in OC & reclassified o profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period as the
hadged cash flows which affect profit or loss and in the same line in the statement of profit or loss and OCI,

Ifthee hiedging derivative expires is sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge, no longer meets thie criveria for cash flow
hirdge accounting the hedge accounting is discounted prospictively. Howaver if the derivative is novated to a central
counterparty by both parties as a consequence of laws or regulations withaut changes in its terms except for those that
are npecessary for the novation, then the derivative |5 not considered as expired ar terminated. If the hedged cash flows
are no lenger expected to occur, then the Group immediately reclassifies the amaunt in the hedging reserve fram OCI
to profit or loss. For terminated hedging relationships, if the hedged cash flows are still expected to occur, then the
amount accumulated in the hedging reserve is not reclassified until the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss; if the
hrdged cash flows are expected to affect profit or lass in multiple reporting periods, then the Group reclassifies the
armount in the hedging reserve from OC! to profit of loss on a stradght-line basis,

Met investments hedges

‘When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financlal liability ks designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge
of a net investment in a forelgn operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging
instrumant is recognisad in other comprehensive income in the translation reserve, The effective portion of the change
in fair valua of the hedging instrument is computed with reference to the functional currency of the parent entity
against whose functional currency the hedped risk is measured. Any ineffective portion of the changes inthe fair value
af the derivative of foreign exchange gaind and losted on the non-derivative B recognitad immediately in the
consolidated staternent of profit or loss. The amount recognised under other comprehensive income is fully or partially
reclassified to staterment of profit of loss on disposal of the forelgn operation or partial disposal of the forelgn operation,
respectively,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
Other derivatives

Other non-trading derivatives are recognised on balance sheet at fair value. If a derivative s not held for trading, and
ts not designated in a qualifying hedging relationship, then all changes in its fair value are recognised immediateby in
profit or lass a5 a component of net gain on imvestments and derivatives ar net foreign exchange gain,

{ad) Provisions

A pravision is recognised if, 2% a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
b eestimated reliably, and it is probable that an cutflow of econamic benefits will be required to settie the obligation,
Where the effect of tirme value of maney Is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows, at a pre-tax rate, that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

{#e) Employees” end of service benefit

The Group provides end of senice benefits for its employees, The entitlement to these benefits is bated wpon the
employees” length of service and completion of & minimum service period, The expected coits of these benefits are
accrued over the period of employrment.

With respect to its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant povernment pension
scheme calculabed as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group's obligations are limited to these
contributions, which are expensed when due.

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity or to a government organisation and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit
iapiendd in cansakdatid statement of profit of lods in the petiods during which senicis aré rendired by employees.

Penston and natlonal insurance contributions for eligible ermplayees are made by the Group to Pensions and Benefits
Fund in accordance with the applicable laws of country where such cantributions are made.

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is 4 post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Bability
recognisad in the statement of financial poasitian in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans i the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting persod together with adjustments for unrecognised past-senvice
costs, The defined benefit obligation is caleulated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of high-guality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benarfits will bie paid, and thag have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation,

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit llabilivy, which comprise actwarial gains and losses, the return on plan
assets (excluding interast) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in
GCI. Met interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in Staff cost in
consolidated statement of profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtalled, the
resulting change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately to
profit or loss, The Group recognises gains and lodses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement
oCurs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued}

{af) Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant to Article 169 of the UAE Companies of 2005 and in accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association,
Directors’ shall be entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 106 of the net profits after deducting depreciation
and reserves,

(ag) Fidudary activities

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group as they are only held in trust where the Group
acts as a custodian on customers’ behalf, The Group has no liability or obligations towards the customer on thesa assets
held in trust. Accordingly, theese assets are not included in these consolidated financial statements,

{ah) Earnings per share

The Group presents badic and diluted earnings per share [EPS) data for its ordinary thares. Basic EPS i ealeulated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ardinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted awerage number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or less attributable ta
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares gutstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ardinary shares, which comprise of convertibhe notes and share options granted to staff,

(ai) Segment reporting

An operating segement is a component of the Group that engages in business activities frarm which it may earn revenues
and incur expendes, including revenues and expendes that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group's Chief Executive, being
the chief operating decisian maker, to make deckions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its
parfarmance for which discrate financial information is availabla, Segment results that ane reported to the Group Chief
Executive include items directly attnbutable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis,

fail  Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, of contains, a
lease if the contract comweys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to contral the use of an identified asset, the Group wses
the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

(i Group acting as a lestee

A commencement of on modification of & contract that contains a lease compaonent, the Group allocates consideration
in the contract to sach lease companent on the basis of its relative standalone price. However, for leases of branches
and office premises the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the lease and non-
lease companents as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a ight-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencemant date. The right-of-use asset
i initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease Hability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remawve any improvements made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is sulbsequently depreciabed using the straight-line method from the commencemant date to the
end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted far certain remeasurements of the lease labilicg.

The kease Habllity Is initlally measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not pald at the
commencermnent date, discounted using the interest rate implict in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group's intremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the
discount rate,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued]

{al] Leases [continued)
{i) Group acting as & lessee [continued)

The Group determines its ncremental borrowing rate by analysing its bomowings from various external sources and
makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the leasa and type of asset leased.

Lease payments incleded in the measurement of the lease liabilty comprise the following:

= fixed paymeants, incleding in-substance fived payments;

»  variable lease payments that depend on an index of a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;
amounts expected to b payable under a residual value guarantes; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Grouwp is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an
aptional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extansion option, and penalties for early
termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate earky,

Thie lease Habiliy & measured st amortized cost using the effecthve interest method, It is remeasured when there B a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there i a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease lability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-af-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
o,

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment” and lease liabilities in ‘other labilities’ in the
statement of financial position,

Shart-term leases and leases of low-valee aidets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of -use assets and lease Habilities far leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases, including Beases of IT equipment. The Group recognizes the lease paymants associated with these leases
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

{i}]  Group acting as a lessar

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allecates the consideration
In the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

‘When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance |lease or an operating
hirage,

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease wansfers substantially all of the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underhying asset. If this is the case, then the lease s a finance lease; if
nat, then it is an oparating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether
the leasa is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requiremaents in IFRS 3 to the net investment in the lease, The

Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the
lease,

(ak] Settlement date accounting

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the setthement date, i.e. the date that the Group settles the
purchase or sale of an asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
3 Significant accounting policies [continued

{al] Taxes

Current income tax assets and liabdities for the current wear are measured at the amount expected 1o be recovered
frarm ar paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates
taxablbe income. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes
iterms of incame or expanse that are takable or deductible in other years and it further exdudes items that are never
tarable or deductible,

Deferred income tax is prowided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabikties and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Delerred income tax
assets are recognised for all deductibde temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

{am)} Financlal guarantees

Financial guarantess are contraces that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
kass it incurs because a specified party falls to meet its obSgation when due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Certaln financial guarantee contracts in the nature of credit default guaranteas are not held for progrietary trading
purposes and are treabed as insurance contracts and accounted for under IFRS 4.

For other finandial guarantee contracts, these are initially recognited at their fair value (which is the premium received
on issuanoe) The recered premium i amortised over the e of the financial guarantee. The guarantes lability is
sibsequently earried at the higher of this amontised amaunt and the present value of any expected payment [when a
payment under the guarantes has become probable). The premium received on these financial guarantees s included
within ather labilities.

Financial guarantees are reviewed periodically 5o as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposad and, i
appropriabe, to consider whether a provision is reguired. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar
to those ectablished far quantifying impairment lbsses on loans and advances. If a specilic provision s reguired for
financial guarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised under other Rabélities inthe consalidated balance
sheet are reclassified to the appropriate provision.

{an} Standards issued but not yet effective

Anumber of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 lanuary
2020 and earlier application is permitted: however, the Group has not early adopted them in preparing these
consalidated financial statements.

The fallowing amended standards are not expected bo have a significant impact an the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to LAS 37),

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceads before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
Reference to Conceptual Framework [Amendments to IFRS 3).

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to 145 1).

IFRS 17 Insurancé Contracts and amendmients to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts,

a5
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Cash and balances with central banks

2020 2019
AED 00D AEDQOC
Cash on hand 1,933,356 1,991 508

Cantral Bank of the UAE
cash reserve deposits 8,249,013 29,796,172
certificates of deposits 15,996,096 21,989,135
ather balances 25,000,000 883 662
Balances with ather central banks 176,830,683 115,194,698
228,009,148 169,855,175
Less: expected credit lodses {136,555) {153,167]

217,872,592 165,702,008

A per the new regulations, the bank is allowed to draw their balances held in the reserve account, while ensuring that
they meet the reserve requirements over 14 days period.

5 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
2020 2019
AED DD AEDDO0
Investments in managed funds 6,347 6,380
Investment in private sguity 1,759,231 1,591 074
INVESEFENTS (N Squities 106,879 1,116,477
Debt sacuritkes 19,393,786 17,385,250
21266243 20,059,181
_ _

1 Due from banks and financial institutions
2020 2019
AED000 AEDAOOD
Current, call and notice deposits 16,227 447 8,098,662
bargn deposits 7,655,394 4,587 478
Fixed deposits 3,547,951 4,378,331
27,430,732 17074471
Lais; ixpicting credit losses {73,153) (47,969}
17,357,639 17,026,502
a7
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Reverse repurchase agreements

The Grougs enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third party
transfers financlal assets to the Group for shart term financing.

Z20ZED 019

AEDD00 AED000

Rirveerse repurchase with banks 41,096,158 15,371,565
Reverse repurchase with central banks 2,992,558 9,307,224
44,088,756 24,678,789

Less: expected credit losses {19,515) (414}
44,069,241 24,678,375

A 31 December 2020, the fair value of financial assets sccepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sall
re-pledpe in the absence of default was AED 49,154 million (2009; AED 26,675 million).

At 31 December 2020, the fair valee of financial assets accepted as collateral that have been sold or re-pledged was
FRED 26,272 million (2019 AED 11,729 millian), The Group is obliged to return equivalent securities.,

These trantactions are conducted under termyd that are usual and ci=tamary 1o standard kending, and securities
barrewing and lending sctivities,

B Loans and advances

Fiirii] 2019
AED'ODD AEDODD
Gross loans and advances 403,288,746 421,730,328
Less: interest suspended [4,206,335) [2,799,157)
Less: expected credit loss {12,438,415) [11,028,143)
Met loans and advances 386,643,996 407,903,028
I ——
2020 2019
AEDO00 AEDTOOD

By counterparty:
Gowvernment sector 38,889,069 &6, 706,966
Public sector 92,718,473 76,683,723
Banking sector B.924 677 24,681,349
Corporate [ private sector 189,101,082 181,023 861
Parscnal f retail sector 73,655,445 71,634,429
Gross loans and advances 403,288,746 421,730,328

A8
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

B Loans and advances [continued)

2020 2019
AED'DDO AEDO0D

By product:
Overdrafts 26,857,171 24,421,293
Term laans 315,249,274 324,669,217
Trade related loans 23,177,540 13,780,306
Parsanal loans 31,790,101 31,599,277
Credit cards 4,871,801 6,019,027
Vehicle financing boans 1,342,859 1,241,208

Gross loans and advances 403,288,746 421,730,328

The Group provides lending against investrment in equity securities and funds, The Group & authorised to liquidate
these instruments if their coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold, The carrying value of such loans i
AED 14,025 million (2019: AED 15,920 million ) and the fair value of instruments held & collateral againat such loans s
BED 24,303 million (2019: AED 17,350 milion]), During the year, the Group has liguidated insignificant amount of
collateral due to fallin the coverape ratio.

kslamic financing

Included in the above loans and advances are the following Islamic financing contracts:

2020 019
AEDDO0 AEDAOO0
fjara 8422609 9,304,260
Murabaha 16,651,963 21835448
Others 241,948 261,374
Total Islamc financing contracts 15,316,520 31,401,082
Less: expected credit loss {BT7.526) [785,581)
Less: suspended profit {132,904) (130,951}
24,306,000 30,484,510
9 Non-trading investments

2020 2019
AED 00D AEDOO0

Fair value through other comprehensive income:
- with recycle to profitor loss [Debt Investments) 127,609,415 108,598,870
- without recycle to profit or loss (Equity Investments) B57.508 596,085
Amortised cost 3,352,977 5,387,087
Investment in associates and joint venture 54,207 63,399
131,574,107 114,545 442
Less: expected credit losses [345) {1,0200
131,573,762 114,644,422

LE]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

9 Non-trading investments (continued)

An analysis of non-trading investments by type at the reporting date & shown below:

2020 2019
AED 000 AEDDOD
Quoted Ungquated Total Quoted Ungquaoted Total
Equity investrients 534,845 76,869 611,715 523,401 135,084 659,485
Dabt investments 129,844, 660 1,117,732 130,962,392 113065018 920,939 113,985,957

130,379,506 1,154,600 131,574,107 113588419 1,057,023 114,645,442
Less: expected credit losses {326) 1= {345) {1,002} (L8} {1.020)

130,379,170 1,194,592 131573762 113587417 1,057,005 114,644,422

Debt instruments under repurchase agreements included in non-trading Investments at 31 December 2020 amounted
to AECk 32,840 million (31 December 2009; AED 28,428 milian),

The: nan-trading investments include the 'fﬂllﬂ*il‘l,g imvestrments in associates of the Group;

Percentage of hobkding
2020 2018
Midmak Properties LLC 16% 16%
Emirates Digital Wallet LLE 3% 23%
Belirreury Payment Services LLC 305 s

Midrak Properties LLC (*Midmak™} Is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabd. Midmak i
imvolved in real estate activities. Although the Group owns 16% of the outstanding shares of Midmak, the investment
has been classified as an associate as the Group exercises significant influence due to representation of the Board of
Directors.

Emirates Digital Wallet LLC, established in 2017, is jointhy owned by 16 of the leading WAE national banks, supported by
the LAE Central Bank.

Mercury Payment Senvices LLC is a limited liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi to carry on
business of imeestments and payment service schemnes.

10 Investment properties

2020 2019

AED'DDD AREDOOD

A5 at 1 January 7,956,854 7368403
Additions [ transfer from PPE / Other adjustments 472,211 SE3.789
Dispasals [/ transfer to PPE {577,350) |8,729)
Fair value adjustmant {248 485) |6, 699)
Az at 31 December 7,603,230 7,956,854

50
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

10 Investment properties [continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income in respect of net rental incame of investment properties

are as follows:
2020 2019
AED D00 AED D00
Rental income derived fram investrment propertiss 100,045 92,264
Operating expenses. {50,724) [45,154)
Met rental income from investment properties 49,322 47,110

IFeatrment progenties are staved at fair value which represents the price that would be received to sell an assat or paid
to transfer a lability in an orderly transaction between market participants under prévailing market conditions at the
measurement date,

The Group's investment properties consist of land, buildings and properties under development in Abu Dhabi and Dubai.
Management determined that these investment properties consist of two classes of commercial and retail assets, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property,

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, fair value of the properties is based on the valuations perfarmed by third party valuers
and all are level 3 under fair value hierarchy. The valeers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional
qualifications and with recent experience in the location and category of investment properties being valued, The fair
valses have been determined based on varying valuation models depending on the intended use of the imvestrment
properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors | “RICS") Valuation Standards,

Description of valuation technigues used and key inputs to valuation an investment properties as at 31 December 2020

and 2019:
Voluation technique Significont unobservable inputs
Buildings Comparable and Residual Method Comparable transactions.
Sales Comparison Method Current market price of similar assets
Land Comparable and Residual Methad Cast of construction
Devirloper™s profit
Financing cost
Propertes under development Discounted cash flow rethod Discount rate
Cash inflows
Cash outflows
51
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
11 Property and equipment

Land, Computer  Furniture,

buildings systems  equipment, Capital
and and safes and work -in-
alterations  equipment vehicles prOEress Total

AEDYDO00 AED‘DOO AED‘DO00 AED'DO0D AED'DOO

Cost
As at 1 January 2019 3,155,149 1,992,828 392,912 195,762 5837651
Additions 20,682 171,848 119,463 1,032 456 1,604,450
Allecations from CWIP 66,428 347,027 11,504 [424,959) -
Disposals, transfers and

write affs! (639,471) (4,972} [8,951) - [653,394)
At 31 December 2009 2,862, TES 2,506,732 514,928 904,259 5,758,707
Additions 62,488 869,693 92,275 1,896,629 3,121,085
Allecatians from CWIP 7,716 12,578 {25,170) 4,876 -
Dispodals, transfers and

write affs! (B28,682) {121,101} {4,800) [1,485,7590) 12,440,373)
At 31 December 2020 2,204,210 3,267,902 577,233 1,319,974 TAES419
Accumulated depreciation and
impalrment losses
As at 1 January 2019 07,750 B05.485 315,191 - 1B4E436
Charge for the year 134,462 280,126 36,714 - 451,212
Disposals, transfers and

write offs! (117,021) 2,367 [13,373) - [1328,027)
At 31 December 2009 725,191 1,091,998 352,532 - 2,169,721
Charge far the year 149 578 75729 42,054 - 567,361
Disposals, transfers and

write affs! {183,220) 50,690 {2,259) = {134,7839)
At 31 December 2020 691,549 1,518,417 392,327 - 2,602,293
Carrylng amounts
At 31 Decernber 2019 2,137,587 1414734 162,396 904,259 4,618,986
At 31 December 2020 1,612,761 1,749,485 184,506 1,319,974 4867126

" adjusted for foreign exchange transiation impact
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12 Intangibles

Customer Core

Goodwilll  relationship deposit License Brand Total

AED' O AEDDON AEDDDD BEDDOD AE D000 AEDDOD
Cost
Al 1 Jamuary 2019 17,570,249 1,774,716 503,335 SGEE 700 22,000 20,129,000
Badodition during the: year - - - - : =
At 31 December 2019 17,370,249 1.774.716 543,335 S8, 700 22,000 20,125,000
Mddition during the year - - - - - <
At 31 December 2020 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 12,000 20,129,000
Accumulated amortisation
ard impairment loses
At 1 January 2019 7 333,(4b 90,560 % 5083 429,289
Charge for the year - 149,870 49,353 - 2,401 201,624
At 31 December 2019 " 462,916 139,913 : B084 630,913
Charge for the year - 151,170 49,047 - 1,006 201,223
At 31 December 2020 - 634,085 188,960 . 9,090 832,136
Caf ryiing Smounts
A1 31 December 201% 17,370,249 1,251,800 453,412 368,700 13,916 15458087
At 31 December 2020 17,370,249 1,140,630 404,375 363,700 12,910 19,296,864

Testing goodwill for impairment involves a significant amount of judgment. This intludes the identification of
independent CGU's and the allocation of goodwill to these units based on which units are expected to benefit from
the acquisition.

For the purposes of impalirment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Banks's revenue generating units - Corporate &
Inwestment Banking and Personal Banking CGUs. The recoverable amount for the OGUs have been calculated based
on thair value in use, determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from the continuing
use of the CGLUs , assets and their ultimate disposal a discount rate of 8% and a terminal growth rate of 5% were used
to estimate the recoverable armount.

Na impairment loises wene recognized dunng the year ended 31 Decembaer 2020 (2029: /) because the recoverabli
amounts of the C5U's were determined to be higher than their carrying amounts.

The key assumptions described above may change as economic and market conditions change, The Group estimates
that reasonably possible changes in these assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of abowe CGUs to
dacling bélow the carrging amount.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

13 Other assets

2020 2019

AED000 AED"O0D

Interest receivable T.511,621 9,856,628
Acceptances 6,017,156 7.529.457
Sundry debrors and other receivables 2,401,952 2,550,441
Defiernied tax assat 101,437 40,336
16,042,166 19,986,862

Less: expected credit losses [91,208) (63,611}
15,950,958 19,923,251

—_—— —_—

The Group does not perceve any signiﬁ.canr. credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances.

Acceptances arise when the Group Is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters
of oredit. After acceptance, the Instrument becomes an unconditional Hability of the Group and Is therefore recognised
a5 a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position, Howewver, every acceptance has a
corresponding contractual right of reimbursement from the customer which is recognised as a financial asset,

14 Due to banks and financial institutions

2020 2019
AED'DDOD AEDDDD

Benks ond financial institutions
Current, call and notice deposits 2477281 2.270A22
Pargin 4,745,820 1,917,342
Fived depasits 16,981,767 12,758,412
24,204,858 16,946,176

Central banks

Current and call deposits 973 292 144,066
Fiyed and certificate of deposits 32,454,316 18,917,633
313,427,808 13,061,658
57 632ATE 36,007,875

Dwe to banks and financial institutions are denominated in various currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range
of -1% to 1.825% (2019: -0.57% to 4.44%],

15 Repurchase agreements

The Group enters into repurchase agreaments in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised
financial assets directly to third parties.

2020 1019

AEDDO0 AED D00

Reverse repurchase with banks § financial institutions 49.352,314 38,821,848
Reverse repurchase with central banks 6,753,000 -

56,005,314 38,821,818
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

15 Repurchase agreements (continued)

Thar Larrying value that is ako the fair value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 33,666 million (2015 AED 28, 763 milion] and thair associated financial Habilities amounted to AED 56,005 millian
[201%9: AED 38,822 miflion). The net difference between the fair value of the financial assets collateralised and the
carnging value of the repurchase agreement (5 a shortage AED 22,339 million {2019: shortage AED 10,058 milfion). The
shortage is covered by re-pledging financial assets received as collateral against reverse repurchase agreements or
through security borrowing arrangement from custodian.

i6 Commercial Paper

The Bank has a Eure Commercial Paper programmes with a programme limit of USD 3.5 billlion and a U5 Dollar
Commarcial Paper programme with a programma limit.of USD 10 billien,

The notes autsta nding 45 at the end of the reparting date amounted to AED 31,174 million (2019: AED 21,237 millian)
and have matirity period of less than 12 months.

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interests or other breaches with respect to its Commercial paper
programmes during year ended 31 December 2020.

17 Customer accounts and other depaosits

2020 2019
AED'DOD AEDDOD
By account:

Current acoounts 211,144 473 163,661,767
Savings accounts 12,023 563 10,338,002
Margin accounts 2,757,184 2,921,202
Matice and time depasits 266,318,758 311,441,597
492,263,978 488,362,568
Certificates of deposit 48,618,494 30,799,285
540,882,472 519,161,857
020 2019
AED'DDO AED'D0D

By counterparty;
Government sector 134,010,748 152,974,275
Public sector 114,402,574 111,074,087
Corporate [ private sector 162,774,636 144,035,048
Persanal f retail sector 81,075,620 B0, 278,158
492,763,978 488,362,568
Centificates of deposit A8 618,494 30,799,289
540,882,472 519,161,857
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

17 Customer accounts and ather deposits (continued)]

2020 2019
AED'D00 AED'O00

By location:
UAE 388,206,397 394,392,055
Europe 36,547,379 31836181
Arab eountries 26,280,020 34,296,726
Amaricas 29,066,952 16,872,179
Azla 10,199,722 9,531,168
Others 1,954,508 1,434,259
452,263,978 458,362,568
Cartificates of deposit 48,618,454 30,799,285
540,882 472 519,161,857

Concentration by location is based on the residential status of the depositors,
Islamic customers’ deposits

Included in the above Customer accounts and other deposits are the following tslamic term deposits:

2020 2019
AED'DOO AED'D00
Wakala deposits 1,331,375 1,754,317
Mudaraba deposits 104,580 136,227
1,432,955 1,800,544
e —

18 Term borrowings
2020 018
AED'O00 AED'DOD
At amortised cost 61,970,222 55,352,794
At fair value through profit of loss ABE,B1 300,025
62,437,103 55,751,819

During the year, the Group has issued various fived and floating rate notes, The nominal values of the notes issued
during the year are stated below:

2020 2019

AED'OD0 AEDO00

As at 1 January 55,751,819 42,268,173
Hew issuances 16,692,127 23,906,212
Redermptions {11,960,709) 113,525,373}
Fair valuation, exchange and athes adjustments 1,953,B66 3,106,813
As at 31 December 62,437,103 55,751,819
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

18 Term borrowings (continued}

Curing the year, the Group has issued various fixed and floating rate notes, The Group hedges its currency and interest
rate exposure on these notes. The nominal values of the notes issued during the year are stated below:

2020 019
AED'DO0 AED'000
Flxed rate

AED - 95,677
CHF - 1,896,474
ChH 3,428,729 1,409,954
ELR - 213,306
UsD 8,150,038 10,972,150
GEP 2,249,361 232,633
HED 497 421 400,003

Eloating rate
AUD 1,077,930 77331
sk 1,231,413 10,627,704
ELR . 1,768,981
GBP 102,322 .
16,737,214 27,695,253

The Group has hedped the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedged
are AED 49,67 bilion (2019 AED 4571 billon} and the risks being hedged have a net positive fair value of
AED 1,057.06 millian (2009; net negative fair valve af AED 49227 milionl The Group has not had any defaults of
principal, interests, of other breaches with respect to its term borrowings during 2030 and 2019,

19 Subordinated notes

2020 2019
AED 00D AED'DO0

10 Decernber 2012 issue (4,75 percent fixed rate moturing on
3 December 2027] 470,805 381,305
I L

The Group has hedged the interest rate and forelgn currency exposure on the subordinated notes. The Group has not
had ary defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated notes during the year ended
31 Decernber 2020.

20 Other liabilities

2020 2019

AEDAO0D AEDOD0

Interest payable 5833330 8,631,724
Acceptances - nét of discounting (note 13) 3,870,232 5,039,143
Provision employees’ end of service benefits 464,604 469,894
Accounts payable, sundey creditors and other liabilities 12,122,067 9,005,750
Overseas income Tax 297,005 194,250
12,587,238 23,340,779
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
20 Other liabilities (continued)

Employees end of service benefits

Defined benefit obligations

The Group provides for end of service benefits for s eligible employees. An actuarial valuation has been carried out as
at Decamber 31, 2000 to ascertain present value of the defined benefic obligation, A registered actuary in the UAE was
appadnted to evaluate the same. The present value of the defined benefit ablipation, and the related current and past
safvice cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the labilities:

2020 019
Discount rate 223 % perannum 313 % par annum
Salary incredse rage 232 % perannum 230 % par annum

Demographic assumptions for mortality, withdrawal and retirerment were used in valuing the liabilities and benefits
under the plan. Because of the nature of the benefit, which Is a lurmp sum payable on exit due to any cause, a combined
single decrement rate has been used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis paints would impact the lability by AED 10,588 thousand
and AED 11,172 thousand nespectively. Similary, a shift in the salary increment assumption by +/= 50 basis points would
impact the lability by AED 11,097 thousand and AED 10,621 thousand respectively.

The mowement in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows:

2020 2019

AED'DOO AED'DO0

Balance at 1 January 459,804 472,607
Het charge during the year 65,074 68,354
Remeasuremeant gains/losses in OC) 18,760 21,980
Paid during the year and other adjustrnents {89,124) {93,047}
Balance at 31 December 464,604 469,894

Defined cantribution plan

The Group pays contributiond for its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans. The charge for
the year in respect of these contributions is AED 87,314 thousand [2019: AED 91, 718 thousand). As at the reporting date,
pension payable of AED 14,950 thousand (2019: AED 12,662 thousand) has been dassified under other labdities.

Overseas income tax
The Group has provided for overseas income tax in accordance with management's estimate of the total amount payable
based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date. Where appropriate the Group has made

payments of tax on account in respect of these estimated labilities.

The overseas incarme tax charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted net prafit for the year. The mavement
in the proviskon was as follows:

2020 2019

AED'DOO AEDDO0

Balance at 1 January 194 359 192,546
Charge for thee year 341,198 314,963
Owverseas income tax paid, net of recoveries {238,452) {312, 750)

At 31 December 297,005 154,258
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
21 Capital and reserves
Share Capital
2020 2019
AEDD0D AED'DO0
Ordinary shares of AED 1 each 10,920,000 10,920,000
Treasury shares of AED 1 each 8,980 15,864

At the Annual General Meeting [AGM) held on 25 February 2020, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend
of AED 0.74 per ordinary shares amounting te AED 8080 millien [2018:; AED 0.74 per ordmary share amounting to
AED B,064 million).

Statutory and special reserves

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and the requirements of the Union Law Neo. [10) of 1980, a minienum
of 10% of the annuwal net profit should be transferred to both statutory and special reserve until each of these reserves
equal to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The Statwtory and special reserve are not available for distribution to the
shareholders, No transfers were made during the year because statutory and special reserve ane equal to 500 of the
paid-up share capital,

Dividends

The following dividends were pald by the Group during the year ended 31 Decemnber:

1020 2019
AEDYOD0 AED'DO0
Dividend an ordinary shares paid during the year 7.851,730 7,843,642
Other reserves
Other reserves include the following;
Foreign
CUFRERCY IFRS & FRES
Fair walre Genered  tromslation  Rewsluoti- rESEAVE - rESERVE —
resenve FESETVE FEEEIVE O FESEIVE specific  collechive Todal

AED D00 AEDD00 AEDODD AEDDD0 AEDODD AEDO0O AED'CO

A st 1 Janaary 2020 1,361,293 228,265 (354,657} 280601 315,508 B2 522 2AT4,032
Crtheed compeehemsive income

Eae the year {185,270 4 23,194) o & - (208464}
Transfer during the year 5 - o (280,601) = = {Z80,601)
RS 9 reserind Mavement = £ 5 x 05, 08 z 9% 088
Realised gainon sabe of FYOC)
imessiment (7634 - » ® - . {7834}
As st 31 Decemie 2020 1,168,389 218,265  (377.851) = 122099 B42622  2.8EI.A71

&0
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
21 Capital and reserves {continued)
Other reserves (continued)
Fureign
CUTETIY WRS & IFRS 8
Fair value Generw  Erovslolian  Revolwolbi- FESETWE = rrienve —
FESFIVE FESENE FOSEIVE I P specils  oofiective Tatof

AECTO00 AECO00 ABD'ODD AEDODO AED‘OOD AED 000 AED'OO0

fa a1 Janaary 2019 [59€.021) 128,265 1310.931) ZE0.601 297,621 64,958 137,477}

Other com prehensive noome

bor the year 1.968 4588 [43.726) 1924762
Transfer during the year
RS 9 rgmsirye movement 18, X457 5ATh14 585,921
Realised gain on sabe of FWOC]
Irmee=siment 19,174 [ 174)
fs ot 31 December 2009 1,361,293 228,265 1354657} 2EN0E0T 415,208 542,622 2474032

{i} Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of non-trading investments, until the
investment is derecognised or impaired, and cash flow hedge reserve.

Rewoivation Hedgimg
FESETWE = FERERE =
instrements ot cash fiow
Aacl redge Totol
AEDD00 AED'DB0 AEDY DO
As at 1 January 2020 1,376,357 {15,064] 1,361,292
Het fair value changes 473,457 15,129 488,586
et cumulative realised gains recognised in the
consolidaved staternent of profit or loss during the year {653,245) - |B653,2486)
Impact of ECL {28,244) - [Z8,244)
A at 31 Decem ber 2020 1,164,324 65 1,16838%
As at 1 January 20019 (512,867} [B5,154) (598,021}
Nt fair value changes 2,633,918 70,080 2,704,018
et cumulativie realised gains recognised in the
consolidabed staterment of profit or koss during the year [861,904) - (861,904)
Impact of ECL 117,200 - 117,200
As at 31 December 2019 1,376,357 [15,064) 1,361,293
_—— —_— —

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instrurnents related to hedged transactions. During the year, there has been no significant transfer fram cash flow hedge
reserve to profit or loss,

&l
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

21 Capital and reserves {continued)

Other reserves (continued)

{ii) General reserve
The general reserve is available for distribution to the sharehalders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors.,

{iii} Foreign currency translation resenve
Forelgm currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net investment
in forelgn operations. During the year, there has been no significant transfer from forelgn currency translation reserve
to profit or lass,

{iw}  IFRS 9 reserve
In accordance with CBLAE circular, during any period if provision under CBUAE guidance excead provision calculated

wider IFRS 9, such exces is reguired to be apportioned from retained earnings to IFRS 9 reserve and this reserve shall
ot be adjusted for future excess provision. The details of the same a5 below:

2020 2019
AEDDDD AED 000
Impairment reserve — Specific as at 31 December
Specific provisions under Circular 28,2010 of CBUAE B,206,198 6,341,248
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9 [E,985,202) (6,348, 700)
Specific provision transferred to the impairment reserve 1,220,996 -
Balance carrled forward from prlor year - 315,908
Closing balance 1,220,959 315908
2020 2013
AEDAODD AEDYO00
Impairment reserve = Collective as at 31 December
Callectivie provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 6,617,775 6,351,290
Less; Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9 16,616,462 [5,708,668])
Caollective provision traraferred to the impairment reserve - 642,622
Balance carried forward from prior year 642,612 -
Clasing balance 642,622 6ar 622
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
22 Tier 1 capital notes
2020 2019
AED 0D AED'DO0
Government of Abu Ohabi Notes AED 8,000, 000 8,000,000
& month EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annum)
USD 750 million Notes usD - 2,754,750

[5.25 percent fixed rate until 2020, thereafter 5 year mid
swap rate plus 3.35 percent per annumj
UsD 750 million Notes uso 2,754,750
[4.50 pereent fined rate per annum, thereafter reset on the First
Date and every sbath anniversary thereafter on the basis of the
apgregate of the Margin and the Relavant Six-Year reset on
the relevant LS, Securities Determination Date)

10,754,750 10,754,750

Tier 1 capital nobes are perpetual, subardinated, unsecured and carry coupons to be paid semi-annually in arrears. The
Bank ray elect not to pay & coupon at its awn discretion. The note holder does not hawe a right to claim the coupon and
an election by the Bank not to service coupen & not considered an event of default. In addition, there are certain
drcumstances under which the Bank is prohibited from making a coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date.

If the Bank makes a non-payment election or a non-payment event occurs, then the Bank will not (a) declare or pay any
distribution or dividend or (b) redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or atheraise acquire any of the share capital or any
sacurities of the Group ranking pari passu with of junior to the Notes except securities, the term of which stipulate a
mandatory redemption or conwerskan into equity, in each case unless or until two consecutive coupan payments have
been paid in full.

Dwring the year, the Bank has repaid off AED 2,754,750 thousand (USD 750 million) of tier 1 notes coupon payment
election was made by the Bank in the amount of AED 426,253 thousand (31 December 2019; AED 571,855 thousand).
Subseguently, in the manth of October 2020, the Bank has Bsued niw tier 1 capital notes amounting to AED 2,754,750
thousand (USD 750 million).

23 Share based payment

The Group had introduced in 2008 a share based paymant schema (the “Scheme”) for salected employees which would
vt over three years and can be exercised within the next three years after the vesting period. The kiey veting condition
s that the option holder is in continued employment with the Group until the end of the vesting period. The options
lapse sk years after thelr date of grant irrespective of whether they are exercised or not

The Group established a subsidiary to issue shares when the vested option is exercised by the employee. These shares
are treated as treasury shares until exercised by the option holders.

During the year, 3,884 thousand shares (31 December 2019: 29,121 thousend) had been awarded, therefore realiocated
fram treasury shares held to share capizal by AED 9,884 thousand (31 December 2019: AED 29,121 thousand) and share
premium has been adjusted by AED 104,123 thousand (31 December 2001 9: AED 246,418 thousand)] accord ingly relating
ta this,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
249 Interest income
2020 2019
AEDDDD AED'DDD
Interest from:
Central banks 425,554 976,641
Banks and financlal institutions 1,782,108 1,427,702
Reverse repurchase agreements 487 BD4 700,208
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 216,238 343,327
Hontrading investments 3,306,934 3,184,015
Leans and advances 13,881,567 17,727,054
20,100,205 24,368,947
25 Interest expense
020 2019
AED DD AEDDO0
Interest tay
Banks and linancial institutions 2,163,411 1,525,185
Repurchase agresments 449,187 1,171,377
Commerclal paper 176,119 481,252
Customer accounts and other deposits 3278313 6,664 362
Term borrowings 1,755,689 1,725,839
Subordinated notes 20987 21,130
7,843,726 11,594,145
S
26 Met fee and commission income
020 2019
AEDDDD AED'DOD
Feee and commision income
Trade finance 875,266 907,730
Collection services 12,856 17,930
Brokerage income 40,903 25,743
Assat management and investment services 57898 56,325
Investmints, dirivatives and risk participation 1,875 6,794
Retaif and corporate lending 1,502,065 1,502,355
Cards and e-services 1,499,029 1,764,010
Accounts related sendoes 38,360 54,379
Commission on transfers 93,587 107,084
Others 213,695 288,338
Total fee and commissian incomae 4,345 534 4,730,688
Fee and commission expense
Brokerage comrmission 51,B60 54,002
Credit card charges 1,068,938 1,076,308
Retail and corporate lending 279,731 378,837
Others 41,864 51,111
Total fee and commission expenss 1442353 1,561,259
Net fee and commission Income 1,903,141 3,169,429
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
27 Met foreign exchange gain
020 2015
AED'DOD AEDDO0
Trading and retranslation gainon
forelgn exchange and related dervatives! 592 B46 1,907,725
Dealings with customers’ 647,500 693,253

1,240,355 1,600,978

! Due to effective hedging strategies, the offsatting impact of hedging instruments is reflected in the net gains from sake
of nan-trading investments fnote 28).

Ancludes negative interest income of AED 420.0 million [2019; AED 366.49 milien] arsing from placement with ECB.
The comparatives have been restated to include customer facing portfolios which were in the prior perieds incleded
within Trading and retranslation gain on foreign exchange and related derivatives.

28 Met gain on investments and derivatives
2020 2049
AED'DOO AEDTDO0
Het realised and unrealsed gain on investrnents at fair value
through profit or loss and derbvatives 264,584 511,253
Nt gain from sake of non-trading investments 653,246 851,902
Dividend incame 33,197 33,122
951,027 1,506,277
_— —
29 Other Operating Income
2020 2019
AED'DDO AEDDOO0
Investment property income / (loss) 208,997 6,068)
Leasing related ineome 119,792 126,772
Gain on sale of property and equipment TiT 371 28,929
Othér income! 155,749 47,938
1222509 197,571
—_—— ——

! Dwring the year, the Bank disposed of it's legacy license held by First Gulf Bank which had earber been held at zero
value, The sale was finalized In Decermber 2020 and a gain of AED 200 million is induded within Other incorme relating
o this.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
30 General, administration and other operating expenses
2020 2019
AEDDDD AED' D00
Staff costs 2,743,567 3,205,375
Other general and administration expenses 1,438,797 1,560,519
Depreciation (note 11} 567,361 451,312
Amortisation of intangibles fnote 12} 201,223 201,624
Sponsorships and donations 69,317 80161
5,060,265 5,498,391
31 MNet impairment charge
2020 2019
AED DD AED'DOR
Impairmant charge / [reversal) on
loans and advances 2,629,156 1,742,435
other financial assets 16,787 {38,267)
unfunded exposure 107,087 181,570
other non-financial instruments 1,071 1,353
Rarcoviries [241,735) 1344,835)
Write-off of impaired financial assets 97,574 300,724
2,619,940 1,842 980

32 Owverseas income tax expense

In addition to adjustments refating to deferred taxation, the charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted
net profit for the year at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations,

The charge to the consoldated statemant of profit or loss for the year was as follows:

2030 2019

AEDOOD AED'000

Charge for the year 341,198 314,463
_—
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3z Owerseas income tax expense (continued)

ReconciBation of Group's tax on profit based on accounting and profit as per thi B bws i o fallows:

2020 2019
AEDYODD AED'000
Prafit before taxation 10,893,706 12,907,086
Effect of higher tax rates in Overseas jurlsdictions 285,240 313,646

Tax effects of:
- Incame not subject to tax = 827
- Expiensas not deductible for tax purpode {11,048) {14,102}
- Litilisation of previously unrecognised defermed tax 18,082 1,705
- Prios year adjustments — Carporation Tax 9,229 11,7549}
- Prior year adjustments — Deferred Tax 1,433 15,3400
- Withholding tax dedwcted at source 25,116 10,538
- Mandatory remittance tax 13,137 5948
341,198 314,963

33 Cash and cash equivalents

2020 019
AED D00 AEDDO0
Cash and balances with Central Bank. 118,009,148 169,855,176
Due from banks and financial institutions 217,430,792 17074471

255,439,940 186,929,647

Less: Balances with Central Banks maturing after three months of placement {16,103,734) {21,493,508)
Less: Due from banks and financial intitutions maturing after three months
of placemant (146, 969] {14,091, 205}
239,189,237 151,344,934
—_— _——
&7

2721352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooOoog
JGBWJ\.M(

Pt A Dby Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

34 Leases
The Group leases a number of branch and office premises. The leases typécally run fior a period of 10 years, with an option
o renew the lease after that date. For some leates, payments are renegotiated every fve years to reflect market rentals.

Sorme leades provide fior additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices.

The Group also leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are short-term and/ar leases
of low-valee items. The Graup has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabllities for these leases.

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below and these are grouped with property and
equipment:

Leases as lessee
Right-of-use astets

The movement during the year of right-of-use is as follows:

2020 019
AED D00 AED D00
Balance as at 1 Janusary 217,181 130,152
Het increase during the year 67,883 144,715
Depreciation and other adjustments {44,493) |57 ,686)
Balance as at 31 December 240,571 217,181
I —_—

Leasa Nabilities
2020 019

AED 000 AED 000
Maturlty analysls - contractual undiscounted cash flows

Lesds than ane year 105,644 70,455
Oinvir to frv years 309,477 161,209
Kare than five years 26,513 26011
Total undiscounted lease llabilities at 31 December 441,634 257,675

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
2020 2019

AED D00 AED 000

Interest on lease Habilities 11,238 6,005
Depreciation charge for the year 71,525 51,789
Expenses relating to shart-term leases and low-value assets 44,942 73,249
127,705 131,043

(=
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a5 Commitments and contingencies

The Group, in the ardinary course of business, Enters into vatious types of transactions that involve undertaking certain
commitments such as letters of credit, guarantees and undrawn loan commitments.

Thare ware no other significant changes in contingent liabilities and commitments during the year other than those
arising out of normal course of business.

020 2019

AED 000 AED'OO0

Latter of credit 61,406,465 63,237,522

Letters of guarantees 105,216,467 102,673,707

Financial guarantees 119,940 2,030,873

Trade contingencles 166,752 876 167,522,002
————————

020 2019

AEDO00 AED'DO00

Undrawn cormmitrment to extend credit 74 582341 39,442,026

Commitments for future capital expenditure 819,667 &41,722

Commitments far future private equity investmeants. 536,571 794,001

75,938,579 AL0TT, 749

Total commitments and contingencies 242 591 455 208,999,851

Credit risk characteristics of these onfunded facilities closely resemble the funded facilities as described
in note 43{a) are neither past due nor impaired.

Letters of credit and guarantes ["Trade contingencies”) commit thee Group o make payments on behalf of customers’
contingent upon the production of documents or the filune of the custemer ta perfarm under the terms of the contract,

Commitments o extend credit represent contractual commitrments to extend loans and revolving credits. Commitrnents
generally have fixed expiration dates aor other termination clauses and may reguire a payment of a fee. Since
commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contracted amounts do not necessarily represent future
cash requirements,

Financial guarantee contracts includes credit default agreements entered with banks and financial institutions
amounting to AED 73.5 millian [2019: AED 73.5 million) which are primarily denaminated in US Dollars.

Financial guarantee contracts mainly pertain to the banks and finandial institutions.
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kL Commitments and contingencies (coatinued)
Concentration by location:
Undrawn loan
commitments Trade contingencies
2020 019 2020 19
AED'000 AED'O00 AED000 AEDYOO0
UAE 59,937,746 24,763,624 114,852,725 116,513,529
Europe 6,120,020 5,753,526 19,713,720 19,210,556
Arab countries 3,325,351 3,092,043 9,330,286 7,491,914
Americas 2,533,674 3,057,259 11,803,669 12,095,805
Asia 1,455,644 2,396,150 9,778,194 5,885,439
Oithers 1,209,906 179,344 1,274,282 2,720,859

74,582,341 39,442,026 166,752,876 167,922,102

Concentration by location is based on the residential status of the customers,

275/352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

D iy

FAB

Pt A Dby Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
36 Derivative financial instruments

In the erdinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instrurments. Denvatives are financial instruments that derive their value fram the price of underlying iterms such as
equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commaoadities and equity or other indices. Derivatives
enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risks. Derivative financial instruments indude
forwards, futures, swaps and options. These transactions are primarily entered with banks and finandal institutions.

Forwards and futures

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign andfor domestic currencies, including non-dekverable
spot transactions [i.e. the transaction is net settled). Forward rate agreaments are individually negotiated interast rate
futures that call for a cash settlement at a future date for the difference between a contracted rate of interest and the
current market rate, based on a notianal principal amount. Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual
abligations to receive of pay & net amount based an changes i currency rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign
currency or a financtal instrument an a future date at a spedfied price, established in an organised financial market. The
credit risk for futures contracts s negligible, as they are collateralised by cash or marketable securities, and changes in
the futures” contract value are settled daily with the exchange.

Swaps

Currancy and interest rate $waps are commitments to exchange one sét of cash flows for another, Swaps result in an
economic exchange of currencees of interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these
(i, cross-currency inberest rate Swaps). No exchange of principal takes place, except fof CBrtain crods currency SwWaps.
The Groups credit risk represents the potential loss if counterparties fail to fulfil their obligation. This risk s monitored
an an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value, notional amount of the contracts and the Bguidity of the
market, Te control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its
lending activities.

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the
abligation, either to buy (a call eption) or s2ll (2 put option] at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount
of a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The saller receives a premium frem the purchaser in consideration
for the assumption of risk. Options may be either exchange-traded or negotiated between the Group and a customer
ower the counter [OTC).

Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price quotatians in an active market. Where there is no
acthve market for an nstrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate
pricing ar valuation models like counterparty prices or valuation technigues such i diseounted cash Naws, market prices,
yield curves and other reference market data.

Tha table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to
their fair values, together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the
amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
daerivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions cutstanding at year end and are
nithier indicative of the market risk nor credie risk.

71

276/352



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

L
SREGAT LTR SEE TP ETE TLEEINE0S 605 Db TES GEELT PSS RGPV EFYT FO0'TER'BE TRERSS'TE (Ll
DOE LS = D00'C00°T OEL 00T IOERLELT TESESV'DT BO0'ELT ROE'S
= = E e TOEREEET TOSRLE'LT L10°70T fx4 LiuBiiog
S i wliasg
00E'L9% 000" 000" T OEL'E00"T BED'SEV'E 63651 k'S sdeas
SAIAONHD Fh TR
salipay moyf Yo 50 praH
GFEERTVE YT LPT'EY TOL 66908 TLFDOTTE TOL656'ET IO ERT FLT'DEER ELDGELT
AFEEETY T LPT'EY 0L 6690 ZLFOOTTE TOL656'ET BOEDST £ FiTO6G'E ELOGELT BOEMG
SWATIOMERHED A0 1A
sabipay ampon yof 5o prag
GEEBESTOE LBT' LGS "SHT TLR'ELELY LOETTE Y ERLBESZTE 20" TR T FELETLET [
ATO'E6E PR LR S86"200'S LELETEE THTEET SEELOT'TE LET'EED ERY T SO0 SRR SR
- : T99°09T°S FEERIZ T TIFSESET STF RV LL b OTL'29E sumn
ELET8E LIV o5k ol HeE TEEROTTL FET R L0 THO PG DET BOETLT BIELIST Suehuny
sampoauap abuoyaes whauoy
= EDG'L6 LT FEEZLE T TR SEZROR'0ET A BPOFEL PCIRNS B o0
- ra OESETS YT LERETR'ES SEROEE'ET 09 GE 90T FEETT a7E's SN g EEMIO
B TR0 T9E BELFEDTET 09T TTL 90w 25 E0E 9w TEIPEETRT TEPGED'LSET TRLETG'ST SERTEL'ST Mg
SRATIEARIE AR0U LRI
Burpou sof pram
000, a3v 000,03 000,037 000,03 000,03 000,03 00003y 000,035
SIEah BA Sredk s annA Buo SO anjes anjea
H—:M.rﬁ o) sIead o mwad o SLROW sanp __._u___.ﬂ, K_. uz FEE TN pE T
aam waly 0 WA SR WL ueLy S5 anpelay anpEod
AingeL OF Wi AQ SUNOWE | BUsiioN OZ0T 1equaseg 1§
{panuiluod) sIUALWINIISU| [ERUBULY SAREAIS0 =13
{panuizuod] SUBLUBIELS |EDUEUY palERI|OSUDD 3yl 0] 5930N
WO I T TR

)avd

et i

277/352



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

w00 WEVE ERL VBT REE LA (P T rbE' 16 ESE
I#E'IHE 0589588 T
GEEVELTE
[LEat 050 v5L"E R0
Zrinrnes ZEYRLG0E PRS0 ALE'6ESEL 06 H'RE
Erinin'as ZEYRLG0E Fad MR HIEBSSEL 00 E0R'eE
i Pl T LEOa0 10F s R B 05 ET EGY BEEHEDS
Fa EELESR'T I9E'EIE'E VEEERET GFEarE's
. BRY'E alEaEe"Y LEV'VEE 'BE UL IR
EFRE LER'EHT'L GESHEE'L ¥ SEN'IEY'BLL SEILES'FIL
BLYLER O59°ERIL SES LRSS LEO TRs o L 'ER
DERTSS OFE'ERE CREVIE'L RO S6Y O GESHEE I
Al IRT'ERT BT L0S 1E] g o B95EFE TS EE&'9 b'DIE
0003w 000,03V 00,03V LI R 00,23
waEak anp LiEah sy LR ] SLpLOAL
samak any :
13D o) smak o Jead, oy sypLow g
BRI g 0 WY BN WAy WEN] S5

WS HORED Ny RS

)avd

1.|-u_.|__.nq_.J_._'.Ia_d

AANIRL OF WY A SIUNCHUE |BUOITOR

EL

ELETERIVTE Ies'er sl [ZELL8'EL
L6 BEREE BE1'IR1 BLLEE
BR'FELIE AR BLLEE
HIE'EFIY 905°E
T PR ERL'ESKE i ]
PSS ERI'ESKE e ]
G5 IFE"S9E'T LRt = i ) i
HHTEEYLL BOAEOE (LT o
ESE'EL P g LEOREL
LT R LS8 IWE'L BELSEL'T
GLEOLERL BOO'0a L GE0LE
b ERONED [ LT
BLYVEEPEE'T TOF DE0'ER LRE WA
003 000,93V 0o0aIv
| A

WROWE

/ VR REIRL
|eLHiay anqeltan e

|y

SpEMIDY
FIAOALAE 3 BrOLIND Ul

RHRNG
e T S L

safipal o (R0 50 YRy

SHRME
T BN GRS | SR
wafipay anpos sraf 5o pay

S NADD FRATDALAN JNTT

suonEn
SR
sasoatiap 2By ulang

SLOGE MG 5 SUDRED
SMMING @ HEm:0g
SHEME
EIAAOALD D IR JERE]
Bunpor saf My

BTOT Jaquaoag T

{panuuel) SIUILLNIISY] |BIUBUY JARBAISQ

{panwizuoo) S3UBLWSIEYS |BIDJUEUL PRJEPIJOSUOD 3y} 03 SAJ0N

278/352



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn
de—"(

Firt Abss Dbt Fanic

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

36 Derivative financial instruments [cantinued)

The positive / negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gainfloss respectively, aising on fair valuation
of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or future losses, as a similar
positive | negative amount has been adjusted to the carrying value of the hedged keans and advances, non-trading
investmants, term borrowings and subordinated notes,

Ba 5t Degarnber 31, 2020, the Group recsived cach eollsteral of AED 6,471.8 million (2019: 460 3,010.9 millian) against

positive fair value of derivative assets from certain counterparties. Carrespandingly, the Group placed cash collateral of
AED 7.800.1 million (2019: AED 12,9155 miflon) against the negathve fair value of derivative llabfities.

Derivative related credit risk

This is lemited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. These transactions are primarily
entered with banks and financlal institutions.

Derivatives held for trading
The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its exposure to foreign currency,
interest rate and credit risks or initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movement in prices,

rates or indices. The instruments used mainky include interest rate and currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair
values of those derivatives are shown in the table abowve,

Derivatives held as fair value hedge

The Group uses derivative finandal instrurments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability managément
strategy by taking offsetting positions in order to reduce its own expasune to fluctuations in exchange and interest rates.
Thie Group e interest rate swaps to hed ge against the changes in fair value arising from specifically identified interest
bearing assets such as loans and advances, non-trading Investments, term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group
uses forward farelgn exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identifiad currency risks.
Derivatives held as cash flow hedge

Thie Groug usrs forward contracts ta hedga the fareign currency fitk aridng from it financial inatrumants, The Graup
has substantially matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge relationshig.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a7 Segmental information

The operating structure consists of four key Business sepments across Geographic segments that are driving the business
strabegy, customer valee propositions, products and channel developmeant and customer relationships in addition to
supparting the delivery of the Group's financial performance,

Business segments

Corporate & Investment Banking (“CIB™)

Covers corporabe, institutonal and SME clients through dedicated client segments [Corporate Banking, Institutional
Banking, Commerdial Banking, Privileged Clients Groups, Financial Institutions and Business Banking Group). CIB offers
Credit facilities, Global Transaction Services, Corporate Finance, Islamic Finance and Global Markets products to both
UAE and international clients,

CIB abko includes a diversified business model supported by complementary offerings provided across real estate,
DO pEry Managerment services through subsidiaries partially or fully owned by the Group, namely FAB Properties, ADNP
and Mismak.

Persenal Banking Group ("PBG™)

The business targets retail, affluent, high net-worth customers and Blamic consumer finance. The products’ ranges
offered include every day banking products such as current accounts, deposits, credit cards, loans, sophisticated
invEstmant solutions and brokerage and securities sendices. The business furnihes variety of distribution and sales
channels, including mobile and intermet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its banking subsidiaries
narmily Dubsai First, Azsi] and First Abu Dhabi Blamic Firande and FAB securities,

Subsidiaries
This business covers a subsidiary which is partially owned by the Bank, namely First Gulf Libyan Bank,

Hiad office

Thie Group provides centralized human resources, information technology, operations, finance, stratiegy, invstor
relations, risk management, credit management, corporate communications, legal & compliance, internal awdic,
procurement, treasury operations and administrative support to all of its business units.

Geographic segments
The Group i% managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and representative
officers within the two defined geographic segments which are UAE and International, International business is further
sub-divided into twa major regions which are Europe, Americas, Middle East and Africa ("EAMEA”) and Asia Pacific
{"APAL").
=  Europe, Americas, Middle East and Africa [EAMEA)
FAB network in the EAMEA region ks operated through its presence in United States of America, Brazil, Unived
Kingdom, Framce, Switzerland, Oman, Bahrain, Qatar, Egypt. Sudan, Kuwalkt, Lebanon, Jordan, and Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia.

+  Asia Paclfic [APAC)
FAB"s business in the Asia region is run through its presence in Singapore, China/Hong kong, Malaysia and India.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

k) Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit fior the year after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes payment by
thi weighted average number of ordinary shares in ssue during the year a5 58t out balow:;

2020 2019
Basic garnings per share:
Net profit for the year [AEDDO) 10,555,229 12,520,203
Less: payment on Tier 1 capital notes [AED 000} {426,253) [571,855)
Net profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AED000) 10,128,976 11948348
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Number of shares issued [ deemed to be outstanding
fram the beginning of the year [000) 10,901,136 10872015
Welghted average number of shares exercised
under the share aptians seheme ['000) 4,554 23,697
Weighted average number of ardinary shares ['000) 10,905,600 10,835,707
N —
Basic earnings per share (AED) 0.93 1.10
=1 ———
Dikted earnings per share:
Net profit for the year for calculating diluted earnings per share (AED'0D0) 10,128,976 11948348
Weighted average number of ardinary shares ['000) 10, 905,690 10,855,707
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under share options scheme ("000] 1,172 3,ETS
Weighted average number of ardinary shares in issue for
diuted earnings per share ("000) 10,906,862  10.855.582
Diksted earnings per share (AED) 0,93 1.10
— —

7B
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

39 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
owirt the other party in making financial or operational decitions. Related parties comprise major shareholder, directors
and key management personnel of the Group, Key management personnel comprise those executive committee
members “EXCO" of the Group who are invalved in the strategic planning and decision making of the Group. The terms
of these transactions are approved by the Group®s management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors
of Management.

020 2018
Major Senior

BOD shareholders management Total Tokal
AED 00D AED'D00 AEDFDDD AED'000 AED D00

Balonces with related parties ot the reparting date are shown below:
Financial assets 10,900,278 62,692,025 16,111 73608414 50,375,990
Financial liabilities 33,528,213 31,574 675 27,887 65,130,775 44,841,529
Contingent Habilities 3,015,537 16,660,432 - 19,675,968 12977634
I L ————— ] I I —_—

Transactions camled out during the year ended with related porties are shown below:

2020 2019

Interest & Other income 803,582 1,760,949 331 2,564,862 1,849,534

Interest expense B46,065 94,070 433 740,568 583,033

The details of the key management personnel remuneration is as balow:

2020 2019

AED'DO0 AEDT 000

Salaries and other benefits 53,026 54,752
S

No ECL has been charged during the year on the related party balances.
40 Fiduciary activities
The Group held assets under management in trust or in a fidudary capacity for its customers at 31 December 2020
amounting to AED 6,786.1 rillkon (2019 AED 7,512.8 millon). Furthermaore, the Group provides custadian sendces for

same of it customers.

The underlying assets held in a custadial or fiduciary capacity are excluded from these consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

78
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

41 Special Purpose Entity

Thie Group has creaved 3 Special Purpose Entity [SPE) with defined objectives to carry on fund management and
investment activitien on behalf of customars, Thi equity and investments managed by the SPE are not contralled by the
Group and the Group does not obtain benefits from the SPE operations, apart from commissions and fee income. In
addithan, the Group does not provide any guarantees or assume any liabilities of these entities. Consequently, the SPE
assets, liabilities and results of operations are not induded in these consolidated financial statements of the Group. The

SPE is as follows:
Country of Halding
Legal name Activities incorporation 2020
One share PLC Inviestrvient Company R public of Ireland 1005

a2 Use of estimates and judgements

In the pracess of applying the Group's accounting policles, IFRS reguire the management to select suitable accounting
policies, apply them consistenthy and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and would result
in relevant and rekabde information. The management, based on guidance in IFRS and the 1AS8's Framework for the
Preparation and Presentatien of Financial Statements has made these estimates and judgements. Listed below are those
estimates and judgement which could have the mast significant effect an the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
{a) Goingconcern

The Group's management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue a5 a going concern and is satisfied
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management i nat
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefare, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basts.

{b)  Impairment charge en financial assets

Impairment losses are avaluated as described in accounting palicy 3{c){vii).

The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 acrass all categories of financial assets requires judgerment,
in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairmeant bosses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of
factors, changes inwhich can result in different bevels of allowances,

The Bank™s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the
choice of variable inputs and their interde pendencies, Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting
judge ments and estimates include:

The Group's Internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades

®  The Group's criveria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in cred® risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative assessment
The segmentation of financial assats when thedr ECL is assessed on a collective basis
Development of ECL models, including the various farmulas and the chobce of inputs
Determination of astociations between macrostonomic scenarios and, sconomic mputs, such s
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on POs, EADS and LGDs

®»  Galection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probabdity weightings, to derive the
BCOnAMmic inputs inta the ECL models

It is the Group's palicy to regularly review its models in the contest of actual kess experience and adjust when necessary.

ED
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

a2 Use of estimates and judgements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty [continued)

{e)  Impairment charge on property and equipment
Impairmeant losses are evaluated as described in accounting palicy note 3(1)().
In determining the net realsable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer
companies, having appropriate recognised professional qualfications and recent experience |n the location and category of

property being valued. The selling prices are based en market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could
be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's length transaction.

{d] Contingent Lability arising from litigations
Due to the nature of its oparations, the Group may be imvolved in litigations arsing in the ordinary course of business, Provision
for contingent liabilities ansing from litigations is based on the probability of outflow of economic resources and reliability of

estimating such outflow. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and the outcome of indhidual matters i not
predictable with assurance.

{e}  Share option scheme

The fair value of the share eption scheme is determined using the Black-5choles medel. The maoded inputs comprise of share
price, exercise price, share price volatility, contractual lfe of the option, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate.

{f) Valuation of financial instruments

The valuation techniques of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by the
management. Thete are discustad in detail in note 44,

{E) Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined beneflit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis
using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost{income) for abligations include the discount
rate. Any changes in these assumpthons would impact the carrging amount of the defined benefit obligation.

The Group determines the appropriate discownt rate at the end of each year. This b the interest rabe that should be used to
determing the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future ablipations. In
determining the appropriste discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high quality corporate bonds that are
denorminated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity approxmating the terms
of related benefit obligation.

Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based im part on current market conditions, Additional information
on these aisumptions i discloded in note 20,

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies include:
(k)  Financial asset and liability classification

The Group's accounting palicies provide scope for financial assets and labilities vo be designated on inception into different
ACCOUNEING cADERarses in certain circumstances. The classification criteria is mentioned in palicy 3(c) (ii).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

42 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(i} Qualifying hedge relationships

In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the hedge to
be highly effective ower the life of the hedging relationship.

() Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
Thee Group's determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments is discussed in note 44

{k}  Structured entities

For all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to vote by simple majority to remowve the Group as fund manager,
and the Group’s aggregate economic interest in each fund ks not material. As a result, the Group has concluded that it acts as
an agent for the investors in these funds, and therefore has not consolidated these funds,

{l  Operating segments

In preparation of the segment information disclosure, management has made certain assumptions to arrve at the segment
reparting. These asumptions would be reasested by the management on a periodic basis. Operating segrments are detailed
in note 37,

43 Financial risk managemant
Introduction and overview

Risk management framewaork

The primary objective of the Group ts to manage risk and provide risk adjusted returns to the shareholders in line with the
accepted risk profile. In the course of doing s regular business activities, the Group pets expasad to muRtiphe risks notably
cradit risk, market risk, lquidity and funding risk, mterest rate risk, operational risk and other risks like compliance risk, strategic
risk, reputation risk, infarmation security risk and butiness continuity. A well-sstablished risk governance and ownership
structure ensures oversight and accountabdity of the effective management of risk at the Group, The Risk management tone
Is set right at the top from the Board of Directors (“BOD") and gets implemented thraugh a well-defined risk management
structure and framework,

Composition of Board

The Board of Directors ("BOD") is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Group. The BOD has
delegated authority to spedialist committees who support the Board in execution of its responsibilities. The day-to-day
management of the Group is conducted by the Group Chief Executive Officer ["GCEQ™) and the Group Executive Committee as
delegated by the Board. The BOD has overall responsibilty for the Group including appraoving and owersesing the
implementation of its strategic objectives, risk strategy, corporate governance and corporate values within the agreed
framewark in accordance with relevant statutony and regulatory structures. According to the Group Articles of Association, the
BOD should comprise of eleven members, currently it comprises ten members, a mermber will be considered for election in
2021 General Assembly. Each Director holds his position for three years, which may then be renewed for a further three year
term. The Board of Directors of the Bank's subsidiaries has the same fiduciary responsibilities towards their respective entities
as the Group's Directors hawve towards the Bank.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management (continued)
Corporate Governance Framewaork

The Group has a comprehansive Corporate Governance Framewaork that puts in place rubss, processes and policies through
which BOD and Senior Management manages the Group. The BOD drves the implementation of the cofparate gavernance
standards and in aceordance with its charter has oversight responsibility for the Group's corporate governance framewaork.
The Group’s corporate governance standards bind its signatories to the highest standards of professionalism and due diligence
in the performance of thelr duties. The Group Chief Risk Officer (*GCROT) Is the custodian of the Corporate Governance
Framework documant.

Risk Management Structure

The BOD approves risk management plans for the Bank, its subsidlaries, its assoclates and international offices including
representative offices and overseas branches. Under authorty delegated by the BOD, the Board Rk and Compliance
Committee [“BRCC”) through its separately convened risk management meetings formulates high-level enterprise risk
management policy, exercises delegated risk authorities and oversees the implementation of risk management framewark and
contrals. The GCRO functionally reports ta this Committee,

Board Level Committees within the Group

Board Management Committes (“BMC")

BiAL comprises four members of the BOD, and the GCEQ. BMC oversees execution of the Group's business plan as per the
strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews material aspects of the business of the Group, The Committee meets
quarberly or mare frequently as deemed necessary, The compasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities
are covered in the BMC charter.

Board Risk and Compliance Committee |"BRCCT)

BRCC comprises three members of the BOD, the GCED as a non-voting member and the Group Chief Risk Officer (“"GCROY) as
a permanent attendee, The BRCC provides oversight and advice to the Group Board in relation to current and potential future
risk and compliance exposures of the FAB Group. It also considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including determination
of risk appetite and tolerance a5 well a5 promaote a risk and compliance awareness culture among the Growp. The Committes
mieets quarterly of mofe frequently a4 deimed necessary. The compodiition, guiding principles and detailed roled and
responsibilites are covered in the BRCC charter,

Board Aydit Committee [TRACT

BAC comprises four members of the BOD, the GCED as a non-voting member and the Group Chief Audit Officer ("GCAD") a5 a
parmanent atbendes, BAC ensures oversight of the effectivenass of the internal control systems and the quality and integrity
of financial stavernents and financial reporting. In addition, it reviews, approves and oversees the internal and external audit
pragrams and ensures coordination between internal and external auditors. The GCAD provides reparts to the Committes on
Intermal controls. The Head of Compliance provides reports to the committes on compliance related matters such as fraud and
whistleblowing. The Cormmittee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The composition, gukding principles
and detailed roles and responsibilities are covered inthe BAC charter,

1l nd MNorminati Luil] ] »

REMCO comprises three members of the 80D, the GCEOQ and the Group Chief Human Resources Officer (“GCHRO®) as a
parmanent attendee. REMCO recommends and oversees the appointment and termination of Directors and swcoession
planning for the Group Executive Committee members, This includes an assessmant of the skills, knowledge and expertise
needed to ensure they are positoned to discharge their responsibilities in the interests of the shareholders and FAB Group.
The Committee also reviews and recommends to the Board FAB's reward policy framewaork, approves and oversees reward
design and ensures it is appropriate and consistent with the Group's culture, values, businews performance and risk strategy.
The Commitee meets at least twice a year or more frequently as deemed necessary. The compositien, gulding principles and
detailed roles and responsibilities are coverad in REMCO charter,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framework [continued)
Management Level Committees within the Group

Managermint committises are responsible for implementing the Risk management framework, The major functions of th ten
managemant committees are listed balow;

i i ol
EXCO is FAB Group's maost Senior Management level committee operating under a delegated autharity from the Board. It is

responsible for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the Group Board or Board Committess. The Group
EXCO ako supports the GCEQ to determine and implement the Bank's strategy as approved by the FAB Board,

Thie kéy respansibilies of the Committes include decisions on the Bank's strategy, annual bud pets, capital managerment, risk
management and FAB's more material policies and procedures. The Growp EXCO may delegate certain authorities and powers
o management committees and individuals, but the Group EXCO reserves the autharity to deal with strategy, annual budget
and structure; financial reporting and conbrols; capital management; risk and internal control; contracts; corporate governance
matters; executive remuneration and human rescurces polickes, and group policies generally; general meeting of shareholders
and communication and any other matters in its discretion, EXCO condists of the executive management team and i chaired
by the GCEQ. The composition, guiding principles and detailed rales and responsibilities of EXCO are covered in the EXCO
charter.

rat frvw d i IR

CIBCC assists EXCO in the develapmant and implementation of the Group's Corparate and Irvestment Banking business credin
strategy and policies and procedures. The purpose of the CIBCC is to overtse the credit and lending strategies and objectives
of the Group, including identifying and managing the Group's Corporate and Imestment Banking credit exposures and its
response to trends affecting those exposures. It also assists in reviewing the quality and performance of the Group's credit
portfolia; and overseeing the Corporate and Investment Banking credit function of the Group, including reviewing internal
credit risk and credit polickes and establishing portfolio limits. The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and
responsibilities of CIBCC are covered in the CIBCC charter.

nal Banki i o

PBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of credit strategy for Group's Personal Banking business. The
Committee ensures a holisti overview of the business strategies across the Personal Banking business of the Group. It ensures
a seam|ess coordination across the business to meet customer requirements within the framewaork of the FAB Group strategy.
The Committee oversees the credit and lending strategies, Mentifies and manages business credit strategy and strategic
response to trends affecting the businesses; reviews the quality and performance of the partfolio; and oversees the credit risk
management function including establishing product portfolio Bmits. The compaosition, guiding principles and detailed rokes
and respansibilities of PBCC ari covered in the PBCC Charter.

GRC assists BRCC and EXCO in overseeing Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an
effective manner, The committee defines, develops and pericdically manitors the Group's risk appetite aleng with its related
methodology, parameters, targets and tolerances taking into account the Bank's strategy and business planning. The GRC
reports relevant matters to the Group EXCQ, and as appropriate to the BRCC, advising and Infarming thern as required on the
Group's risk appetite and framework. The composition, gukding principhes and detailed roles and responsibilities of GRC are
covered |n the GRC charter.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framework [continued)
Management Level Committees within the Group fcontinued)

Group Complance Comemittee [*GCC”

GCC assists EXCO in fulfilling its abjective of aversesing the Bank's regulatory respontubilities as well a3 ensuring the Bank's
complance with the applicable laws and regulations issued by various regulatory authorities across the Group. The Committes
also oversees that the relevant policies and procedures, including, but not limited to the Group Code of Ethics are compled
with across the Group, The GCC reports relevant matters to the Group EXOOD, and as appropriate to the BROC, advising and
infarming them as required on the Group’s compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The composition, gukding
principas and detailed robas and responsibilities of GOC are covared in the GCC charter,

Group Asset Liability Management Committes [“"GALCO™)

G-ALCO ks the driving force and key decision maker behind the structure and quality of the balance sheet. G-ALCD is directly
accountalble to the BROC for ensuring that the risks within the Group Asset and Liability position are prudently managed by
wiay of strong Group policy and procedures and an appropriate risk framework. The G-ALOD must be constantly awarne of and
actively manage these risks and their patential impact on the Bank's business and strategic objectives. The compositian, guiding
principles and detalled rokes and responsibilities of G-ALCO are cowered in the G-ALCO charter.

han ri “H

HREC assists the EXCO and the REMCO in fulfilling its duties with regard to implementing strategic a5 well s aperational HR
Initiatives in order to deliver long term value. It provides a forum to discuss and approve HR Initiatives and policies to ensure
that the needs of the organization from an employee perspective are considered and changes, as necessary, are approved or
are submitbed fior approval to the relevant gowernance body. The Committes is the formal sponsor of all material HR initiatives
across FAB in line with s Employee Value Proposition ["EVPY). The compasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and
responsibilities of HRSC are covered in the HRSC chartar,

Group Operational Risk Committes {"GORC")

GORC assists the EXCO, the BRCC and the GRC in fulfilling their abjectives of overseeing the Bank's Operational and Technology
Risk Management. The responsibilities include defining guidelines to identify and manage Operational and technobogy risks in
all new products, processes and activitias, The composition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of GORC
are coviered in the GORC charter,
Infar i r il i

The ISC assists the EXCO, the BROC and the GRE in fulfilling their objectives of overseaing, reviewing and taking decisions an
the implementation of FAB's security controls to ensure that infarmation assets of the Bank are adequately protected, setting
the tane for enhancing the Bank’s capabibties on matters relating to information security and information security aspects
including, Security Program Management, Infarmation Security Rick Management, Cybersecurity, Security Governance, Policy
Managérmient, Security Architetture, Security Awareness, Securty Monitering, Data Protection, International Security
Campliance, Business Continuity Management and |dentity & Access Management at the Bank in alignment with the principles
of Enterprise Risk Managament. The compasition, guiding principles and detailed rokes and responsibilities of I5C are covered
in the 15C charter,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framework [continued)
Management Level Committess within the Group fcontinued)
Group Technology Stearing Committes [“GTSC"

The GTSC assists i fulfilling EXCO's corporate governance and oversight responsibilities of all technology and infarmation
systerns achoss the FAB Group and supports the work of the Board Risk and Compliance Committes (“BRCC" ) in its oversight of
the Group IT governance framework, The GTSC will make recommendations to EXCO regarding significant technokegy
investments in suppaort of the Group's strategy, Thie GTSC ensures alignment of businews strategies with technology priorities
and acts to pratect and enhance the shareholder's investment in technology. The compasition, guiding principles and detatled
roles and responsibilties of GTSC are covered in the GTSC chartar.

Group Risk Management

The Group has a centralized Risk Management functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Managemant functich comprises Enterprise
Risk, Credit Risk, Operational Risk, Fraud Risk and Investigations, Market and Liquidity Risk Management Unit, Infarmation
Security and Business Continuity Management unit and Corporate Governance function.

Erterprise Risk Management Policy Framewark

FABR" Enterprise Risk Managemant Policy | “ERMPT] framework aims to accamplish its core values and purpose of being a world
class organization maximizing its risk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk managemant
framework across FAB including local and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign representative offices.
Core objective of ERMF ks to provide a reasonable degree of assurance to the BOD that the fsks threatening FAB's achievemeant
of its core purpose are being identified, measured, monitored and controlled through an effective integrated risk management
systern, The ERMP framework consists of specific policy documents covering all material risks across FAB; which include ERM
policy, Risk Appetite Policy, Corporate and Investrent Banking Credit Policy, Persanal Banking Credit Polioy, IFRS 9 Impairment
Policy, Market and Liquidity Risk related policies, Operational Risk Management Policy, Fraud Risk Policy, Compliance Risk
relabed policies, Infarrmation Security risk related pelicies, BOM Paliey, Internal Capital Adeguacy Adsewmant Pracess [ICAAPY)
Paticy, New Products Approval pelicy, Qutsourcing Policy, Model Risk Management Polcy, Strategic Risk Manage ment Policy,
Reputational Risk Managament Policy, Corporate Governance Framework etc. In addition to these rsk management policies,
the Group has also put in place detailed operational policies, procedures and programs wherever nesded.

FAB manages risks using three lines of defense comprising of business units and enabling functions, contral units and Internal
Audit. Business units and enabling functions, as the first line of defense, identify and manage risk in thair day-to-day activities
by ensuring that activities are within the Group's risk appetite and are in compllance with all relevant internal policles and
processes, Group Credit, Group Risk and Legal and Group Campliance, as the second line of defense, establishes risk controk
comprising of policies and processes while ako providing oversight and independent challenge to the first line of defense. The
Group Chief Risk Officer ("GCRO") has a direct reporting line to the BRCC to ensure the independence of Group Risk from
business. Internal audit, as the third line of defense, providies assurance to management and the Board of the effectiveness of
risk management practices emplayed by the first two lines of defenie. The Group Chiel Audit Officer has a direct reparting line
o the Board Audit Committea.

{aj  Credit risk
Credit risk ks the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual ebligations and cause the
Group to Incur a finandial loss. It arises principally from the Group’s loans and adwances, due from banks and financial

instititions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt investrents, derivative financial instruments and certain
other assets.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management (continued]
fal  Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk

Crandit risk identification and assessment at FAB Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising
three levels of defense. The first level of defense bes with the business units and i responsible far maintaining a sound
cridit quality of Assets in ling with the approved business strategy and credit risk appetite. The second level of defense
is with the Group Credit Unit that assesses the risk on a custorner and facility level and ensures proper documentation
of customer, facility and security documents along with Group Rsk management unit that assesses credit risk on a
partfolic basis and maintains credit risk policies and credit risk rating modek up to date. Internal Audit acts as a third
level of defense with regular rewiews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with policies and
procedures of the Group. The unit ako reviews the policy documents an a regular basis.

As a part of credit risk monitoring and contral framewark, regular risk monitoring at both individual and partfalio levels
Is carried out along several parameters which include credit quality, provisioning levels, exposure limits across several
dimensions, financial and eperating performance, account conduct, end use of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants,
adherence to financlal and nen-financial covenants, recovery perfarmance, rating system performance among others,

The Group has set up a framework for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an exposure, at
Facility level, by a safety nét of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees/ insurance,
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM] include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, caedit derhvatives and
Stand by Letter of Credit (SBLC). The Group ensures that all decumentation used in collateralized transactions and far
decumenting en and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral Is binding on all parties and
s legally enfarceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents are reviewed by
appropriate autharity and have appropriate legal epinions to verfy and ensure its enforceability.

COVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss {ECL)

On 11 March 2020, the Waorld Health Organization ("WHO") afficially declared COVID-18 a global pandemic. In light of
the raphd spread of COVID-19 acrass the globe, various economies and sectors have faced significant disruptions and
uncertainty and governments and authorities have instigated a host of measures to contain or delay the spread of the
wirus,

On 27 March 2020, the 1ASE issued a guidance note, advising that both the assessment of Significant Increase in Credit
risk [“SICR™) a5 explained below in thi note 43 (a) and the measurement of Expected Credit Losses [ECLs) are required
o be based on reasonable and supportable information that s avallable to an entity withowt undue cost or effort. In
assessing forecast conditions, consideration should be given both to the effects of COVID-19 and the significant
Fovernment support measures being undertaken. It is difficult at this time to incorporate the specific effects of COVID-
19 and government support measures on a reasonable and supportable basis.

In line with other global regulators, the Central Bank of the UAE, under the Targeted Economic Suppeort Scheme [*TESS"),
has facilizaved the provision of ternparary relief from the payments of principal and/or interest [ profit on outstanding
laans for all affected private sector corporates, SMEs and individuals with specific conditions, Additionally, the program
seeks to facilitate additional lending and liquidity capacity of banks, through the relief of exsting capital and liquidity
buffers, which have been further elaborated on in the sections below.

A key element in determining the ECL is the assassmant of whether a SICR has occurred or not, and hence whether a
lifetime Probability of Default (PD) or a 12-month PD s applied. UAE government™s suppor measures including the
Central Bank's TESS program, have been caondidered far SICR assessment which include both guantitative and qualitative
criterta and are subject to management judgment due to the rapldhy-changing dynamics of COVID-19.The Group
continues to clasely monor the impact of COVID-19 on the Bank's partfalia.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management {continued)
fal  Credit risk (continued)
COWVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss {ECL) {continued)

In addition to the management of credit risk described above, the Bank has undertaken preemptive measwres in
response to the COVID-19 outbreak. These include sipnificantly reduced underwriting to companies in affectied sactors;
payment halidays on a case by case basis in the Private sector and SME segmient, in line with CBUAE relief program and
depending on their underlying credit assessment.

Further, the Group has undertaken comprehensive review of its clients which are susceptible to macroeconomic and
accordingly hawve taken preemptive action identifying clients benefitting wnder TESS under two main categories as
required by Central bank:

Group 1: are the custamens who are not expected to face substantial change in their ereditworthiness beyond liquidity
Haue caused by the COVID-19 crisis,

The clients in this sub segment could erginally be in Stage 1 or in Stage 2, prior to being subject vo deferrals. These
clients are expected to remain in their original stage as long as the pandemic has an effect on their business, unless
factors unrelated te Covid-19 trigger a credit deterioration. Thesa accounts are not considered to hawve significant
deterioration in credit quality to trigeer a stage migration and the staging maybe retained at the same level.

Group 2: customers that are significantly expected to be impacted by OOVID-19.

Chients in this sub segment could originally be in Stage 1 or in Stage 2, prior to being subject to deferrals. This sub
sepgment includes borrowers for which the credit deterioration is more significant and prolonged, ranging beyond
liquidity issues, with an extended recovery period. For these customers, the deterioration in credit risk maybe so
significant that it may tripger a migration to stage 2 in the month foBowing the one that deferrals are processed. In
exceptional circumstances the migration to Stage 3 would be triggered due to liquidation / bankruptcy caused by nons
financial events or significant disruptions threatening the long-term sustainability of clients” business models,

Thie Grauping of the dient is based on 4 combination of quantivative anabysis and judgmental approach based on subject
matter expart views within the Bank.

Macro economic factors
Thee bank uses a range of macro-sconamic factors in ECL assessment relevant to multiple jurisdictions of operations
which are disclosed in the subsequent notes to this section. The bank periodically reviews and vpdates selecoad

economic series and applies judgment in determining what constitutes reasonable and forward-looking estimates.

To reflect the current uncertain economic envirenment, the Group has updated its macro-ecoromic forecast accordingly
and taken the impact arising on the ECL calculation and hence management overlays were not required,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)
43 Financial risk management {continued)]
fal  Credit risk (continued)
COWVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss {ECL) {continued)

Clients benefiting from deferrals under Target Economic Support Scheme [TESS) & non-TESS by Segment:

Table 1: Deferrals information as at 31" December 2020,

Payrment Expasure at Impairment
Segment Stage Group deferrals Default allowance
AED'000 AED000 AED00D
Retail banking Stage 1 Group 1 B4 ATE 1,744,328 27,929
Group 2 973 25931 827
Stage 2 Group 1 10,381 138,240 960
Group 2 6,459 133,951 1,899
Total 82,239 2,042,450 31,615
S _— e
Wholesale banking Stage 1 Group 1 3,283,608 35,438,907 185,942
Stage I Group 1 12,732 167,635 1,130
Group 2 BE1,001 4,795,853 715401
Stage 3 Group 2 6,758 21,725 5,059
Total 4,174,099 40,424,120 1,007,532
. ] I

Table I: ECL change (flow] since beginning of year to date

Noan-credit impained Credit impaired
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stape 3 Tatal
AEDDOO AED'000 AED'DDO AED DOD
Retail banking

ECL allowance as of start of the year 26,757 B 479 BES 35,901
Credit card 128 a3 . 177
Housing loan 93 A4 - 137
Personal kean 4,073 {1,422) {6E5) 1,992
Auto loan 924 z4] . 900
Qthears (3,235) [4,257]) - (7.492)
ECL aliowance a5 of end of the year 28,756 2,859 - 31,615
_—— —_—— — —_——
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

43 Financial risk management (continued]
fa) Credit risk (continued]
COWVID-19 and Expected Credit Loss {ECL) {continued)

Clients benefiting from deferrals under Target Economic Support Scheme [TESS) & non-TESS by Segment [continued):

Non-credit impaired Credit impaired
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
AEDDO0 AED'000 AED'DO0 AEDY 000
Wholesale banking
ECL allvwance az of start of the year 117,432 561,440 328 GH2, 000
Emirates government {104] {571} . {675]
GRE |Gowt. ownership =50%) {1,607] - - {1,607)
Other Corporates 161,224 157,520 {1,589) 317,155
High net worth Individuals {112} - - {112}
SMEs 5,109 {1.858) 3,430 10,681
ECL allowance as of end of the year 185,942 716,531 5,059 1,007,532

an
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fcontinued)

a3
(al

Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality analysis

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amartised cost, and
VOO debt inwestrments without taking into account collateral of other credit enhancemant. Unless specifically

indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. Far lean commitments and
financial guarantes contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.

a2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
43 Financial risk management [continued)
{a)  Credit risk feontinued)
Credit quality analysis [continued]

Classification af investrments a5 per their external retings:

Non-trading investments Investments at fair value
through profit or loss

2020 2014 2020 2018

AED'DO0 AED'DOD AED'DOO AECTDD0

o119 19,851,021 16,237, 301 565,421 4,076
A oA B1,811,445 71,921,751 10,291,770 9,030,149
BEBtoB 26,047 880 21,514,326 6,648,558 6,577,622
COC and below 77,676 - - -
Unrated 3,786,085 4,972,064 3,760,454 AA87.334

131,574,107 114,645,442 21,266,243 20,099,181
Less; expacted credit losses {345 {1,020) - n

131,573,762 114,544,422 21,266,243 20,099,181

Unrated investmants primarily consist of investments in Private equity funds and investrmants in equity which doesn't
carry credit risk, Investmeants at fair value through profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired,

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

The Group has set up a framewark for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an expasure, at
facility bevel, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees) irdurance.
The types of Credit fisk Mitigation |“CRM™) indude netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derfvatives and
Stand by Letters of Credits (“5BLC"). The Group ensures that all documentation used in collateralized transactions amd
for documenting on and off-balance sheat netting, guarantees, credit derivatives and collateral is kinding on all parties
and is egally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents are reviewed by the
appropriate authority and have appropriate legal opinions to verify and ensure it enforceability,

The Group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. An estimate of the
collateral coverage [after the application of haircuts} against net credit-impaired loans and advances is shawn below:

2020 2019
AEDO0D AEDDOD

Collateral vakue cover
0 - 50% 10,025,681 B,069, 457
51 - 1005 4,199,749 3,861,786
Above 1005 1,619,624 1,538,753
Tatal net credit Impalred loans 15,845,054 13,529,996

The Group’s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The Group does not generally
use the non-cash collateral for its own operations.

‘While the Group might not have repossested significant amount of collateral in 2009 and 2020, maintaining repossessan
rights asaist the Group in the restructuring and settlemant of credit-impaired loans.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

43 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk (continued)
Derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities borrowing

The Group mitigates the credit risk of derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreements and securities lending by
entering into master netting agreements and holding collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities.

Deriwative transactions are transacted on exchanges, with clearing counterparties ["CCPs™) or entered into under
Intérnational Swaps and Derivathves Addociation (I5DA) master agresménts In general, under these agreemants, in
certain circumstances — a8, when a credit event such as a default occurs — all cutstanding transactions urder the
agrearment with the counterparty are terminated, the termination value is assessed as per the jurisdiction netting rubes
and the amount (due or payable) in setthement with the counterparty. The Group useally execubes a credit support annex
In conjunction with the 1504 agreement, which requires the Group and its counterparties o post collateral to mitigate
counterparty credit risk. Collateral i also posted daily in respect of derivatives transacted on exchanges and with CCPs.

The Growp’s sale-and-repurchase, and reverse sale-and-repurchase, transactions and securities borrowing and lending
ane covirred by mastier agresmants with netting tarms similar to thase of ISDA master netting agreemaents,

Loans and advances to customers

The general credit worthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicater of credit quality of a lsan
extended to It However, collateral provides additbonal security and the Group generally requests that corporate
borrowers provide it. The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating charges over

all corporate assets and other liens and guarantess,

Because of the Group's focus on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, valuation of property collateral are conducted
ance In two years and more frequently for credit-impaired assets.

Amounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and technigues used for estimating impalrment

See accounting policy 3(c)(vii).

Significant increage n credit risk

‘When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable infarmation that is relevant and available without endue
cost ar effore. This includes both quantitative and gualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s histarical

experience and expert credit assessment and including farward-looking information,

For non-retail exposure, objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has
occurted for an exposure by comparing:

= Probability of default at erigination adjusted fior the kan maturity
Probability of default at current reporting date adjusted for the remaining life of the loan

Similarly, for retall portfolio, the current and historical performance of the account ks used estimate whether a significant
Increase in credit risk has occurred.

The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors
linked to the Group's credit itk management processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative
anabysis on a timely basis, These assessments usually reflects in placement of such exposures under cirtain categors,
far example watch list. Inthese cases, PD gets calculated on lifetime basis.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a3

{a)

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Amounts arlsing from ECL {continued)
Slgnificant increase In credit rlsk (continwed)

If there is avidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk ralative to initial recognition, then the loss
allowance on an instrument returns to being measured based on 12-month PO, Some qualitative indicators.of an increase
in crisdit risk, such as delinguency of forbkarance, may be indicative of an incréased risk of default that persists after the
indicator itself has ceased to exist, In these cases, the Group determines a probation perod during which the financial
asset B required o demonstrate good behavior to provide evidence that its cred® risk has declined sufficiently. The
Group i also complying with all probation period requirements in relevant jurisdictions stipulated by local central banks.

In addition to the gquantitative test based on movement of PD, the Group also applies expert aredit judgement to
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results,

Crisdit risk rating

The Group allocates each Corparate exposure a credit risk rating based on vanety of data that is determined ta be
predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk ratings are defined using
qualitatiee and guantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of
the exposure and the type of borrower.

Cradit risk ratings are defined and calibrated swch that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit
risk deterioraties down the cune.,

Each exposure & allocated to a credit risk rating on initial recognition based on avallable information about the bosrower.
Expasures ane subject to angoing monitomnng, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credic risk
rating.

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

= For non-retail segment, a default shall be considered to have occurred with regard to a particular obligor
when FAB Group considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to itself in full, without
recaurse by it to actions such as realizing security [if hald).

Some off balance sheet exposunes such as bank guarantees, leters of credit etc. should be treated as
impaired if the bank baBeves it is likely they will be called upon and the customer will not be able to maat
these commitments. Where the off balance sheet exposure Is in the form of a Global Market contracts and
there is doubt that all contractual future cash flows will be receved from the counterparty, the bank should
assess the net marked to market exposure to the counterparty taking into account any enforceable netting
arrangements in place. The net position (if due fram) thus arrived will be considered impaired.

#  Far retal, a facility ar any material credit obligation to the Group |s more than 90 days past due;
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to

reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory
capital purposes (see 43(e)).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

43 Financial risk management [continued)
{a)  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arlsing from ECL [continued)

Incorporation of forward-looking Irformation

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an
instrumint kas increadsed dpnificantly since it initial recognition and the measu rement of ECL

The Greup farmulates three aconomic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 408 probability
af eccurring, and two less likely soenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 30% probability of occurring.
External information considered includes econamic data and forecasts published by povernmental bodies and monstary
authorities in the countries where the Group operates, supranational organisations sech as the QECD and the
International Monetary Fund, and selected private-sectar and academic forecasters.

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolic of financial
instrumaents and, using an anabysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-sconomic variables and

cradit risk and credit losses,
The ecanomic scenarios used as at 31 December 2020 included the fallowing key indicators for the years ending 31
December 3021 to 2025,
Macra
Region Variahle'* Scenario Fier ) Fatirird 03 Z024 2035
Basp 17.25% 16.31% 4 18% 1L.72% L.12%
Ol Price Upside A0.ATR 14900 3.02% 2.66% 1.12%
Downside -51L32% BLE 24, 36% 944 G653
3 B G04% S.04% 5.76% 4.03% 4.90%
::f"!“"'“ upsde 32 59% 34.56% a74% 0.01% 102%
Dawnside -31.55% 2A5% 1.35% 4.55% S
WENA Base 4. 26% G.79% 6.3E% G.26% G063
Egypt GDP Upside THTE 6.36% 5.00% G18% GOGE%
Downside N52% TARN T A6, 6.53% 6AIH
Base 1EA5% 1392% 10.62% B0 9.07%
;:mlm Upside IT02% 13 64% 10.83% 4.34% 9 21%
[ 21.84% 19.31% 12,734 451% 5.35%
Base 2% 3.17% 3A5% 1.66% La3%
UK GOP Upside 5.30% 4.96% 53 1L61% 1.39%
UK Downside 0, 75% 5.26% 335 1.75% 163%
UK ety Base 10.56% 392% 455% 171% 3.33%
s Upside 2LT1% D0aE 1.35% 1.E4% 1a1%
DBawrside 51T 10675 S0 4.66% 111%

{1] Regeesenils the awerape snesaliced iecrease [ decease oyer the period,
1) Tharre are sdditional macro vaniables factoss uned for athe regiona which are refevant o thes makel

Madified financlal assets

The contractual terms of a boan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions,
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An
existing loan whase terms have been madified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan
at fair walue in accordance with the accounting palicy set out in Note 3[cilivl.

‘When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification dees not result in derecognition, the
determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

® s pemaining lifetime PO at the reperting date based on the modified terms; with

®  the remaining lifetime P estimated based on data on initial recegnition and the original contractual terms,

48
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

43 Financial risk management (continued)
{a})  Credit risk fcontinued)
Amaunts arlsing fram ECL [cantinued)
Muodified financlal assets (continued)

The Group renegotiates loans to customears in financial difficulties [referred to as forbearance activities') bo maximise
collection opportunities and minimbe the risk of default. Under the Group's forbearance policy, loan forbearance is
grantied on 3 elictivie basis if thee debtor 13 currently in default on its debt of if there is a high risk of default, there is
evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is
expected b be able to meet the revised terms

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the
terms of loan covenants. Both retall and corporate loans are subject to the forbearance policy. The Group Credit
Committea regularly reviews reparts on forbearance activities,

For financial assets modified as part of the Group's forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the
modification has improved or restored the Group™s ability to collect interest and principal and the Group's previous
experience of smilar forbearance action. As part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower's payment
perfarmance against the modified contractual terms and considers variows behavioural indicators,

Generally, forbearance ks a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance
may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (see Note 3[cl(vil)). A customer needs to demonstrate
consistently good payment behavior over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-
impained/in default

Loans with renegotiated terms

Laans with renegotisted terms are kaans that have been restroctured due to deterioration in the barrower's financial
pasition and where the Group has made material concessions that it would not othenwise corsider. Gnce a loan ks
restructured, it remains in this category for a minimum period of twelve months, in order to establish satisfactory track
record of performance under the restructuring agreement. The Group determines the twelse-month period to
commence from the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring. As at the reporting date, the Group has
renegotiated the following expesures:

2020 2019
AEDD00 AEDDDD

Loans with renegotiated terms
Gross carrying amount 11,465,052 11,323,570
Impaired amount 2841473 2,743,663
_— —_—
Allswance for impairment 2,889, 749 2,976,105
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

43 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk (continued)
Meazurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are:

+  probability of default (FD);
®  |oss given default [LGD); and
»  exposure at default (EAD].

The Lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a
portfolio throughout the remaining Iife of the loans. The maturity profile ks based on historical cbserved data,

LGD is the magnitude of the likely koss if there i5 a default. The Group estimates LGD berm structure based on curment
collateral, counterparty industry, country of risk and recovery costs that Is integral to the financial asset. LGD estimates
are recalibrated for different econamic scemarios incorparating the impact of change in o prices, equity index and ather
parameters.

EAD represents the expected exposure at the time of default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to
the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contractual obligations  For undrawn
eommitiments and unfunded facilities such as better of eredit and letter of guarantiess, EAD repdesents the amount of
exposure when the facility becomes payable and the funded conversion is based on factors provided by Basel,

Hawever, for eredit card facilities that include bath & loan and an undrawn commitrment component, the Group meiiures
ECL over contractual pericd and EAD ts computed using internal model .Though the Group can cancel the imits with
immediate effect but this contractual right Is not enforced in the normal day-te-day managerment, but only when the
Group becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level.

Modelling of a parameter is carried cut on a collective basis wherain the financial instruments are grouped on the basis
of shared risk characteristics that include:

Instrurment type;
= histerical performance;
»  industry; and

»  geagraphic location of the borrower.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately
homogeneous.

100
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

43 Financial risk management (continued)
{a) Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arlsing from ECL {continued)
Loss allowance {continued)
The following tables show recondliations from the opaning to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of

financial instrument. The basis for determining transfers due to changes in credit risk is set out in the Group's accounting
policy; i Note 3[c)(wi).

Purchased
criedit 2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Tatal

AED'DOD AED'DO0D AEDDOO AED'DDD AEDD00

T 2203599 3488863 4865931 1478975 12,057,368

Transfers:

Transfar from Stage 1 to Stape 2 (75.265) 75,263 . - =
Transfer fram Stage 1 to Stage 3 160,345 2 it b =

Transfer fram Stage 2 to Stage 1 152,032 {152,032) - - =
Transfar fram 5tage I to Stage 3 - {507,951) 507,951 - =
Transfer fram Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 243,199 {243,199) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 18,232 z {18,233) -

34,051 {341,519] 307 468 - -
Impact of change in provision 913,751 302,739 2,235,884 {679,344) 2,763,030

Write-offs and other adjustrments {475] {3,709 (1,110,393]  (104,157] (1,218,734)

3,150,926 3445374  6,308.830 695474 13,601,664

LOn certain assets included as part of other assets, ECL s computed based on simplified approach and reported as part
aof stage 1

1m
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a3 Financial risk management (continued)
{a)  Credit rsk (continued)
Amounts arlsing from ECL (continued)

Lass allowance [continued)

Purchased

credit 2019

Stage 1° Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Tatal

BED'DDD BED'DOD AEDDOD AEDDOO AECTODD

Beginning of the year 1,838,329 4,481,031 4,819,715 1,630,135 12,769,210

Transfers:

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 1154,401) 154,401 - -
Transfer from 5tage 1 to Stage 3 (53,4700 - 53,470 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 151,137 {151,137} - -

Tranafer frarm Stage 2 Lo Stage 3 - (1,142,873} 1,142,873 . .
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 197 841 {197,841} -
Tranafer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 46,493 - [A6,493) -

110,241) {941,768} 952,009 - -

Impact of change in pravision 376,231 (40,094} 1,604,096 [54,495) LEBES, 738

‘Write-offs and other adjustments 720 (1030} (2,489 B83) [96,665) [2,507,580)

2,203,598 3,488,863 4,885,931 1478875 12,057,368

Y0n cartain assets incleded a5 part of other assets, ECL s computed based on simplified approach and reported as part
of stage 1.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a3 Financial risk management (continued)
{a)  Credit Ask (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the maximum éxpodure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheat, including

darivatives, The maximum exposure i shown gross, befare the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting
and eollateral agreements.

Gross Gross

maxirmum maximum

EXpOSUTE BApOSUTe

2020 2018

Mata AED'DDD AEDDOD

Balances with Central Bank 4 226,075,792 167,863,667

Invesbments at falr value through profit or loss 5 19,393,786 17,385,250

Due from banks and financial institutions & 27,430,792 17,074,471

Revarie repurchase agreements 7 44,088,756 24,678,789

Loans and advances 8 403,288, 746 421,730,328

Non-trading investrments a 131,519,900 114,582,043

Other agsets 15,793,737 19,757,000

Tatal B&T,591,509 TR3071 647

Derivatives held far trading 35 29,814,440 15,084,074

Derhvatives held for hedging 35 2,744 441 B53,247

Taotal 32,558,881 15,817,321
N

Contingent liabilities 35 166,752,876 167,522,102

Commitment 35 74,582,341 39,442,026

Tatal 241,335,217 207,364,128

Total credi risk exposure 1,141 485607  1,006,353,096

\Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values,
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Firul Alns Dl Bank

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
43 Financial risk management [continued)
{a)  Credit risk fcontinued)
Classification of investments as per their counterparties:

Investrments at falr value

Non-trading Investments through profit or boss

2020 M3 2020 2019

AED'DOO AED'DOD AD'000 AED' DO

Governmant sector ER,001,252 5,151,621 11,538,832 7.973,070
Supranational 870,774 1,306,646 2,062,063 1,851,821
Public Sector 23496751 23,953,560 509,076 1442491
Banking sector 31,621,387 23,048,215 5012595 6,718,571
Corporate / prvate sector 7.574,943 7,684,400 2,143,673 2,113,228

131,574,107 114,645,442 21,268,243 20,099,181
Less; allowance for impairment expected
credit kass] on amortsed cost securities [345) 11,0200 - -

131,573,762 114,644,423 21,266,243 20,099,181

. — ——
Settlement risk

The Group™s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk
af loss due to the failure of counterparty to hanour its obligations to delver cash, securities of other assets as
contractually agreed. Any delay in settiement is rare and monitored,

D rivative melated credit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual abligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Group, The
positie market value is also refarned to a5 the “replacement cost” since it i an estimate of what it would cost to replace
transactions at prevailing rarket rates if a counterparty defaults. The majority of the Group's derivative contracts are
entered into with ather banks and financial institutions.

{b)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due or
that it can only do so at an excesshve cost.

Liguidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, indeding derivatives and other off-balance sheet
commitmients, not being matched in cufrency, size, and term. FAB ensures that all lixbilities can be met as they fall due
under both businesses as usval and stress conditions without incurring undue cost,

Management of lquidity risk

The Group has defined the lguidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a controlled Bguidity risk
position with adequate cash or cash-equivalents to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all foreseeable
circumstances and without incurring substantial additional costs, for a rolling peried of three menths. . The risk appetite

ts supported by a comprehensive risk managemeant framework that includes Group ALCO approved limits for key funding
and liquidity matrics, stress testing and a contingency funding plan,

106
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continuved)

43 Financial risk management [continued)
{b) Liguidity risk [continued)

Management of liquidity risk [continued)
The liquidity risk apgetite |s alko defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed liguidity
regulation fram both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the Group™s external credit rating
objectives,
One of the critical means to measure adequacy of liquidity as per extant glabal regulation is through Liquidity Coverage
Ratia ("LCR"). FAB has been complying with UAE regulation on Basal Il LCR and has been reporting the same for a
considerable period of time. Accordingly, FAB has invested heavily in enduring systems and contrals framework is in place
ta comply with all the qualitative and quantitative aspects of Basel L In addition the Group alwo ensures that it is
compliant with UAE Central Bank liquidity regulation on Eligible Liguid Assets Ratlo (“ELAR") at all times.
Liquisdity limits are defined at the Grouwp level and are cascaded down throughouwt the organisation to ensure that the
Group complies with the defined Group Liguidity Risk appetite. Simiarly International limits are cascaded to ensure
compliance with any additional lacal regulatory requirements on liguidity managemient,
Al liguidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO,
Exposure to liquidity risk

The contractual asset and llability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group's retention history is detailed
below.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management [continued)
(e} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group's income or capital will fluctuate on account of changes in the value of 3 fimandial
instrument because of movements in market factors such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and
market prices of equity and commoadity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading, investment and non-trading portfolios. Trading and
Investment portfolios are held by the Global Markets Division and are managed on a fair value basis.

Investment Management Committee | "IMCD") is responsible for oversight and puidancos to Global Markets” trading and
imrestment activities. It ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles laid down in the
market risk management policy. IMOD acts as a sub-committes of Group Asset and Liabilities. [“G-ALCO™) which has the

avierall autharity and responsibility to manage market risks,

Market Risk Group is responsible for the development and implementation of detalled market risk appetite, risk
management methedologies and policies including the control framewaork that is reviewed by IMCO and submitted to G-
ALEO and BREC for approval,

Exposure to market risks — trading portfolios

The principal analytical tool uted to measure and control market risk expoture within the Group's trading portfolios which
comprisa of investments at fair value through profit or less and tradng derivatives is Value at Risk (“"VaR"). The VaR of a
trading portfolo is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of tme (holding period) from
an adverse market movement with a specified probability (confidence level]. The VaR model uses histarical simulation
based on a 95% confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period. Using market data from the previous two years, and
observed relatiorships between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future
scanarios for market price movements,

Thi: Group use VaR limits for foresgn exchanges, interedt rates, credit spread and equities, The everall structure of Trading
VaR limits i subject to review and approval by the IMCO and then ratified at G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded down
to trading desks,

VaR is driven by actual historical observations and hence, it is not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Group could
experience from an extreme market event As a result of this limiation the VaR & further supplemented with ather
position and sensitivity limit structures, including imits to address potential concentration risks within each trading
portfolio. Moreover the trading activity at Group and desk level is subject to Management Action Triggers ["MAT™] that
are limits on maximum losses that trigrer actions from management. The VaR is as follows:

2020 2020 2020 2020 09
AED'DO0 AED DD AED D00 AED'00D AED'000
As at Average Max Min As at

VaR - Trading Boak
All 67417 41,420 77,658 13,971 24,736
Interest rate 40,300 17470 69,432 23,182 24,863
Cridit 27,531 18,066 29,507 6,908 5,132
Fareign Exchange 14,045 10171 14,199 9,914 6,010
Exquity 1,606 3,543 92,026 645 633
Cammadity 204 316 1,055 44 -
Diversification Benefit {16,269) {18,146} {45,561) 120, 762) {15,952)

Commadity risk was not captured in the VaR madel for 2019 however the samae is part of the VaR model for the year 2020,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{c}]  Market risk [continued)
Expasure b market risk — banking portfolios

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking portfolios which comprise of non-trading investments, reverse repurchase
agreements and certain derfvative Instruments which are designated as hedging Instruments arse primarily fram the
investment portfolios, interest rate gaps in the banking book, and the Group's overall FX positions.

The principal analytical tool uted to mirasure and contral the imdestmint rek expodune within the Group is Value at Risk
["WaR"}. The VaR maodal is the same as the one used for the trading portfolios, The Group uses VaR limits for contraling
the averall investmaent risk, including foreign exchange, intérest rate and credit spread. The overall structure of Banking
WaR limits & subject to review and approval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded to different
Irnviestment deske, The investrent risk VaR is a5 fallows:

2020 2020 2020 2020 2014
AED'DOO AEDD00 AED'O0D AEDDOD AED'000

As at Average Max Min B at
VaR - Banking Book
All 483,064 411,708 510,864 158,482 166,793
IFEERESE it 31676 31813 5R625 1E,241 26,499
Credit 451,288 395,145 483 816 177,390 180,865
Foreign Exchange 16,675 18,002 22,711 T.180 15,548
Equity 15472 12,358 15,770 5,504 6,901
Diversification Benefit {32,047} 145,610} (70.068) [50,233) [63,000]

Interest rate risk

Iribenest rate risk anises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the potaibility that changes in interest
rates will adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages this risk
principally through manitoring interest rate gaps and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and labilities. Overall
interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative instruments to manage overall position arising from the
Group's interest bearing financial instruments. The use of derivatives bo manage interest rabe risk is described in note 35.

Interest rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate mowemeants. The
Group assurmes a fluctieation in interest rates of 50 basis points [2019: 50 basis paints) and estimates the fallowing impact
an the net profit for the year and equity at that date;

Net profit for the year Equity
2020 2018 2020 2019
AED'ODD AED'DO0 AED'DO0 AED OO0

Fluctuation in yiekd 519,145 #112,139 1,456,450 1,260,108

The inberest rabe senditivities et out above are based on AED 723,379 million (2019: AED 615,651 milion)] interest bearing
assets and AED 575,855 million [2019: AED 549,194 milllon) interest bearing liabilities with interest re-pricing less than
one year, for assessing the Impact on net prafit. The impact on equity as given in the table below & based on the sensithity
of interest bearing assats and liabilities, The sensitivity does not incorparate actions that could be taken by management
to mitigate the effact of interest rate movements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{c}]  Market risk [contimued)
Fareign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a financlal Instrurment will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates and arises from financlal instruments denominated in a forelgn currency. The Group’s functional currency ks the UAE
Dirham, The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging
strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. At 31 December, the Group had the
fallewing sagnificant nit expodutes denaminated in foreign cufencias;

Met spot Forward Tatal Tatal
podition position 2020 2019
{shart]flang {shart)flang {shart)/long [shart)fleng
AED'000 AED'DODD AED'DODD AED'000

Curreney
5 Dollar {10,113,815) 63,202,864 53,089,049 32,311,916
LK Sterling Pound [T36,933) 517,918 {219,015) 279973
Euro 62,235,292 {61,809,504) 529,888 414,658
Kuwaiti Dinar f{111,070) 250,776 139,706 (2,387 454)
Saudi Riyal 4,195,335 {5,349,980) {1,154, 645) [7,645,853)
Japanese Yen 5,492,930 {6,548, 528) [55,698) 620,871
Swiss Franc (3,837,911) 3,833,437 {a,474) an,939
Bahrainl Dinar 2,268,659 12,233,717 34,942 (1,151,476}
Egyetian Pound 2,660,273 {2,488,263) 172,010 1143,732)
Indian Rupees 1,032,173 3,886 1,036,059 1,051,548
Libyan Dinar 225,434 . 225434 300,239
Others {3,451,451) 3,178,548 {272,903) 779,268

As AED, SAR and BHD are pegged against US Dollar, the Group®s risk exposure to these currencies is limited to that extent.
Exposure to ather farelgn currencles is insignificant.

The tables below Indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2020 and 2019 on its

moanetary assets, liabilities and net derivatives forward position, The analysis estimates the effect of a reasonably pessible

movermeent of AED against other currencies, with all other variables held constant on the consolidated incomae statement
Currency EUR GEF Py IR

Assumed change in exchange rates 1% 1% 1% 15

Impact on met income in exchange rate:

2020 [AEDDO0) 15299 +2,190 1587 £ 10,381
2019 [AED'000] 4,147 2,800 £ 6,209 £ 10,516

At 31 Decembrer 2020 and 2019, the effect of the assumed changes in exchange rates on equity i insgnificant,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{c}]  Market risk [continued)

Equity price risk

FAB is exposed to equity price risk on equity investments, either through holding of eguities of another entity ar through
equity derivatives such as forward contracts, options or swaps. The fair value of these Instruments will fluctuate due
changes in the market price of the underlying equity instruments, The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta,
Vega and Gamma limits. The Group also enforces diversification of investments in terms of peographical distribution and
industry cancentration.

The following table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in equity markets on the Group's income statement. The
wensithity af the income statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value
af investments carried at fair value through the income statement.

Impact Impact
Assumed onnet on net
level of Income Incame
changa 2020 2019
% AED'TO0 AED D00
Investrments at fair value through profit ar lass
Reference equity benchmarks:
Abu Dhabl Securities Exchange Index 55 1,045 230
Dubai Financial Market Index 5% 2221 50,743
et asset value of managed funds and
private squities 5% 828,279 74,329
Crther equity exchanges 5% 2,078 10,3534
93,623 135,686

The effect on equity as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 December
2020 and 2019, due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other vanables held constant, s as follows:

Impact Impact
Assumed on net o net
level of Ineome Incanm
change 2020 2019
% AED'00D0 AED000
Non-trading Investments |excluding Investment in
associates and joint ventures)
Reference equity benchmarks:
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 4,780 9,772
Dubai Financial Marfket Index 5% 1411 1,692
Othier equity exchanges 5% 16,552 17,215
Unquoted % 1,133 1,124
27876 29, 803
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

a3

{d)

{e)

Financial risk management (cantinued)
Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed processes, people and systems or fram
extErnal events,

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group. The primary responsibility to ensure these Asks are managed
and monitored, resides with the businesses within the Group, Group’s businesses are supported by embedded risk
resources and Group O perational Risk Management as "second line of defense’ to ensure robust risk management.

Further, thare are reviews conducted by Group Internal Audit as the third line of defense”, The results of internal audit
reviews are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and summaries are submitted to the Board Awdit
Coarmmittes,

The Group has an established Operational Risk frameweork consisting of policies and procedures to Identify, assess,
manitor, control, and repart and to manage risks and to notify, identify and resolve incidents. The Operational Risk
framework also provides the interrelation with other risk categories. \Where appropsiate, risk transfer in the form of
Insurance.

Typically, Operational Risk events are classified as:

Internal fraud: Risk of unautharized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees
External fravd: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

=  Ermployes practices and workplace safety: Risk of failures in employes relations, diversity and discrimination,
and health and safety risks acrosws the group
Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the group due to natural disasters
Chents, products and business practices: Risk of failling in assessing client suitability, fiduciary responsibiliies,
improper business practices, flawed products and advisory activities.

- Business disruption and system failures; Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and disaster
ricavery for spstems

»  Execution deliwery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer intake and
documentation, vendor managemant and monitoring and reparting,

The Baard has oversight responsibilities for aperational risk management across FAB Group. These respontibilities are
delegated and exercised through the Group Operational Risk Committes, which is the senior management forum
responsible for the eversight of Operational Risk.

Key responsibilities of Group Operational Risk Committes with regards to Operational risk include to ensure:

= Approval of the Group Operational Risk Management Framewaork and eversight over its implementation
»  Approve the strategy and direction fior Operational Risk across FAB Group,
®  Establish an effective Governance structure across FAR Graup

Capital management

CAUAE regulations gowern regulatory capital requirements for the Group; in additon the overseas branches and
subsidiaries may be directly supervised by their local regulators. The capital management process for the Group s linked
to the overall business strategy to ensure that capital is adequate to the level of inherent risk in the business and within
the firm's capital risk appetite The Group conducts capital planning in canjunction with the financial budgeting exercise,

Thar Board and top management define the long term strategic direction for the Group. This provides the framework for
the development of a bottomn up plan based on the projections from mdividual business units. The bottem up plan s an
imput to the annual budgeting process and is conducted at a business unit and country level. Thewe are consolidated for
each business division and finally, for the entire Group. Business units, within each division, develop forecasted balance
sheet and income staternents for the next year, by considering the following key parameters:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{e} Capital management [cantinwed)

= the short term [one year] goals
»  risk appetite and strategy

- target growth rates

®  target returms

The Group’s capital management policies aim to ensure that it has sufficient capital to cover the risks associated with its
activities and the allacation of capital across the Group, The ansessmaent of the various risks across the Group and their
likarky impact i carrbid out in conjunction with the ICAAP undertaken annually, As part of the ICAAP process, Group Risk
function identifias the various risks the Growp s exposed to as part of its day-to-day operations. Next, the Group assesses
these risks against the existing policies and procedures, frameworks and methodologies, contingency plans and other
processes b measure, manage and rmitigate the impact of such risks. Finally the Group determines the capital
requirements for the material risk exposures.

The key objectives of the Group's capital management process are:

®  Maintain sufficient capital to meet minirnum capital requirement set by CBURAE.

»  Maintain sufficient capital to support Group's Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per long-tarm strategic
plan.

= Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scenarios induding increased capital requirerments determined
through ICAAP,

& Tosupport the Group's eredit rating.

The Greup conducts regular stress test exercises to assess the resilience of the group to adverse market developments
under stress scenarios. The risk factors are shocked using the assumptions made under the respective scenarios and the
corresponding impact on the capital adequacy is determined. The Group uses matroeconomic stress tests in order to
project capital need and capital levels under various stress soenarios, The stress Testing i perceived as an important vool
in internal capital planning. The stress test résult during 2020 shows that the Group has adeguate capital even under
adwerse scenarios,

During thieyear, CBUAE finalized Basel 1l Capital adeguacy standards and guidance, CBUAE has alio introduced additional
requitements with respect to leverage ratio which Domestic-Systemically Important Banks (D-51Bs) must maintain at
least 3.5%6. CBUAE ako released a revised set of disclosures and reporting frequencies for Pilkar 11l These standards shall
be implemented in a phased manner from June 2021 to June 2022,

Furthier, as part of the TESS relief provided by the UAE Central Bank in response to COVID-19, the Bank & able o fully
utilise its 1.50 % D-5I8 buffer and B60% of its capital conservation buffer without supervisory consequences until 31
December 2021,

A per the CBUAE standards regarding the capital definition, the expected / proposed dividends are ta be deducted from
CET1. Consequently, the Capital Adequacy ratio as computed below takes into account the impact of proposed dividend.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)

{e} Capital management [cantinwed)

o0 019
AED'ODD AEDDDD
Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capaal 10,920,000 10,920,000
share premium 53,538,584 53,434,461
Retained earnings 18,980,989 18,469,164
Statutory and special reserve 10,920,000 10,629,011
Ganeral reserve and share option schema 478,081 478,081
Fair value reserve 525,775 612,744
Nar-contralling Inteneses 200,996 330417
Foreign currency translation reserve {377 851) (354,657)
IFRS transitional arrangement: Partal addback of ECL 07,796 -
Less: Proposed dividend |8,080,800) {8,080,800)
Efigible Tier 1 capital (a) 88,103,570 B85,4384211
Deductions:
Treasury shares {8.980) [18.864)
Dafaried tax assots {101,437) [40,336)
Goodwill and Intangible assets (20, 765,636) (20621,922)
Other deductions {219,197} (141,752}
Total deductions {21,095,250) |20.822,874)
67,008,320 65,615,547
Additional Tier 1
Teer 1 capital notes 10,754,750 10,754,750
77,763,070 76,370,297
Tier 2 capital
Qualifiing subordinated liabilities THZAB3 305,044
Allowance for collective impairment 5,514,812 5292741
5,797,295 5,597,785
Total regulatory capital base B3,560,365 81,968,082
Risk weighted assers:
Credit risk 441,184,990 423,419,311
Market risk 18,419,038 25,737,601
Operational risk 35,735,719 35,913,142
Risk wrighted assets 505,339,747 485,070,054
Ratios with transition impact:
CET 1 ratio 13.3% 13,55
Tier 1 capital ratio 15.4% 15. 7%
Capital adequacy ratio 16.5% 16.9%
e

The Group and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally imposed capital requirements
for all periads presented,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{fl Countryrisk

Country risk is the likelihood of econamic, social, and political events in a foreign country negatively infleencing the
willingness or ability of state owned andfor privately owned customers in that country to pay their debts on time.

The Group undertakes a detailed qualitative analysis pertalning to country risk as a part of the business deciskon process,
Thesa factors induede economic, social and political stability in each country, the monetary policy, the foreign exchange
contral measure, the transparency of information, the financial and market structure, banking regulations and
supirvsion, the legal syitem, and the accounting standards among others. Country fisks are monitered and contrelled
using country limits sat by the Group; these limits are in accordance with overall business strategy, capital adequacy and
prowisions for potential risks, risk rating of each country, acceptable level of risk, and business opportunities in each
cauntry.

{g] Strategic risk

Strategic risk refiers to the risk of current or prospective impact on the Group's earnings, capital, reputation or standing
arising from changes in the emdronment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decisions, improper
implementation of decisions or lack of responsiveness to industry, economic ar technological changes. Itis a function of
compatibility of Group's strategic goals, strategies developed to achieve those goals, resources deployed to meet those
Raals and the quality of implementation,

The Group uses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, incleding kevel of integration
af risk management pobeies and practices in the strategic planning process, aggresshveness aof strategic goals and
compatibility with developed business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earnings
volatility, effectiveness of communication and consistency of application of strategic goak, objectives, corporate culture,
and behaviour throughout the Group.

Strategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Group reviews the
progress an strategic initiathees vis-d-vis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the
external business environment. The strategic plan is periadically reviewed and updated subject to an approval process
which = also a part of the strategic planning process.

{h) Compliance risk

Compliance risk refers to the risk 1o earmings o capital or reputation or continued business existence arising fram
vislations of, or non-canformance with, laws, rules, regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards.

The Group, on a continuous basis, identifies and assesses such risks inherent in all new and existing “material” products,
acthvities, processes and systems. This incledes risk assessments on non-conformance with laws, nules, regulations,
prescribed practices, or ethical standards. The Group Compliance function has a proup-wide compliance unit that
develops internal policies under which such risks are managed, and it is supported by the Rk Management, |nternal
Audit and Legal functions,

In order to monitar compliance and financial crime risks, the Group has developed and implemented due diligence
processes, reviews of polcies and procedures across the Group, implementation of integrated compliance and financial
crime systems which manage name clearance, transaction monitering, payment monitaring activities, assessment
through compliance check-lists etc,

Compliance risk is largely mitigated by way of focused policies and procedurnes, extendive checklist based and on-spat
due diligence, annuwal risk assessments, monitering and assurance, communications and regular training sessions,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

43 Financial risk management (cantinued)
{i} Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public epinion. This can be due to external ar
internal events,

The Group identifies and assesses reputational risk by clearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key
sources of reputational risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstances, describing the risks identified in
terms of the nature of risk and the potential consequences that the risks may bring te its reputation. The Group also
rifiers o other relevant information for risk identification purposes. Such information may be sourced from media
reports, stakeholder analysis reports, internal aud®t and compliance reports, management exception reports or other
earky warning indicators,

For reputational risks, apart from the regular monitoning of external and internal events that can result in possible
reputational risks, the Group abso has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the
BOD and seniar management tatake prompt corrective actions to address any anticipated reputational event in advance.

In order to manage reputational risks, the Graup has set in place a mechanism that entails drawing up action plans to
identify reputational risk events and facilitate subsequent manitoring of the progress made; for those risks that may be
very difficult or too costly to aliminate entirely the mechanism reguires development of contingency plans as response
actians,

44 Financial assets and liabilities

{a) Valuation framework

Tha Group has an established control framewark far the measunement of fair values, Several control functions support
this framework [Valuation Control and Preduct Contral within Finance and Market Risk Analytics within Risk functions]
that are independent of Front Office Management, Specific contrals include:
=  Independent verification of market data used in the valuation process and valuation adjustments when
significant deviations are observed;
= Review of significant unobservable and stale inputs and significant changes to the fair value measurement of
Level 3 instruments;
Measurement of exit valuation |"Bid Offer’);
Validation and approval process for new models and frequent review of existing models or when changes are
perfad e,
Quarterly calibration and back-testing of models against absersed market trantactions;
& Model adjustrments when inputs are overly simplified ar the madel has limitations deriving the fair value of &
position;
= Analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements,

‘When third party information, such as broker quates or pricing services is used to measure fair value, Valuation Cantrol
assetdes and documents the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conelusion that the valuationd mest

the requirerments of IFRS Standards, This includes:

= Merifying that the broker or pricing service is approwed by the Group for use in pricing the relevant type of
financial instrumant;

»  Understanding how the fair value has been arrived at, the extent to which it represents actual market
transactions and whether it represents a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument;

= When prices for similar instruments ane used to measure fair value, understanding how these prices have
been adjusted to reflect the characteristics of the instrument subject to measurement; and

= M a number of qguotes far the same financial mstrurment have been obtained, then understanding how Tair
walie has been ditermined using thode quotes.

Significant valuation ksues are repornted to the Group Valuation and Audit Commitbess.

i1
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

a4 Financial assets and liabilities
{b) Valuation models

The Group measures fair values using the Tollawing fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used
in eraking the measurements,

#  Level 1! Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

#  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are obsercable either directly [Le. as
prices) ar indirectly |Le. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market
prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoated prices fof identical oF similar instruments in markets
that are considered less than active; or other valuation technigues in which all significant inputs are directly
of Indirectly observable from market data.

#  Level 3:Inputs that are unobservable. This categary includes all instruments far which the valuation technigue
includes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable Inputs have a significant effect on the
mstrurment’s valuation. This categony indudes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar
imstruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required te reflect
differences batween the instruments,

Valustion technigues include nit present value and discounted cash Now models, comparzon with similar instruments
for which obsarvable market prices exist, Black-Scholes and polynomial eption pricing medels and other valuation
models. Assumptions and inputs wsed in waluation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit
spreads and other premiums vsed in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates,
equity and equity Index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques it to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be
received to sall the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
maisasurement date,

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the fair value of comman and simple financial
Instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps, that use only observable market data and require bttle
managernent judgernent and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are wsually avallable in the market for listed
debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple OTC derivatives such as interest rate swaps. The
availability of abservable market prices and madel inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation
and also reduoes the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. The availability of obsarvable market prices
and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and ganeral
conditions in the financial markets,

For more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation models, which are usually developed from
recognised valuation models. Some or all af the significant inputs into these madels may not be observable in the market,
and may be derived from market prices or rates or estimated based on assumptions. Examples of instruments invehing
sipnificant unobservable Inputs include certain OTC structured derivatives, certain loans, securities for which there Is na
active market. Valuation models that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of management
Judgement and estimation in the determination of fair value. Management judgement and estimation are usually
required far the selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expected future cash flows
on the financial instrument being valued, determination of the probabdity of counterparty default and prepayments,
determination of expectad volatilities and correlations and selection of appropriate discount rates,

OTC structured derhvathes
As part of its trading activities, the Group enters inte OTC structured derivatives = primarily optians indexed to credit
spreads, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates — with customers and other banks. Some of these

Instruments are valued using models with significant unobservable inputs, principally expected long-term volatilities and
expiscted correlations between different underlyings.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements [continved)

a4 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(b} Valuation models [continued)
Measurement on the basis of net exposures to risks

If the Group measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities an the basis of net exposures to market risks,
then it applies judgement in determining appropriate portfolio-level adjustments such as bid-ask spreads. These
adjustments are derived from observable bid-ask spreads for similar instruments and adjusted for factors specific to the
portfolio. Similarly, when the Group measures portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilittes on the basis of net
exposune to the credit risk of a particular counterparty, it taked into dtcaunt any existing arrangements that mitigate th
credit risk exposure — g master netting agraements with the counterparty,

Credit and Debit Valuation Adjustments {"CWA" and “DVA")

CvA and DVA are incorporated into derivative valuations to reflect the impact on fair value of counterparty credit risk
and own credit quality respectively. These adjustments are calculated for both uncollateralsed and collateralised
derivatives across all asset classes. CVA and DVA are calculated wsing estimates of expected positive and negative
exposures respactively, probability of defavlt and recovery rates, at a counterparty lavel. Counterparties include [but are
nat limited to) finangial institutions, corporates, soversigns and soversign agencies and supranationals. Expected
exposure is generally estimated through the simulation of underlying risk factors through Monte Carlo simulation
technigues.

Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sourced fram the CD5 markets. Where this information
Is not availlable, or considered wnreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a
sactor curve based on the rating, the region and the industry sector. Ket adjustment for CVA and DVA remained constant
at AED 136 million {2019z AED 68.8 million) during the year.

Model-refated odfustments

Model related adjustments are applied when either model inputs are overly simplified or the model has Emitations

deriving the fair value of a position. These adjustrnents are reguired to correct existing model weaknesses or defickences
that were highlighted during the model review process.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a4 Financial assets and liabilities [continued)]
{¢)  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the level in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categornised:

Lewal 1 Liwe] 2 Lowel 3 Tatal
AED"000 AED'D0O AED'DOD AED 0DO

As at 31 December 2020
irnvestment at fair value through profit or loss 9,921,320 5,292,365 052,558 21,266,243
FWOCH - with recycle to peofit or loss 111,756,913 12,708,056 3,143,446 127,609,415
FUOCT - without recycle o prafit or los 534,846 - 22662 557,508
Darivative finangial instrumants |Assats) 47,620 32,511,261 - 32,558,881
121,260,699 50,512,682 9,218,666 181,992,047
Tarm barrewings - 466,881 - 466,881
Dervative financial instruments (Liabilitkes) 108,153 38,720,806 3045 38,832,004
108,153 39,187,687 3045 39,298,885

Asat 31 December 2019
Irvestment; at fair value through profit or loss 14,886,433 3,561,090 1,651,658 20,059,181
FWOCH - with rscycle to prafit or loss 98,442,036 0,335,801 821,033 108,598,870
FYOCI - without recycle to prafit of ks 573,601 - 22,485 596,086
Derivative financial instruments (Assets) 5383 15,900,261 11,667 15,917,321
113,907 463 28,797,152 2 506 843 145,211 458
Tarm bomrowings - 399,025 - 399,025
Durrivativie financial instruments (Liabilities) &5.112 19,162,637 a2 19,228,541

853,112 19,561,662 a2 19,627,566
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)
a4 Financial assets and liabilities [continued)]
{¢)  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
The following table shows the transfer between the hierarchies:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal
AED000 AED'000 AED'DO0 AED0DO
As at 31 December 2020
Inwestrment at falr value through profit or loss
Transfer from1to2 - 152,045 - 152,045
Tranifer from 1ta3 - 282 570 282,570
Trander from 2 ta3 - - 12,074 12,074
Non-trading investments
Transfer from1to 2 - 5,161,377 - 5,161,377
Transfer from2tol 3,538,569 - = 3,538,569
Tramsfer from2to 3 - - 113,088 113,088
3,538,562 5313422 407,732 9,259,723
Asat 31 December 2019
Irvestment at fair value through profit or loss
Transfer from 2to 1 68,438 - - 68,438
Non-trading imestrments
Transfer from 1to 2 - 34,851 - 34,851
Tranyer from2tal 13,912 - - 13,912
82,350 34,851 - 117,201
The following table shows a reconciliation of instruments measured at fair valee and classified as Level 3:
2020 2019
AED D00 AED' 000
Balance as at 1 January 2,506 843 1,845,432
Additions / Transfers 6,922 464 1,103,733
Settlements and other adjustments {210.641) (442 822)
Bakance as at 31 December 9,218 666 2,506,343

The Lewel 3 financial instruments includes private equity investments, and their valuations are based on the last met
asset published by the fund manager, The effect of changes in its valuation is covered as part of equity price risk induded
in mote 43{c). The remaining mainky comprise of debt instruments which are priced using last available prices.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements [continued)

a5

a6

Comparative figures

Cartain comparative figures have Been reclassified where appropriate to conform to the presentation adopted in these
consolidated financial statements,

During the year the group has made adjustments to it retained earnings. These adjustments relate to property
revaluations in one of its subsidiaries undertaken in the finalization of the subsidiary’s stand alone accounts, which anby
happened in Q2 2020 due to the COVID-19 situation. These adjustments to inktial estimates were considered material
from a standalone reporting of the entity, the entity’s year end reported figures were adjusted accordingly. However,
fram a group perspective these adjustments wera not considered material and hence hawve been disclosed as an
adjustrent in the current year,

Subseguent event
On 20 lanuary 2021, the Bank has sgned & definitve agreement with Bank Audi sal (Bank Audi) to purchase 1005 of the
share capital af Bank Audi SAE (Egypt), Bank Audi's subsidiary in Egypt. The transaction i expected to be completed

within the next few maonths, following the satisfaction of customary conditions, induding the receipt of regulatory
approvalks bath in the UAE and Egypt.
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2016 12 31 2017 12 31 2018 12 31 2019 12 31 2020 12 31

32.98 32.06 31.08 30.55 30.52
27.19 29.36 28.54 28.67 27.87
29.61 30.54 30.08 29.69 29.07
31.86 30.68 29.88 29.57 28.13
2020 12 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
28.43 28.51 29.01 30.14 30.14 29.91
28.07 27.97 28.47 29.05 29.37 29.56
28.25 28.25 28.69 29.60 29.69 29.71

30.11 2021 17
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2020 12 31

IFRS
2020 12 31

1SA

1ESBA

1ESBA
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2015 UAE 2020 12 31
2015 UAE
2020 12 31
39
2020 12 31
2020 12 31 2015 UAE
30

2018 14 114
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Independent Auditors Report

To the Shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C. (the
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “ Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as a 31 December 2020, the consolidated statements of profit or loss,
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes,
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS’).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)
(“IESBA Code") together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statementsin the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilitiesin accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financia statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as awhole, andin
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Description of key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our

audit

Impairment of loans and advances - refer to notes 8 and 31 of the consolidated financial
staterments
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The Group recognized allowances for Our audit proceduresin this areainclude

credit losses on its consolidated the following, among others:

financial statements using an expected
credit loss model (“ECL”). The Group
exercises significant judgments and
makes a number of assumptionsin
developing its ECL modelswhichis
determined as a function of the
assessment of the probability of default
(“PD"), loss given default (“LGD”"),
adjusted for the forward looking
information, and exposure at default
(“EAD”) associated with the underlying
financial assets.

Qualitative adjustments or overlays
may also be recorded by the Group
using credit judgement where the
inputs, assumptions and / or modelling
techniques do not capture all relevant
risk factors.

Furthermore COVID-19 pandemic has
significantly impacted management's
determination of ECL. The assumptions
regarding the economic outlook are more
uncertain which, combined with the
government’s response (as it pertains to
deferral programs and government
stimulus package), increases the level of
judgement required by the Bank in
calculating the ECL, and the associated
audit risk.

Given the inherent and significant auditor
judgement required due to the use of
complex models and effort in evaluating
audit evidence related to the
identification and calculation of
gualitative adjustments and overlay

adj ustments to the ECL due to the
impacts of current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions,

thisis considered a key
audit matter

Evaluating the appropriateness of the
accounting policies adopted based on
the requirements of IFRS 9, our
business understanding and industry
practice.

Performing procedures to understand the
appropriateness of the ECL accounting
estimate including, but not limited, to
obtaining information about the entity's
control environment in relation to the
estimate, obtaining an understanding of the
process by which the estimate is
developed, understanding the methods,
assumptions and data used to develop the
accounting estimate, and evaluating any
subseguent events that may impact the
estimate.

Updating our understanding of the ECL
end-to-end processes, including re-

ng the design, implementation, and
operating effectiveness of selected
relevant controls.

Involving our Financial Risk Management
(*FRM") specidiststo review the
reasonableness and appropriateness of the
methodol ogy and assumptions used in
various components of ECL modelling and
governance over the application of expert
credit judgment to determine the ECL.
Thisincluded chalenging key
assumptiong/judgments relating to
significant increase in credit risk (*SICR”),
definition of default, probability of default,
recovery rates, use of macro-economic
variables and probability weighted
outcomes to check that the ECL amounts
recorded are reflective of underlying credit
quality
and macroeconomic trends including
the impact of COVID-19.
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Description of key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our
audit
Impairment of loans and advances - refer to notes 8 and 31 of the consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Testing the completeness and accuracy of
the data used within the ECL calculation.

Involving our Information Technology
(“1T") specidiststo test the relevant
genera IT and application controls over
key systems used in the ECL process.

Re-performing key aspects of the Group’s
SICR determinations and selecting samples
of loans and advances to determine
whether a SICR event was appropriately
identified including assessing the
additional judgements made for the
borrowers who have been granted payment
deferrals.

Evaluating the reasonableness of and
testing a sample of post model adjustments
and management overlays particularly in
light of the volatility caused by the current
COVID-19 pandemic, as applicable.

Involving our valuation specialist on a
sample basis to assess the reasonabl eness
of the valuation of real estate collaterals
held by the Group, relating to the
determination of ECL, including the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as
applicable.

Performing credit assessments for a sample
of selected customers, including Stage 3
customers, to test the appropriateness of the
credit grades at agiven point in time,
ng the financia performance of the
borrower, source of repayment and future
cash flows of the borrower.

Assessing the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures by reference to the requirements

of the relevant accounting

standards and Central Bank of the UAE
regulations.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors report thereon (‘the Annual report’). The Annual report is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditors report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility isto
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

When we read the Annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate
actionsin accordance with ISAs.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for ng the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no redlistic aternative but to do so.

Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is ahigh level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Aspart of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. Therisk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related
disclosuresin the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadeguate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financia information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financia statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattersin our auditors report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legd and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that for the year ended 31
December 2020:

i) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

i)

i)

iv)

v)

vi)

vii)

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in al material
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

the financial information included in the Chairman’s statement is consistent with the books

of account of the Group;

asdisclosed in notes 5 and 9 to the consolidated financia statements, the Group has
purchased or invested in shares during the financial year ended 31 December 2020;

note 39 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions

and the terms under which they were conducted;

based on the information that has been made avail able to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial
year ended 31 December 2020 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federa Law
No.(2) of 2015 or in respect of the Bank, its Articles of Association, which would materially

affect its activities or its consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2020; and

viii) note 30 to the consolidated financia statements discloses the social

contributions made during the year.

Further, asrequired by Article(114) of the Decretal Federal Law No.(14)of 2018, we report that we

have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our

audit.

/9'Richard Ackland

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited

Richard Ackland

Registration No.: 1015

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

Date:26 January 2021
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